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Purpose of report
the Moreland City Council Annual Report 2011 provides a 
comprehensive account of Council’s performance from 1 
July 2010 to 30 June 2011. the Moreland City Council’s 
Council plan 2009–2013 is the guiding document for this 
Annual Report. the Council plan describes our strategic 
objectives in four focus areas and the key initiatives to be 
implemented to achieve them. the Annual Report provides 
an update on the highlights and achievements emanating 
from this program and addresses the challenges experienced 
throughout the year. it also identifies the future directions and 
challenges that lie ahead for our city.

main sections
Overview   this section provides summary reports 
from the Mayor and Ceo, along with highlights and 
background information about the Council and the 
Moreland community.  

Operations   this section provides operational 
reports on Governance, Human Resources, Best Value, 
organisational profiles, and operational outputs. 

Performance   this section provides performance 
reporting against the Focus Areas in the Council plan, the 
key strategic activities that implement the Council plan, 
and a number of Victorian local government performance 
indicators. 

Financials   this section provides standard financial 
reports for the financial year.  

Where to get a copy

you can view a hard copy of the Annual Report at each of 
the three Citizen Service Centres, or at any of the Municipal 
libraries. if you would like a copy to keep, please contact our 
Citizen Service call centre on 03 9240 1111 to arrange for 
one to be sent to you. electronic copies are available on our 
website at moreland.vic.gov.au

We welcome your feedback
We encourage readers 
of our Annual Report to 
provide feedback to  
assist us in improving 
our reporting. you  
can contact us on  
info@moreland.vic.gov.au, 
visit our website  
moreland.vic.gov.au, or 
contact Council on  
03 9240 1111.

Welcome to the 2011 Annual Report

contact
Council offices  
office hours: 8.30am to 5.00pm 
Moreland Civic Centre  
90 Bell Street  
Coburg, Victoria 3058 

Brunswick Citizens’ Service Centre  
233 Sydney Road  
Brunswick, Victoria 3056 

Glenroy Citizens’ Service Centre  
796n pascoe Vale Road  
Glenroy, Victoria 3046 

postal address:  
locked Bag 10  
Moreland, Victoria 3058 

General enquiries:  
telephone: 03 9240 1111  
Facsimile: 03 9240 1212  
email: info@moreland.vic.gov.au  
Website: moreland.vic.gov.au

Language Link
 9280 1910
Italiano 9280 1911
 9280 1912
 9280 1913
Türkçe 9280 1914
 9280 1915

Español 9280 1916
Hrvatski 9280 1917

 9280 1918

All other languages 
9280 1919

to contact Council in your language via an 
interpreter, please phone Council’s language link 
service. phone numbers for each language are 
listed below. 

Moreland City Council Annual Report 2011

Cover image: Face painting at a  
youth centre, Sydney Road, Brunswick.
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Our city
the City of Moreland covers the inner and mid-northern 
suburbs of Melbourne. it lies between 4 and 14km north 
of central Melbourne, and covers a diverse range of 
communities.

the name Moreland is derived from Moreland Road, which 
runs through the middle of the municipality. A train station on 
the upfield line is also called Moreland. the name of the road 
and locality originated from land speculator Farquhar McCrae 
who named the area after his father’s birthplace in Jamaica.

the City of Moreland covers the suburbs of Brunswick, 
Brunswick east, Brunswick West, pascoe Vale, pascoe Vale 
South, Coburg, Coburg north, Hadfield, Fawkner, Glenroy, 
oak park and Gowanbrae. Small sections of the suburbs of 
Fitzroy north and tullamarine are also located in the city.

cOUncIL PLan 2009–2013

Our Purpose
Moreland City Council delivers good governance to achieve a 
more socially and environmentally just and sustainable city.

Our Vision
Moreland City Council will partner the community to be a city 
that is lively, proud, celebrates its diversity and cares for and 
respects all of its citizens.

Our strategic statement
Moreland City Council will be recognised as an accountable, 
innovative and collaborative organisation that delivers 
Council’s vision for the city.

Our strategic Focus areas
A Sustainable & Just City, a proud City, a Healthy & 
educated Community, and a Responsive organisation.

Our Values: How We Work
the City of Moreland’s values are:

About Moreland

rne

reland

inner Melbourne

City of Moreland

collaboration
•	 Empowerment

service
•	 Excellence
•	 Results

social Justice
•	 Compassionate
•	 Ethical

Innovation
•	 Creative
•	 Risk
•	 Courage
•	 Discipline
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Individual  
Performance Plans

city’s Vision  
statement

council Plan
Key strategic objectives,  

measures, targets  
and initiatives

strategic  
Resource Plan

Financial and non-financial  
resources

annual Budget
council action Plan
Annual implementation plan

service Unit Plans

this chart gives an overview of 
Moreland City Council’s planning 
processes. 

planning Framework
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performance Highlights

Focus Area Achievements Challenges

a sustainable  
and just city
 
More information  
on page 39

•	 Final	Brunswick	Structure	Plan	adopted
•	 Coburg	Place	Framework	adopted
•	 Invitation	to	developer	(Equiset)	for	a	proposal	to	develop	a	key	renewal	
project	area	(Russell	Street	Car	Park,	Coburg)

•	 Glenroy	Place	Framework	Strategy	Program	and	Implementation	Plan	
adopted

•	 Implementation	of	the	Carbon	Management	Strategy	to	reduce	the	carbon	
emissions of Council

•	 A	Parking	Management	Policy	adopted
•	 Coburg	Lake	Reserve	upgrade	commenced
•	 Improved	maintenance	of	Council’s	parks.

•	 Attracting	and	encouraging	public	(State	and	Federal)	and	private	
investment in major activity centres

•	 Developing	a	framework	for	the	implementation	of	a	Shopping	
Strip Renewal program

•	 Delivering	significant	projects	that	will	enable	Council	to	achieve	
carbon neutrality by 2012

•	 Implementation	of	the	Parking	Management	Policy

a proud city
 
More information  
on page 41

•	 Adoption	of	a	new	Arts	and	Culture	Strategy	to	cultivate	a	creative	city
•	 Launch	of	MoreArt	program	to	support	public	art	in	Moreland
•	 Asset	Protection	Permits	introduced	to	protect	Council-owned	infrastructure	

against damage through development activity
•	 A	larger	budget	allocation	to	the	Capital	Works	Program	for	the	purpose	

of reconstructing roads and footpaths, resurfacing roads, grinding lips off 
footpaths, and adding shared paths to the active transport network

•	 Identifying	and	developing	appropriate	work	spaces	for	creative	
activity

•	 The	need	to	revitalise	Council’s	festivals	and	events	program	due	
to declining community interest and satisfaction

•	 Responding	to	the	growing	issue	of	illegally	dumped	rubbish
•	 Selecting	suitable/acceptable	locations	for	public	toilets

a healthy and educated 
community
 
More information  
on page 43

•	 Extended	library	hours	of	opening	have	made	the	libraries	more	accessible
•	 An	unprecedented	expansion	and	upgrade	to	children’s	centres	and	

kindergartens as part of a five-year early years Strategy
•	 Construction	of	Gowanbrae	Community	and	Children’s	Centre	commenced
•	 Completion	of	Stage	One	construction	of	the	Fawkner	Skate	Park	in	CB	

Smith Reserve is creating opportunities for young people to be physically 
active and socialise

•	 Consultation,	planning	and	design	phases	of	the	Brunswick	Baths	
redevelopment completed

•	 A	new	synthetic	soccer	pitch	at	Clifton	Park	in	Brunswick

•	 Improving	access	to	health	and	community	services	for	infants	and	
children

•	 Establishing	a	co-located	youth	facility	in	Moreland
•	 Concluding	the	tender	process	for	aquatic	facilities	single	service	

contract
•	 Meeting	the	increasing	demand	for	Aged	and	Disability	Services

a responsive 
organisation
 
More information  
on page 45

•	 Creation	and	establishment	of	an	Organisational	Development	(OD)	
department

•	 Consolidation	of	risk	and	insurances	into	one	area
•	 Establishment	of	a	Project	Management	Office	(PMO)
•	 Introduction	of	Service	Unit	Plans	across	the	organisation
•	 Greater	alignment	between	planning	and	budgeting	processes
•	 Organisational	Culture	Survey	showed	that,	since	2007,	the	organisation	has	

shifted to a more constructive and achievement-oriented culture in 2010
•	 Council’s	web	site	is	growing	in	the	provision	of	timely	information	and	

e-business services, such as payment of rates, pet registrations and  
parking fines

•	 Re-launching	Council’s	continuous	improvement	program	
(MoreValue)

•	 Building	the	capacity	of	the	organisation	to	advocate	to	State	and	
Federal Government about key issues facing the city

•	 Achieving	linkage	between	Council’s	Geographic	Information	
System	(GIS)	with	Council’s	asset	database

•	 Future	development	of	a	knowledge	management	system	to	assist	
in handling enquiries
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Focus Area Achievements Challenges
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emissions of Council

•	 A	Parking	Management	Policy	adopted
•	 Coburg	Lake	Reserve	upgrade	commenced
•	 Improved	maintenance	of	Council’s	parks.
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•	 Future	development	of	a	knowledge	management	system	to	assist	
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Moreland can be characterised as a municipality with 
a steadily growing population, which retains a high 
level of cultural and linguistic diversity. Households in 
Moreland have changed greatly over the past decade, 
with decreasing proportions of family households and an 
increasing proportion of lone person households, resulting 
in smaller household sizes overall. Significant differences in 
socioeconomic advantage and disadvantage occur across 
the municipality.

Population
the estimated resident population of Moreland for June 2010 
was 150,838 people. in the 10 years from 1986 to 1996, 
the population of Moreland dropped by about 4,000. the 
population of Moreland remained steady at around 136,000 
between 1996 and 2001. the population has therefore 
increased by approximately 15,000 since 2001. 
(Source: Australian Bureau of Statistics, estimated resident 
population statistics). 

Births in moreland
the City of Moreland has seen a dramatic increase in the 
numbers of babies born in the municipality in recent years, 
with an average of 2,000 babies born in Moreland each year 
since 1995. in the 2010–11 financial year, 2,451 babies were 
born in Moreland. this represents a 6.2% increase since 
the 2008–09 financial year, and a 28.9% increase in births 
since 2000–01. (Source: Moreland Maternal and Child Health 
database).

Indigenous Population
the total number of indigenous residents in Moreland 
increased to 627 people in 2006 from 487 in 2001. 
(Source: Australian Bureau of Statistics, Census of  
population and Housing). 

Snapshot of Moreland

0 50000 100000 150000 200000

2010

2009

2008

2007 144,488

146,261

149,122

150,838

Population

Source: ABS Estimated Resident Population Cat. No. 3235.0 
– Population by Age and Sex, Regions of Australia, 2007
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Source: Maternal and Child Health database

Sydney Road Street Party, Brunswick.
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cultural Diversity
the City of Moreland is a highly culturally and linguistically 
diverse municipality. Many different cultural groups live in 
Moreland and, between them, residents of Moreland speak 
140 different languages at home. in 2006, approximately 
one third of Moreland residents were born overseas. of the 
total Moreland population, 60 per cent were born in Australia. 
of those residents born overseas, 87% were born in non-
english speaking countries and 13% were born in english 
speaking countries. the main countries of birth of Moreland 
residents, apart from Australia, represent the traditional 
migrant groups from europe, including italy, Greece and the 
united Kingdom, along with lebanon, China, india and new 
Zealand. (Source: Australian Bureau of Statistics, Census of 
population and Housing). However, new arrivals to Moreland 
show changes to Moreland’s cultural diversity. new arrivals 
are more likely to be born in india, China, pakistan, lebanon, 
Sri lanka, philippines and iraq. (Source: Department of 
immigration and Citizenship Settlement database).

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

2001 2006

Born in non-English
speaking country

Born in English
speaking country

Overseas born

Australian born

cultural diversity

Sydney Road Street Party, Brunswick.

Glenroy Festival
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age Profile
Moreland’s age profile is broadly similar to that of metropolitan 
Melbourne, with the same median age overall of 36 years. in 
line with wider trends, Moreland’s population continues to age. 
However, Moreland has a larger proportion of older people 
compared	to	the	Melbourne	Statistical	Division	(MSD).	There	
are smaller proportions of 5 to 14 year olds and 55 to 64 year 
olds in Moreland relative to the MSd. interestingly, the number 
and proportion of persons in the 35–54 year age group in 
Moreland has increased substantially over the last decade. 
(Source: Australian Bureau of Statistics, Census of Population 
and Housing).

Life Expectancy
the life expectancy of residents living in Moreland is similar to 
the Victorian average and is increasing. Women in Moreland 
(and	Victoria)	live	longer	than	males	by	approximately	five	years.	
the life expectancy of females born in Moreland between 2004 
and 2006 is 83.8 years whereas the life expectancy of males 
is 78.3 years. (Source: Department of Human Services, Life 
Expectancy Estimates).

Education and Occupation
Moreland has experienced improved retention of students from 
year 10 to year 12 in recent years, from 71% in 2005 to 88% 
in 2010. (Source: Department of Education and Early Childhood 
Development, Summary Statistics Victorian Schools). 

people in Moreland are also becoming better educated. the 
proportion of residents in Moreland who have non-school 
qualifications continues to increase. Many more residents in 
2006 had completed a non-school qualification than in 1991 
– 40% compared with 22%. (Source: Australian Bureau of 
Statistics, Census of Population and Housing).

the occupations of residents of Moreland have also changed. 
the proportion of professionals, associate professionals and 
intermediate clerical, sales and service workers has increased, 
while a fall has occurred in the proportion of trades people 
and related workers, advanced clerical, sales and service 
workers and labourers and related workers. For example, the 
proportion of Moreland residents in the workforce classified as 
‘professionals’ increased from 19% in 1996 to 26% in 2006. 
(Source: Australian Bureau of Statistics, Census of Population 
and Housing).

age Profile
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Gardening activities at a community garden in Coburg.
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Housing and Families in moreland
the number of homes in Moreland is increasing. in 2006, 
Moreland	had	59,231	private	dwellings	(including	unoccupied	
dwellings),	up	from	56,450	in	2001.	Trends	show	that	the	
number of lone person households is increasing, as is the 
number of small households. Moreland has witnessed 
substantial changes in households over the past decade. 
the proportion of families with children has decreased 
over this period. Moreland had a smaller proportion of 
these households in 2006 at 62% of all household types 
compared to 69% in metropolitan Melbourne. the proportion 
of households made up of couples without children has 
remained stable over the past two census periods, while 
increases have occurred in the proportions of single person 
and single parent households. Moreland has a higher 
proportion of these households in comparison to the 
metropolitan average. For example, 27% of households 
in Moreland were single people households compared to 
23% in metropolitan Melbourne in 2006. (Source: Australian 
Bureau of Statistics, Census of Population and Housing).

Housing stock
the majority of occupied private dwellings in Moreland are 
separate	houses	(67%),	which	is	significantly	below	the	
metropolitan average of 73%. However, the proportion 
of separate houses in Moreland has continued to fall with 
the growth of flats, units or apartments, along with semi-
detached dwellings. Between 2001 and 2006, the number of 
private dwellings in Moreland increased by 2,860 to a total of 
59,231.

Residential property prices in Moreland over the past decade 
have risen at a relatively fast rate, particularly in the last four 
years. the median house price in Moreland increased to 
$590,000 in 2010 – an increase of 17% since 2009. the gap 
between the median price of houses and the median price of 
units is closing, with the median price for a unit in Moreland 
in 2010 being $327,750, an increase of 28% since 2009 
(Source: Department of Sustainability and Environment, A 
Guide to Property Values, 2010).

community Wellbeing
Council is committed to building and maintaining a vibrant 
and liveable city. Results from Council’s 2010 annual 
community indicators survey indicate that, as in previous 
years, people living in Moreland believe their local area has a 
positive sense of community and is a good place to live. the 
results show continuing high levels of perceived community 
wellbeing. in 2010, 79% of respondents agreed that there is 
a positive sense of community in Moreland. As in previous 
years, 88% agreed that Moreland is a good place to raise 
a family and 86% agreed that it is a safe place to live. High 
levels of agreement were recorded for the ability to access 
a variety of recreation facilities and leisure activities with 
87% agreement; while 86% of respondents agreed with the 
statement “you can get to know your neighbours”. Moreland 
continues to rate highly for measures relating to cultural 
diversity with 92% agreement with the statement “Cultural 
diversity enriches local community life” and 90% agreement 
that people from different ethnic backgrounds are made 
welcome in their neighbourhoods.

the only area showing a consistent decrease in agreement 
has been housing affordability. this indicator has steadily 
declined over the six years of the survey, dropping from 68% 
in 2005 to 45% in 2010.

moreland of the Future
population projections predict Moreland’s population will 
grow over the coming years. it is expected that the Moreland 
population will increase to approximately 182,000 by 
2031, or an increase of 28% from 2006 figures. the most 
significant growth is predicted to occur in Brunswick and 
Brunswick east, with the populations rising by 38.7% and 
103.5% respectively. the biggest shift in Moreland’s age 
structure will be the rise in the proportion of residents aged 
45-64 years. this proportion will rise from 19.7% of the total 
population in 2006 to 22.9% in 2031, or an additional 13,000 
residents. it is also predicted that the number of lone person 
households will increase. this will contribute to a reduction in 
the median household size from 2.5 persons per household 
in 2001 to 2.3 in 2031. (Source: Moreland City Council 
population projections 2006–07 2007–08 2008–09).
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it has been a privilege and honour to represent the City of 
Moreland as Mayor during 2011 and i am proud to tell you 
that the 2010–2011 year has been one of achievement for 
Moreland residents. 

Delivering against our council Plan
the 2010–2011 year marks the third year of the current 
Council term and i am pleased to report that we are making 
good progress delivering against the commitments outlined 
in our 2009–2013 Council plan.

this year has seen a major focus on facilitating the growth 
of the local economy and encouraging new employment 
opportunities across the municipality, with the adoption of 
our economic development Strategy in december 2010 and 
further work to develop strategic documents that drive future 
development of our major activity centres in Brunswick, 
Coburg and Glenroy.

Further to this strategic work has been the delivery of capital 
works projects within our shopping centres to improve the 
visual amenity. this included upgrades to the Major Road 
Shopping Strip in Fawkner and the installation of community 
art project ‘Many Hands Make Glenroy’. 

other major capital works carried out during 2010–2011 
include: 
•	 The	opening	of	the	Fawkner	Skate	Park	at	CB	Smith	

Reserve, which is already resulting in large numbers of 
youth using the facility

•	 A	new	synthetic	soccer	pitch	at	Clifton	Park	in	Brunswick	
and extension of the existing junior soccer field at 
Reddish Reserve in Hadfield

•	 Upgrade	and	installation	of	sports	field	lighting	at	Reddish	
Reserve and Gillon Reserve, providing opportunity to 
maximise the use of playing surfaces at these reserves

•	 Construction	commenced	on	the	Gowanbrae	Community	
& Children’s Centre and is due for completion in 2011

•	 Upgrade	of	the	Coburg	Lake	Reserve	also	commenced	
and when finished will include a new playground, an 
outdoor gym, new seating and picnic facilities

Council also made significant progress towards the 
redevelopment of the Brunswick Baths, with the consultation, 
planning, design and tender stages of the project completed 
during the year. Construction of this major redevelopment 
has commenced and is scheduled to be completed in 2012.

Delivering and improving services to the 
community
in addition to these high profile strategic and capital  
initiatives, we continued the ongoing delivery of services  
to the community. during 2010–2011, 186, 252 meals  
were provided, 53,500 customer service requests were 
actioned, 7,757 trees were planted, 29,240 tonnes of  
waste were taken to landfill, and 144,000 home care  
hours were delivered.

our community is constantly changing and creates ongoing 
challenges for all Councillors. An example of this was the 
increase of library hours that occurred in october 2010, 
providing an additional 24 hours per week at Brunswick, 
Coburg and Glenroy libraries. i am pleased to report that 
this improved service is being well used by the Moreland 
community, with a total of 1,517,930 library loans during  
the year.

Additionally, the growing demand from the younger 
members of the community has kept our services busy, 
with unprecedented expansion and upgrade to children’s 
centres and kindergartens being required. new works at 
tinning Child Centre Co-op and Merlynston Maternal Child 
Health Centre were completed. our five year early years 
Strategy was also adopted during 2010, which will ensure 
this growing demand is met into the future. 

a sustainable moreland
Council also continued its focus on environmental initiatives 
with significant water and energy savings achieved. this 
included 13 million litres of water savings through sports field 
and open space improvements at Sewell Reserve, Gillon 
oval, Jp Fawkner Reserve, Moomba park and Reddish 
Reserve. energy efficiency savings through implementation 
of our Carbon Management Strategy resulted in significant 
reduction in electricity and gas usage at major Council 
facilities; Coburg Civic Centre, Fawkner leisure Centre and 
Walter St operations Centre in Hadfield.

Moreland is a community of diverse and proud people.  
i thank you all for your support during the year and 
encourage you to continue working for a better Moreland.

Oscar Yildiz, JP 
mayor

Mayor’s introduction
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…the growing demand from the 
younger members of the community 
has kept our services busy, with 
unprecedented expansion and upgrade 
to children’s centres and kindergartens 
being required.

“

Girl playing foosball at a youth 
centre, Sydney Road, Brunswick.
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the local government of 
Moreland consists of 11 
Councillors elected from 
three wards across the City 
of Moreland. Voters in the 
Moreland community elect 
Councillors every four years. 

in addition to representing 
the interests of their wards, 
six Councillors are each given 
specific responsibility for a 
Council department. these 
Councillors are known as 
portfolio Councillors. project 
responsibility for particular 
issues is also allocated to 
Councillors.

eleven Councillors were 
elected to Moreland City 
Council in november 2008. 
the City of Moreland is 
divided into three wards: 
North-West	Ward	(four	
Councillors),	North-East	Ward	
(four	Councillors)	and	South	
Ward	(three	Councillors).	The	
next Council election will be 
held	on	27	October	2012	(this	
change from november 2012 
is currently before parliament 
for	approval).

cr Lambros tapinos
phone: 03 9240 1193
Fax: 03 9240 1179
Mobile: 0433 419 075
email: ltapinos@moreland. 
vic.gov.au

elected to Council:  
november 2008

Mayor of Moreland: 
december 2008 –  
december 2009.

portfolio Councillor economic 
development

Member urban planning 
Committee

lambros has lived in 
Brunswick his entire life and 
has always been passionate 
about his local area. His 
vision for Moreland is to 
provide a safe, friendly and 
caring community that 
works together to meet 
our collective hopes and 
aspirations to make Moreland 
a better place to live and 
work, a community that 
provides essential services to 
its aged citizens and young 
families.

He is interested in 
international politics, the 
environment, history, 
archaeology, football, and 
soccer and having fun and 
loves Moreland for its people, 
the community and its 
diversity.  

in the past he has been the 
president of the national 
Union	of	Students	(Victorian	
Branch)	and	worked	for	
Victorian labor Senator david 
Feeney as an electorate 
officer. Currently, he works 
for Victoria university.

cr Jo connellan
Phone/fax:	03	9387	8254
Mobile: 0428 348 447
email: jconnellan@moreland.
vic.gov.au

elected to Council:  
november 2004

portfolio Councillor City 
development

Councillor Responsible For 
Sustainable transport

Councillor Responsible 
For Sustainability, Climate 
Change & Water

Member urban planning 
Committee

Jo ran for Council a second 
time to build on the work of 
the first four years, and to see 
some of the bigger projects 
and plans completed or 
well underway. Jo’s vision 
for Moreland is to create a 
much greener city, with better 
public transport and public 
spaces, a more socially just 
place, with more public and 
affordable housing, and a 
better educated city, with 
greater opportunities for good 
quality public education.

Jo likes Moreland because 
it is always changing, which 
makes it interesting. Jo is a 
civil engineer and planner, 
currently working as a 
project manager with State 
Government.

cr alice Pryor
Mobile: 0416 219 261
email: apryor@moreland. 
vic.gov.au

elected to Council:  
november 2004

deputy Mayor  
december 2010 – present

Councillor Responsible for 
youth

Councillor Responsible for 
east timor

Chairperson urban planning 
Committee

Alice felt that she had more 
to give to the Moreland 
community and that there 
were things she still wanted 
to achieve on Council so 
decided to run for a second 
term. She continues to 
work on the redevelopment 
of Brunswick Baths, the 
establishment of youth 
facilities in Moreland, and the 
Brunswick Structure plan. 

Alice loves gardening, her 
cats and spending time with 
her family. Her absolute 
favourite thing about 
Moreland is how anything you 
want to do, buy or find, you 
can do or find it in Moreland 
– be it from any part of the 
world.

in the past she has worked 
at a local deli in Brunswick. 
Currently she does project 
coordination for national 
Science Week at the CSiRo 
and works as policy and 
Campaigns Coordinator with 
emily’s list, an organisation 
supporting women seeking 
election to government.

your Councillors

sOUtH WaRDcOUncILLORs as 
at 15 DEcEmBER 
2008 tO 30 JUnE 
2011
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cr anthony Helou JP
phone: 03 9384 1328
Fax: 03 9384 3147
Mobile: 0419 515 593
email: ahelou@moreland. 
vic.gov.au

elected to Council:  
March 1996

Mayor of Moreland: April 
1998 – March 1999, April 
2004 – november 2004, 
december 2005 – 
december 2006.

portfolio Councillor Corporate 
Services

Councillor Responsible 
for Social diversity and 
Reconciliation

Member urban planning 
Committee

Member Audit Committee

Anthony has a strong 
background in community 
service, spanning the 40 
years in which he has lived 
and worked within the City 
of Moreland. He has an 
excellent understanding of 
the wide range of issues and 
has extensive networks in the 
community. His love of the city 
and its people encouraged 
him to run for Council again. 
this allowed him to put his 
skills into practice and be part 
of a team working towards 
making the city a good city to 
work, live and raise a family in.

Anthony wants the people 
of Australia and the world to 
look at Moreland, and see it 
as a highly educated, skilled, 
tolerant and confident city 
with people making their own 
way in a modern Moreland.  
Anthony has extensive work 
experience and a number 
of educational qualifications 
behind him. Since 1996 he 
has dedicated his time to 
being a Councillor

cr toby archer
Fax: 03 9240 1179
Mobile: 0466 004 652
email: tarcher@moreland. 
vic.gov.au

elected to Council:  
november 2008

Councillor Responsible for 
Children

Member urban planning 
Committee

toby is passionate about 
making Moreland a more 
environmentally and socially 
just city. He believes local 
government can help 
residents create the city 
they want to live in. He 
hopes Moreland can be 
a city leading the fight 
against climate change, the 
crippling price of petrol and 
the obesity crisis. A place 
where everyone can afford 
to live, not just those wealthy 
enough to purchase a house, 
and access first class social 
services like health, child care 
and education.

toby is a keen cyclist, a 
passionate club cricketer and 
enjoys reading about history, 
politics and social theory.

He loves Moreland for its 
food, affordable housing, 
easy bike riding, modernist 
industrial architecture, iconic 
and constantly changing 
suburban streetscapes, 
Victoria Mall, Merri Creek 
and the wild southern end of 
edgars Creek.

toby has worked extensively 
in the union movement 
and community sector. 
He currently works for a 
community legal service, 
working to improve the rights 
of public and private renters 
and campaigning for more 
affordable housing.

cr stella Kariofyllidis
Phone/Fax:	03	9384	6243
Mobile: 0466 004 650
email: skariofyllidis@
moreland.vic.gov.au

First elected to Council: 
March 1996

Stella was first elected to 
Council in March 1996 and 
was the first Greek-born 
female Mayor ever in Australia 
and the first and only female 
Mayor in Moreland from 
March 2000 to March 2001.

Re-elected to Council:  
november 2008

Mayor of Moreland december 
2009 – december 2010

portfolio Councillor Social 
development

Councillor Responsible for 
Women’s issues

Member urban planning 
Committee.

Stella joined Council to 
participate in the decision 
making for the area in 
which she lives. She wants 
Moreland to be seen as a 
clean, green, affordable city 
whose residents are happy 
and proud to live in the 
municipality.

Stella enjoys going out with 
friends, walking, reading, 
movies and dancing. Stella 
has worked as a Greek 
teacher of young children and 
as a bank officer.

cr michael teti
Phone/Fax:	03	9387	5217
Mobile: 0435 105 368
email: mteti@moreland. 
vic.gov.au

elected to Council:  
november 2008

Councillor Responsible for 
Aged Services

Councillor Responsible for 
Recreation	&	Leisure	(shared	
with	Cr	Kavanagh)

Member urban planning 
Committee 

Member Audit Committee

Michael joined Council to 
bring about a change in 
the direction at Council. He 
believes Council must first 
do the basics well, in order 
to then make progress in 
other areas. He would like to 
be part of a back to basics 
campaign throughout the 
entire community. He wants 
Council to be defined by 
fairness and decency through 
delivering high quality services 
and community facilities, 
while eliminating wasteful 
Council spending.

Michael enjoys fishing in 
port phillip Bay, camping 
in various locations around 
Victoria, dirt bike riding and 
go-karts. He loves Moreland 
for its multiculturalism, with 
each suburb having its own 
valuable culture.

nORtH-East WaRD
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cr John Kavanagh
Phone/fax:	03	9379	4734
Mobile: 0427 550 935
email: jkavanagh@moreland.
vic.gov.au

elected to Council:  
november 2004

portfolio Councillor City 
infrastructure

Councillor Responsible for 
Recreation & leisure  
(shared	with	Cr	Teti)

Chairperson Audit Committee

John joined Council to make 
a difference by contributing 
to the local community. He 
also wants Council to get 
‘back to basics’ and not be 
distracted by tackling issues 
beyond its control. His vision 
for Moreland is that it is a 
vibrant, peaceful, welcoming 
city that people view as being 
a great place to live and raise 
a family in.

John enjoys family activities, 
current affairs, reading 
biographies, horse racing  
and following Carlton  
Football Club.

He loves Moreland’s 
complete diversity, not only 
its cultural diversity but the 
diversity of housing styles, of 
streetscapes, of shopping 
strips and of sporting facilities 
as well as of age and religious 
affiliation. 

John has been a primary 
school teacher for 27 years 
and previously worked part 
time in petrol stations.

cr Kathleen  
matthews-Ward
Phone/fax:	03	9300	3567
Mobile: 0428 573 785
email: kmatthewsward@
moreland.vic.gov.au

elected to Council:  
november 2004

deputy Mayor: december 
2007 – december 2010.

portfolio Councillor 
organisational development

Councillor Responsible for 
Accessible and Affordable 
Housing

Kathleen joined Council to 
‘get in there, have a go, and 
try to make things better.’ 
She sees Moreland as a 
welcoming and friendly place 
where all people, no matter 
their age, background or 
level of ability, are valued 
and are able to achieve a 
quality life as an active and 
connected member of the 
local community.

Kathleen enjoys catching 
up with friends and family, 
walking, gardening and 
reading. She loves Moreland 
for its diversity, its generosity 
of heart, its welcoming and 
caring nature, its down 
to earth attitude and its 
willingness to fight for the 
underdog.

Kathleen has worked in retail, 
credit unions, customer 
service, office administration 
and advocacy and is now 
enjoying parenthood.

cr Oscar Yildiz JP
(Mayor	December	 
2010	–present)
Fax: 03 9240 1179
Mobile: 0413 850 357
email: oyildiz@moreland. 
vic.gov.au 

elected to Council:  
november 2008

oscar joined Council to be 
the voice of the community. 
He wants Moreland to be 
recognised as being a leader 
in introducing cost savings to 
its residents by offering new 
initiatives and giving back to 
the community.

oscar enjoys sport, spending 
time with his family, writing, 
socialising, swimming, body 
boarding, fishing, outdoor 
activities and teaching.

He loves Moreland for its 
shopping strips, bicycle 
paths, children’s play areas, 
parks, sporting facilities and 
the various restaurants.

He has worked in five 
different industries: retail, 
hospitality, education, 
transport and marketing. 
oscar is a qualified teacher 
and has completed various 
diplomas in management.

cr Enver Erdogan
Fax: 03 9240 1179
Mobile: 0412 266 245
email: eerdogan@moreland.
vic.gov.au

elected to Council:  
november 2008

Member urban planning 
Committee

enver’s main motivation for 
running for Council was that 
he feels local government 
is a good way for him to 
take an active role in his 
local community and make 
a positive contribution. He 
wants Moreland to be a 
happier and healthier city that 
remains unique.

enver enjoys study, sport and 
community activism. He has 
been active in advocating 
for better transport routes in 
Moreland.

He loves Moreland for its 
food, the sense of community 
belonging, and its diversity.

He is an economics and law 
graduate.

 

nORtH-WEst WaRD

your Councillors (cont)
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Dance Sister Dance event 
at Brunswick Town Hall.
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the Annual Report is a comprehensive document on 
Council’s operations during the 2010–2011 financial 
year. it provides detailed financial results in addition to the 
organisation’s performance; achievements and challenges.

Financial sustainability
Council’s accounting profit for 2010–11 was $4.91m,  
with an underlying operating surplus for 2010–2011 of $1.97 
million. total budget expenditure for the year was $132.3 
million, delivering over 140 services to more than 150,000 
residents. this was all achieved while meeting the Victorian 
Auditor-General’s sustainability indicators.

this year we consulted the community about the 
development of a new five year financial plan. through this 
consultation you told us that we should endeavour to explore 
the most cost effective methods when delivering services, 
provide strong support for asset maintenance and explore 
alternative revenue sources. this feedback is all being used 
to underpin the development of a new five year financial plan 
and capital works program. our challenge will be to develop 
a robust review program so we deliver effective services. our 
Waste Service tender and Single Service Aquatic tender 
were both completed during the year, resulting in services 
that will provide better value for money.

capital Works
this year Moreland City Council spent $24.43 million on 
capital works that renew and maintain our community assets, 
such as parks, community centres, roads and footpaths. 
during the 2010–2011 year, the significant road program 
delivered upgrades totalling $8.55 million. this work included 
11.1 km of road reconstruction and resurfacing, 28.5 km of 
footpath reconstruction and grinding and 1,005 metres of 
new shared paths. We also made significant progress with 
the Brunswick Baths redevelopment which is scheduled for 
completion in october 2012. 

Maintaining, renewing and constructing new assets for 
the growing and changing needs of our community is a 
key focus for the organisation. this year, for the first time, 
we developed and adopted a capital works program that 
aligns with our financial plan and will underpin our capital 
expenditure over the next five years.

a responsive organisation
every organisation faces new challenges and this year 
Council established a new organisational development 
department. this department was created to review and 
improve the alignment and performance of Council’s 
corporate processes, and to improve organisational 
performance, leadership capabilities and workplace culture. 

A key focus this year was the better alignment between  
our planning and budgeting processes, which ensures that 
the commitments made in the annual budget are resourced 
and delivered. 

during the year, our Statutory planning team determined 
1,479 planning applications, a 25% increase from the 
previous year. this increase was a challenge resulting in 
prolonged timeframes for processing planning applications, 
impacting those members of the community awaiting 
decisions. Following the employment of additional resources 
i am pleased to report that the backlog of applications has 
started to decrease and timeframes for processing reduce.

challenges
every year Moreland participates in a survey carried out 
by the State Government’s department of planning and 
Community development, which evaluates the organisation 
through the community’s eyes. the community wants 
Council to improve the quality of our roads and footpaths 
and our customer service. driving changes in this area is a 
challenge and, as Ceo, i will focus on those demands in  
the coming year.

Finally, i thank my executive team and the staff of Moreland 
City Council who individually and collectively strive to improve 
this city.

Peter Brown 
chief Executive Officer

Ceo’s Report
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this year Moreland City Council spent  
$24.4 million on capital works that 
renew and maintain our community 
assets, such as parks, community 
centres, roads and footpaths.

“
Bike riders at Coburg Lake.
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this financial snapshot is based on the report from 
page 58. 

strategic Resource Plan 
Council continues to be guided by the principles of the 
2009–10 to 2012–13 Strategic Resource plan. this plan was 
not intended to be static and has been reviewed annually 
as part of the Council planning process and updated to 
reflect changing circumstances. in addition, Council is in the 
process of finalising the development of a new Five year 
Financial plan for the period 2011–12 to 2015–16.

the aim of the plan is to ensure that Council is able to repair 
and maintain its infrastructure assets at the level expected by 
the community while at the same time continuing to deliver 
the services needed by the community. 

on pages 59–123 you will find the formally presented 
financial statements of Council prepared in accordance with 
relevant accounting standards and legislative requirements. 
these reports are comprehensive and, as such, stakeholders 
and members of the community may find them difficult 
to interpret. this overview aims to simplify the pertinent 
information regarding Council’s financial performance for 
2010–2011. 

Income – Where did the money come from? 
total income for the year was $137.22 million. there was an 
overall	revenue	reduction	of	$7.41	million	(or	5%)	compared	
to that of 2009–2010, due to the inclusion of found assets 
($13.09	million)	in	the	2009–10	revenue	figure.	The	majority	
of this revenue comes from rates income of $92.31 million. 

other major sources of revenue were government grants of 
$19.22	million	(14.0%)	and	user	charges	and	other	fines	of	
$18.59	million	(13.55%).	

Expenses – How the money was spent? 
total expenses for the year were $132.3 million. overall 
expenses decreased in 2010–2011 by approximately 
$70,000, which is primarily due to the inclusion of Asset 
de-recognition in the 2009–2010 figure. the majority of total 
expenses consist of employee costs of $67.03 million and 
contract payments, materials and services of $42.63 million. 
Council’s control of expenditure reflects a continuing focus 
on efficient management of Council resources to better meet 
the needs of the community. 

Council is reporting an accounting profit of $4.91 million 
for 2010–2011. it is however important to note that this 
accounting profit includes items that are either one-off or 
committed for capital expenditure. After excluding non-cash 
developer contributions, capital grants and contributions, 
Council’s underlying surplus for year 2010–2011 is $1.97 
million. this is a modest result in the context of a total budget 
turnover of approximately $137 million. 

capital spending by council Program 
total capital spending for the year was $24.43 million. 
Council continues to work at addressing its capital works 
program across a wide range of projects with the total capital 
spend being $4.69 million above the depreciation for the 
year. However, renewal works were $7.64 million below 
depreciation.

Financial Snapshot
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Roads and footpaths
5%

Recreation and leisure
3.6%

Customer service 
2.2%

Capital works
23.1%

Waste collection and recycling
6.7%

Children’s services 
1.8%

Health and immunisation
3.6% Local laws regulations 

4.2%

Governance 
0.9%

Aged and disability services
9.3%

Administration 
13.2%

LIBRARY

Property services
5.2%

Transport and conservation
2.3%

OPEN 7 DAYSFRESHFRESHcafé café
Polling
Booth

ROADWORKAHEAD

Arts and libraries
4.3%

Parks and street trees 
5.4%

Asset maintenance 
2.6%

Planning and urban strategy
4.2%

Street cleansing 
2.3%

total expenses for the year were $132.30 million.  
A breakdown of total expenditure percentage by expense 
category is shown in the above diagram.

Expenditure Profile 2010–11



20 MoRelAnd City CounCil AnnuAl RepoRt 2011

 
 

September Quarter
•	 Christmas	in	July	function
•	 Launch	of	L2P	Learner	Driver	Mentor	Program
•	 $150,000	grant	received	from	Department	

of planning and Community development to 
deliver a Better Business places pilot project  
in the Brunswick Core industry and 
employment precinct

•	 Council	wins	Victorian	and	Australian	
Multicultural Awards for CAld CoM  
story boards

•	 Council’s	annual	dinner,	dance	and	show	 
for	people	of	all	abilities	(‘DecAdance’)	held	 
in August

•	 Opening	of	a	new	public	exhibition	space	at	
Coburg town Hall with ‘Harbingers of Change: 
Citizens and Sustainability’ exhibition

•	 Launch	of	Wireless	Internet	access	(WiFi)	at	
Moreland public libraries in September

•	 ‘Many	Hands	Make	Glenroy’	community	art	
project launched in September

•	 New	street	furniture	installed	in	the	Glenroy	
shopping centre

•	 On-line	bookings	for	Moreland	parks	and	
exhibition spaces made available via the 
Council web site

•	 Launch	of	Major	Road	Fawkner	Shopping	
Strip Renewal project

•	 Coburg	Drive-In	listed	on	Victorian	Heritage	
Register

•	 Launch	of	Moreland	Integrated	Transport	
Strategy

december Quarter
•	 ‘Kid’s	Day	Out’	at	Bridges	Reserve	and	

Coburg leisure Centre
•	 Launch	of	Community	Mental	Health	

promotion and prevention Action plan at 
Coburg library

•	 Former	Kodak	site	Development	Plan	
endorsed by Council following approval by the 
Minister for planning

•	 Launch	of	preferred	blueprint	for	Central	
Coburg	(‘Colours	of	Coburg’)

•	 ‘Zero	Waste	For	a	Week	Challenge’	program	
launched in october

•	 ‘Moreland	Big	Aussie	Swap	Party’	in	October	
at Brunswick town Hall

•	 Launch	of	2010	‘MoreArt	Public	Art	Show’
•	 Completion	of	new	playground	at	Coburg	

lake as part of Council’s Coburg lake 
Renewal plan

•	 First	edition	of	quarterly	business	newsletter	
‘exchange’ issued

•	 Fawkner	Festival	in	November
•	 RMIT	University	Textile	Design	and	

Development	Graduate	Exhibition	(‘FUSE’)	at	
Counihan Gallery

•	 Coburg	Initiative	Night	Markets	held	in	Bridges	
Reserve

•	 ‘Summer	Social’	for	people	of	all	abilities	held	
in december

•	 Community	Human	Rights	Education	Planning	
Meeting	/	Breakfast	to	commemorate	Human	
Rights day

•	 Public	consultation	on	Five	Year	Financial	Plan
•	 ‘No	Limits	Television’	episode	filmed	in	

Moreland
•	 Carols	by	the	Coburg	Lake
•	 Community	safety	program	commenced	at	

CB Smith Reserve in Fawkner in december

A year in Moreland – Financial year 2010–11

2
0
1
0
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March Quarter
•	 ‘Reframed’	exhibition	at	Counihan	Gallery	in	

January/February
•	 ‘Ride	to	the	Pool	Day’	hosted	by	Coburg	

outdoor olympic Swimming pool in January
•	 CALD	COM	storyboard	for	water	safety	

launched at oak park Swimming pool in 
January

•	 ‘Movies	in	the	Park’	film	screenings	held	in	
February

•	 Annual	‘Honouring	Women	in	Moreland	
Awards’ held in February

•	 ‘Access	All	Abilities’	tennis	clinic	held	at	the	
Fawkner tennis Club in February

•	 Sydney	Road	Street	Party
•	 Brunswick	Music	Festival
•	 Construction	of	National	Broadband	Network	

at first release sites in Brunswick started in 
February

•	 Commencement	of	‘Small	Business	Clinics’	
program at Brunswick Business incubator in 
March

•	 Pascoe	Vale	Festival	held	in	March
•	 Inaugural	‘Why	B	Active	Festival’	held	in		

Fawkner as part of national youth Week 
celebrations

•	 Cultural	Diversity	Week	celebrated	at	Moreland	
libraries in March

•	 Domestic	geese	and	ducks	removed	from	
Coburg lake, as part of Coburg lake Renewal 
project

•	 Workshop	to	create	‘Tree	of	Life’	mosaic	held	
in April and on permanent display at Coburg 
Civic Centre

•	 Information	and	advice	on	sustainability	issues	
made available at Moreland libraries between 
March and June

•	 Sister	City	agreement	signed	with	the	Turkish	
City of Corum marked by a time capsule burial

•	 Green	Waste	Bin	Inspection	Program	during	
March and May to 
educate residents on 
green waste disposal

June Quarter
•	 Mayors’	Charity	Golf	Day
•	 May	Day	Heritage	Walk
•	 ‘Dance	Sister	Dance’	dance	party	for	young	

women held in May
•	 Mayor’s	Ovarian	Cancer	Awareness	Cup	held	

at Coburg City oval
•	 Moreland	Volunteer	Event	held	in	May,	

featuring stalls from over 40 community 
organisations

•	 Clifton	Park	Soccer	Pitch	Development	Project	
completed in May

•	 ‘Permeable	Barrier’	series	of	public	artworks	
installed in and around the Snell Grove 
shopping strip in oak park

•	 ‘Bonegilla,	Flash-Backs’	–	a	photographic	
exhibition

•	 Community	Singing	Leadership	Skills	
Workshop at Glenroy learning Centre

•	 Commune	@	RMIT	Brunswick	on	sustainability
•	 Coburg	Carnivale	in	June
•	 Public	forum	on	‘Reclaiming,	sustaining	and	

building cultures’ at Counihan Gallery in 
Brunswick

•	 Reconciliation	Week	Workshop
•	 Free	professional	development	workshops	for	

artists at Counihan Gallery in Brunswick
•	 Street	furniture	installed	in	streets	comprising	

the ‘Brunswick Active Movement network’ in 
June

•	 World	Environment	Day	celebrated	at	Coburg	
lake in June

•	 O’Hea	Street	BikeTown	Project	launched
•	 Moreland	Refugee	Week	celebrated	at	Coburg	

library in June

2
0
1
1
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Brunswick Town Hall.
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Council is strongly committed to fostering open, responsive 
and consultative governance. 

local government is the third sphere of government. the 
local government of Moreland derives its power, role, 
purpose and functions from the Local Government Act 
1989. Moreland City Council is committed to providing good 
governance to the Moreland community. 

Council believes local government is a legitimate form of 
government in its own right and is committed to nurturing 
a democratic and participatory culture at the first level of 
government. this includes consultative decision-making and 
meaningful opportunities for both individual and community 
involvement in the issues that affect the lives of people who 
live, work and recreate in Moreland. 

A strong sense of democracy in Moreland also demands that 
Council acts on its responsibility to represent the needs and 
aspirations of its citizens to other decision-makers and levels 
of government. 

council meetings 
Council meetings, at which decisions on issues affecting 
citizens are made, are held once a month. Council meetings 
provide citizens with an opportunity to witness the discussion 
and decisions of Council, to ask questions of Councillors and 
to raise issues for Council to consider in its decision-making 
process. outside of the formal agenda, citizens are given 30 
minutes in which matters can be raised with Council. Council 
met 19 times over the reporting period 2010–2011. eight of 
those meetings were Special Council meetings. 

Project and Portfolio councillors
the roles of Mayor, portfolio Councillors and Councillors 
Responsible For were established to assist Council’s effective 
governance. in acting on behalf of Council, all Councillor 
office holders strive to represent the views of Council. Actual 
authority is only exercised by Council itself or its authorised 
delegates. Councillor office holders are expected to assist 
Council in providing direction for the administration.

2010–2011 councillor attendance at council 
meetings

1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011 no. of 
meetings 
attended

Cr lambros tapinos 19
Cr Jo Connellan 19
Cr Alice pryor 17
Cr Anthony Helou 17
Cr toby Archer 15
Cr Stella Kariofyllidis 18
Cr Michael teti 15
Cr John Kavanagh 19
Cr Kathleen Matthews-Ward 19
Cr oscar yildiz 18
Cr enver erdogan 17

mayor
the Mayor’s role should be seen as being at the apex 
of Council structures in relation to policy making and the 
setting of Council priorities. the political aspirations of the 
community are embedded in the role of the Mayor. the 
Mayor embodies the community’s democratic leadership. 
the Mayor represents a primary form of accountability and 
responsible governance.

Portfolio councillors
portfolio Councillors provide leadership on behalf of Council 
in the area of the portfolio responsibility. Relationships 
between portfolio Councillors and Council’s departmental 
directors enable the portfolio Councillor to be informed about 
key departmental issues and the director to be aware of 
Council’s position on relevant issues. portfolio Councillors 
keep the relevant director informed and are available to 
the director for consultation. directors ensure that portfolio 
Councillors are kept informed of all relevant issues. 

1 July 2010 to 6 December 2010

council Department Portfolio councillor

City development Cr Jo Connellan

City infrastructure Cr John Kavanagh

Corporate Services Cr oscar yildiz

Social development Cr Alice pryor

economic development Cr toby Archer

7 December 2010 to 30 June 2011 

council Department Portfolio councillor

City development Cr Jo Connellan

City infrastructure Cr John Kavanagh

Corporate Services Cr Anthony Helou

Social development Cr toby Archer  
(December	–	April)

Cr Stella Kariofyllidis  
(April	–	present)

economic development Cr lambros tapinos

organisational development Cr Stella Kariofyllidis 
(December	–	April)

Cr Kathleen Matthews-Ward 
(April	–	present)

Governance update
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councillors Responsible For

the Councillor Responsible For assists coordination between Council and community activity on key issues that require a 
specific focus from Councillors, which may involve more than one portfolio area and which require a greater Council focus than 
usual for strategic or community relations reasons. 

7 December 2010 to 30 June 2011

Key issue: councillor/s  
Responsible for:

Accessible and Affordable 
Housing 

Cr Kathleen Matthews-Ward

Aged Services Cr Michael teti

east timor Cr Alice pryor

Children Cr toby Archer

Sustainability, Climate 
Change and Water 

Cr Connellan

City & Amenity improvement Cr lambros tapinos

Recreation/Leisure	 Cr John Kavanagh &  
Cr Michael teti

Social diversity and 
Reconciliation

Cr Anthony Helou

Sustainable transport Cr Jo Connellan

Women’s issues Cr Stella Kariofyllidis

youth Cr Alice pryor

major committees
Council has two major committees: the urban planning Committee and the Audit Committee.

Urban Planning committee
The	Urban	Planning	Committee	(UPC)	deals	with	planning	and	building	applications	as	well	as	traffic	management	issues.	
All affected parties are provided with an opportunity to speak on applications and issues. this committee has a pivotal role in 
developing the quality of life in Moreland. in the reporting year, the committee met 11 times and considered 58 reports.

2010–2011 councillor attendance at UPc meetings

1 July 2010 to  
6 December 2010 

no. of meetings attended 
(4 meetings Held)

Cr Jo Connellan 3

Cr Alice pryor 4

Cr Anthony Helou 4

Cr toby Archer 3

Cr Michael teti 0

Cr John Kavanagh 4

Cr enver erdogan 4

Cr lambros tapinos 4

7 December 2010 to  
30 June 2011 

no. of meetings attended 
(7 meetings Held)

Cr Jo Connellan 7

Cr Alice pryor 7

Cr Anthony Helou 6

Cr toby Archer 5

Cr Michael teti 2

Cr Stella Kariofyllidis 5

Cr enver erdogan 6

Cr lambros tapinos 6

1 July 2010 to 6 December 2010 

Key issue: councillor/s  
Responsible for: 

Accessible and Affordable 
Housing 

Cr Kathleen Matthews-Ward

Aged Services Cr Michael teti

east timor Cr Alice pryor

Children Cr toby Archer

Sustainability, Climate 
Change & Water

Cr Jo Connellan

City & Amenity improvement Cr lambros tapinos

Recreation	/	Leisure	 Cr John Kavanagh

Social diversity & 
Reconciliation 

Cr Anthony Helou

Sustainable transport Cr Connellan

Women’s issues Cr Stella Kariofyllidis

youth Cr Alice pryor

Governance update (cont)
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audit committee
Consistent with the requirements of the Local Government 
Act 1989	(the	Act)	and	sound	corporate	governance	
generally, Council has for many years had an Audit 
Committee of Council.  For public accountability purposes, 
Council has formed the committee under section 86 of the 
local Government Act 1989. this means that formal meeting 
agendas are prepared, minutes are kept and the meetings 
are advertised as being open for members of the public 
to attend. Audit Committee agenda papers and minutes 
are available for public inspection. the current Charter and 
terms of Reference of the Audit Committee were reviewed 
by the Committee and an updated Charter was adopted 
by Council in november 2009. the Moreland Council Audit 
Committee Charter is generally consistent with the January 
2011 best practice guidelines for audit committees titled 
Audit Committees – A Guide to Good Practice in Local 
Government. 

the overall purpose of the Audit Committee is to provide a 
forum for communication between Council, management, 
and the internal and external auditors, and to assist Council 
in its oversight responsibilities by monitoring, reviewing and 
advising on:
•	 The	external	auditors’	performance
•	 The	independence	and	performance	of	the	internal	audit	

function 
•	 The	truth	and	fairness	of	the	view	given	by	the	annual	

financial, standard and performance statements of Council 
•	 Council’s	accounting	policies	and	practices	in	accordance	

with current and emerging accounting standards 
•	 Compliance	with	legal	and	regulatory	requirements	and	

policies 
•	 Compliance	with	Council’s	policy	framework	
•	 Internal	controls,	the	control	environment	and	the	overall	

efficiency and effectiveness of financial operations 
•	 Council’s	overall	risk	management	policy	and	programs

the committee is presently chaired by Cr Kavanagh, with 
two other Councillor members, Cr Helou and Cr teti, Chief 
executive officer peter Brown, and two representatives 
that are external to Council’s operations and governing 
body.  Council is fortunate to have the continuing services 
of	Michael	Francis	(Managing	Director	of	local	Moreland	
company	Pneuvay	Engineering	Pty	Ltd)	and	Kevin	Quigley	
(local	resident,	chartered	accountant	and	business	

consultant).	The	committee	met	on	four	occasions	during	
2010–2011.

state and Federal Government Investigations
Moreland Council was not the subject of any State or Federal 
Government investigations.

Documents containing Prescribed matters 
Open For Public Inspection
Council is committed to open and transparent governance 
and in accordance with the Act and Section 11 of the Local 
Government (General) Regulations 2004, the following 
documents are available for public inspection at Moreland 
Civic Centre, 90 Bell Street, Coburg. 

•	 Details	of	current	allowances	fixed	for	the	Mayor	and	
Councillors. 

•	 Details	of	senior	officers’	total	salary	packages	for	the	
current financial year and the previous year including 
the gross salary, the amount of Council or employee 
contribution to superannuation, the value of any motor 
vehicle provided by Council and the total value of any 
other benefits and allowances provided by Council. 

•	 Details	of	overseas	or	interstate	travel	(with	the	exception	
of	interstate	travel	by	land	for	less	than	three	days)	
undertaken in an official capacity by Councillors or any 
member of Council staff in the previous 12 months, 
including the names of the Councillors or members of 
Council staff and the date, destination, purpose and total 
cost of the overseas or interstate travel. 

•	 Names	of	Council	officers	who	were	required	to	submit	
a return of interest during the financial year and the dates 
the returns were submitted. 

•	 Names	of	Councillors	who	submitted	returns	of	interest	
during the financial year and the dates the returns were 
submitted. 

•	 Agendas	and	minutes	of	special	and	ordinary	Council	
meetings. 

•	 A	list	of	all	special	committees	established	(or	abolished	
during	the	financial	year)	by	Council	and	the	purpose	for	
which each committee was established. 

audit committee meetings 1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011

1 July 2010 to 31 December 2010 1 January 2010 to 30 June 2011

councillor meetings 
held

meetings 
attended

councillor meetings 
held

meetings 
attended

Cr	John	Kavanagh	(Chair) 2 2 Cr	John	Kavanagh	(Chair) 2 2

Cr Michael teti 2 0 Cr Michael teti 2 0

Cr oscar yildiz 2 1 Cr Anthony Helou 2 1

Michael Francis 2 2 Michael Francis 2 2

Kevin Quigley 2 2 Kevin Quigley 2 2
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•	 Minutes	of	meetings	of	special	committees	established	
under section 86 of the Act and held in the previous 12 
months. 

•	 Register	of	delegations	kept	under	sections	87,	88	and	
98 of the Act. 

•	 Submissions	received	in	accordance	with	section	223	of	
the Act during the previous 12 months. 

•	 Details	of	all	property,	finance	and	operating	leases	
involving land, buildings, plant, computer equipment 
or vehicles entered into by Council as lessor or lessee, 
including the name of the other party to the lease and the 
terms and the value of the lease. 

•	 Register	of	authorised	officers	appointed	under	section	
224 of the Act. 

•	 A	list	of	donations	and	grants	made	by	Council	during	the	
financial year, including the names of persons or bodies 
that have received a donation or grant and the amount of 
each donation or grant. 

•	 A	list	of	the	names	of	the	organisations	of	which	Council	
was a member during the financial year and details of 
all membership fees and other amounts and services 
provided during that year to each organisation by Council. 

•	 A	list	of	contracts	valued	at	$150,000	or	more,	which	
Council entered into during the financial year without first 
engaging in a competitive process. 

•	 Applications	for	enrolment	on	the	voters’	roll,	and	the	
voters’ roll.

inspection of these documents can be arranged by 
contacting the Governance department on 03 9240 2454. 

code of conduct 
Moreland City Council developed a Code of Conduct for 
Councillors. it was endorsed by Council in July 2009. 

Freedom of Information 
the Freedom of Information (FOI) Act 1982 gives the 
community a legal right to access certain Council 
documents. 

Moreland City Council is subject to the Foi Act and responds 
to requests directly related to its operations.

there were 38 Foi requests processed in 2010–2011. there 
were five requests granted in full, 20 in part and two requests 
denied in full. the others were either withdrawn or not 
proceeded with. there was four internal reviews requested. 
of the 38 requests received, 17 were planning or building 
related,	two	health/personal	information	related	and	the	other	
requests were asking for information about other areas of 
Council. of the requests that were partly denied the most 
common	exemption	clause	used	was	section	33(1)	which	
relates to the unreasonable disclosure of information relating 
to the personal affairs of any person.

the Foi Act has four basic principles:
1. the public has a legal right of access to information.
2.  local governments are required to publish information 

concerning documents they hold
3.  people may request that inaccurate, incomplete, out-of-

date or misleading information in their personal records 
be amended

4.  people may appeal against a decision not to give access 
to the information or not to amend a personal record

accessing FOI
Requests to access Foi must be in writing and accompanied 
by	an	application	fee	of	$23.90	(effective	1	July	2010).	
Applicants should indicate on the form which access is 
required.

on receipt of a request, a decision must be made within 45 
days. Where a decision is made to refuse or defer access, 
the applicant will be notified in writing of the reasons for the 
refusal and the procedures available to appeal the decision.

For all enquiries to access information available to the  
public, or Foi, contact Council’s Manager Governance on  
03 9240 2454.

Local Laws
Council has the following local laws:
•	 Environmental and Civic Assets Local Law 2006
•	 Moreland	City	Council	General	Local	Law	2007
•	 Meeting	Procedure	Local	Law	2010

Governance update (cont)

Children playing at a youth centre, Sydney Road, Brunswick.
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national competition Policy (ncP)
Moreland City Council has complied with the requirements 
of the local Government improvement incentive program in 
respect of the nCp, in accordance with National Competition 
Policy and Local Government – A revised Statement of 
the Victorian Government Policy (December 2008), for the 
financial year 2010–2011 for the following:
•		 Trade	Practices	compliance	–	Moreland	City	Council	is	

fully compliant
•		 Local	Laws	compliance	–	Moreland	City	Council	is	fully	

compliant
•		 Competitive	Neutrality	compliance	–	Moreland	City	

Council is fully compliant.

An nCp statement was prepared and presents fairly the 
Council’s implementation of the nCp.

Whistleblower Legislation
the Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001	(the	Act)	
commenced operation on 1 January 2002. the purpose 
of the Act is to encourage and facilitate the making of 
disclosures of improper conduct by Council officers or 
Councillors. the Act provides protection to whistleblowers 
that make disclosures in accordance with the Act, and 
establishes a system for the matters disclosed to be 
investigated and rectifying action to be taken.

As required by section 68 of the Act, Moreland City Council 
has developed disclosure procedures to facilitate the 
making of disclosures under the Act. the procedures can 
be found on Council’s website. during the period to 30 June 
2011 there were no complaints referred to Council by the 
ombudsman.

All correspondence, phone calls or emails from internal or 
external whistleblowers should be addressed to Moreland 
City	Council’s	Protected	Disclosure	Coordinator	(phone	 
03	9240	2294	or	email	ithomas@moreland.vic.gov.au).	
A special post office box has been set up to receive any 
disclosures with confidentiality. the address is po Box 33, 
Sydney Road, Brunswick ViC 3056.

Information Privacy Policy
Moreland City Council believes that the responsible handling 
of personal information is a key aspect of good democratic 
governance, and is strongly committed to protecting every 
individual’s right to privacy. Accordingly, Council is committed 
to full compliance with its obligations under the Information 
Privacy Act 2000 (Vic)	and	the	Health Records Act 2001	(the	
Acts).	In	particular,	Council	will	comply	with	the	Information	
Privacy	Principles	(IPPs)	and	Health	Privacy	Principles	(HPPs)	
contained in the Acts. Council’s policy applies to all personal 
information held by Council.

For	example,	Council	holds	personal	(and	in	some	cases	
sensitive)	information	on	its	local	citizens	and	ratepayers	(eg.	
names	and	addresses)	in	order	to	carry	out	its	functions	(eg.	
planning,	valuation	and	property	services).	It	may	also	request	

personal information in order to provide education, welfare 
and	other	community	services	(eg.	child	care	services).	In	
some instances, personal information may be contained on a 
public	register	(eg.	register	of	building	permits,	food	premises	
and	animal	registration	details).

the information privacy policy applies to all Council 
employees, Councillors and contractors of Moreland City 
Council. training and awareness sessions, local procedures 
and a policy manual have been set in place to best ensure 
the protection of personal information and to provide strong 
security frameworks around its use and disclosure. 

Any person wishing to access their personal information 
should	contact	Council’s	Privacy	Officer	(phone	03	9240	
2294).		Access	will	be	provided	except	in	the	circumstances	
outlined in the Acts, for example, where the information 
relates to legal proceedings or where the Foi Act applies. 

if any citizen believes their personal information is inaccurate, 
incomplete or out of date, they may request Council to 
correct the information. if any citizen feels aggrieved by 
Council’s handling of their personal information, the individual 
may make a complaint to Council’s privacy officer. the 
complaint will be investigated as soon as possible and a 
written response will be provided. Alternatively, any person 
may make a complaint to the privacy Commissioner. during 
the period to 30 June 2011 there were no complaints 
referred to Council by the privacy Commissioner.

awards and citations
•	 Finalist	–	LGPro	Awards	for	Excellence	–	Innovative	

Management initiative – for the integrated e-technology 
(IETEC)	Program

•	 Winner	–	Australian	Procurement	Conference	–	Award	for	
Collaboration in procurement

•	 Winner	–	Australian	Procurement	Conference	–	Award	for	
individual excellence in local Government procurement  
(Noel	Irwin)	–	The	Jacinta	Bartlett	Scholarship

•	 Winner	–	SACS	Executive	Leadership	Award	for	Local	
Government – nerina di lorenzo
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Our Executive 
management team
Moreland City Council’s 
executive team as at 30 
June 2011 is shown on the 
following pages. the entire 
corporate management 
team is shown in the 
organisational chart that 
follows.

Council’s Management team

chief Executive Officer 
Peter Brown
Bachelor of engineering 
(Civil),	Graduate	Diploma	
of Municipal engineering, 
Graduate	Diploma	(Urban	
Policy	and	Planning),	MBA	

peter commenced his 
career in the private sector, 
undertaking structural and 
civil engineering projects. 
peter has been in local 
government for 22 years 
in senior management 
positions. Joining Council in 
2000 as director City Works, 
he was appointed Chief 
executive officer in 2002.

Director city 
Development  
Roger collins
Bachelor of town and 
Regional planning 

Roger has a background 
in town planning, 
environmental management 
and management systems. 
He has worked in the 
local government sector 
since 1983 and in senior 
management positions since 
1985. Roger was appointed 
director City development  
in 2003. 

the City development group 
contains: 
•	 Manager	Urban	

development 
•	 Manager	Sustainable	

development 
•	 Manager	Urban	Safety	
•	 Project	Manager	Key	

development Sites

Director city 
Infrastructure  
nerina Di Lorenzo 
Bachelor of engineering 
(Civil),	Bachelor	of	Business	
Administration	(Management)	

nerina commenced her 
career in the private sector, 
delivering petrochemical and 
construction projects on the 
oil rigs of Bass Strait. nerina 
joined local government 12 
years ago, holding senior 
management positions in 
business improvement roles 
and engineering roles. nerina 
was appointed director City 
infrastructure in 2009. 

the City infrastructure group 
contains: 
•	 Manager	City	Operations	

(encompassing	waste	
services and outdoor 
maintenance	units)	

•	 Manager	Engineering	and	
transport

•	 Manager	Property	
Services

Peter Brown Roger Collins Nerina Di Lorenzo
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Director corporate 
services James scott 
Bachelor of Business 
(Accounting),	Chartered	
Accountant 

James has a finance 
background and worked for 
commercial organisations 
in the airline and financial 
consulting sectors for 12 
years before joining Council 
in 2002. He was appointed 
to the role of director 
Corporate Services in July 
2005. He was seconded 
to the Coburg initiative as 
project director from April 
2008 to February 2010. 

the Corporate Services 
group contains: 
•	 Manager	Citizen	

Services 
•	 Manager	Finance	and	

Business Systems 
•	 Manager	Information	

technology 
•	 Manager	Governance

Director Economic 
Development  
Kirsten coster 
Bachelor of Applied Science 
(Town	Planning),	Masters	of	
Business	(Marketing)	

Kirsten was appointed to the 
role of director economic 
development in August 
2009 returning to local 
government after a role 
as a director in the private 
sector for three years with 
a national town planning 
and economic development 
services consultancy. Kirsten 
has a strong background 
in economic development, 
land use strategies and 
major projects, having 
worked in these fields in 
both the private and public 
sectors for over 20 years. 

the economic development 
group contains: 
•	 Manager	Economic	

development 
•	 Manager	Place	Design	

and Strategy 
•	 Place	Manager	Coburg	
•	 Place	Manager	

Brunswick 
•	 Place	Manager	Glenroy

Director social 
Development  
andrew Day 
Bachelor of Speech 
pathology, Masters of 
Business Management 
(Organisational	Change)

Andrew was appointed to 
the role of director Social 
development in February 
2011, taking over from 
longstanding director 
Jenny Merkus. Andrew’s 
background includes clinical 
and management roles in 
the health and not-for-profit 
sectors. He joined local 
government in 2005 and has 
held a range of management 
positions in the community 
wellbeing and organisational 
development areas. the 
Social development group 
contains:  
•	 Manager	Aged	and	

disability Services 
•	 Manager	Cultural	

development 
•	 Manager	Youth	and	

leisure 
•	 Manager	Social	Policy	

and early years Services 
•	 Friends	of	Aileu	Project

Director Organisational 
Development  
Gerry smith 
Bachelor of Arts, Graduate 
Diploma	(Management),	
MBA

Gerry’s background 
covers experience in 
line-management, human 
resources, corporate 
planning and organisational 
development roles following 
a career as a logistics officer 
in the Australian defence 
Force. Gerry has held 
management roles in HR 
management and corporate 
services in local and State 
Government and the private 
sector before joining Council 
in 2007 as executive 
Manager Human Resources. 
Gerry was appointed 
to the role of director 
organisational development 
in october 2010. the 
organisational development 
group contains:  
•	 Manager	Council	

planning & performance
•	 Manager	MP2	Project	

Management office
•	 Manager	

Communications & 
Research

•	 Group	Leader	Human	
Resources

•	 Group	Leader	Risk	and	
oH&S

James Scott Kirsten Coster Andrew Day Gerry Smith
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Corporate Management team

Chief exeCutive OffiCer
peter Brown

DireCtOr
CitY DeveLOPMeNt

Roger Collins

DireCtOr
CitY 

iNfrAStruCture
nerina di lorenzo

DireCtOr
COrPOrAte 

ServiCeS
James Scott

 DireCtOr
SOCiAL 

DeveLOPMeNt
Andrew day

 DireCtOr
eCONOMiC  

DeveLOPMeNt
Kirsten Coster

MANAGer
GOverNANCe

lidia Harding

MANAGer
iNfOrMAtiON 
teChNOLOGY

denis Wilson

MANAGer
fiNANCe & 
BuSiNeSS 
SYSteMS
Helen Sui

A/MANAGer
CitiZeNS 
ServiCeS

peter thomas

MANAGer
PLACe DeSiGN & 

StrAteGY
ian Robertson

MANAGer
eCONOMiC 

DeveLOPMeNt
Mike Mcintosh

PLACe MANAGer
COBurG

Briare Mcelhone

PLACe MANAGer
GLeNrOY

Anne thomas

PLACe MANAGer
BruNSWiCK
William Coogan

MANAGer
iNterNAL AuDit

ian thomas

 DireCtOr
OrGANiSAtiONAL  

DeveLOPMeNt
Gerry Smith

MANAGer
COuNCiL 

PLANNiNG  
& PerfOrMANCe

Anita Craven

MANAGer
COMMuNiCAtiONS  

& reSeArCh
peter Fitz

GrOuP LeADer 
huMAN 

reSOurCe 
ServiCeS

elizabeth louca

GrOuP LeADer 
OCCuPAtiONAL 
heALth, SAfetY 

& riSK
Anna Connolly

MANAGer
MP2 PrOJeCt 

OffiCe
erica Wilson

Structure as at 30 June 2011. there have been a number of structural changes since the end of the 2010–11 financial year.

GrOuP MANAGer
CitY OPerAtiONS
Andrew Mackinnon

MANAGer
eNGiNeeriNG & 

trANSPOrt
Grant thorne

MANAGer
PrOPertY 
ServiCeS

Vacant

MANAGer
SuStAiNABLe 

DeveLOPMeNt
Sue Vujcevic

MANAGer
urBAN SAfetY

pauline Magee

MANAGer
urBAN  

DeveLOPMeNt
phillip priest

MANAGer
AGeD & 

DiSABiLiLtY 
ServiCeS

Rebecca Haack

MANAGer
CuLturAL 

DeveLOPMeNt
Genimaree panozzo

MANAGer
SOCiAL POLiCY  
& eArLY YeArS

Barry Hahn

MANAGer
YOuth & LeiSure 

ServiCeS
Vacant
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Workforce Data
As	at	30	June	2011,	Council	had	1,165	employees.	The	profile	of	Council’s	workforce	by	gender,	department	and	status	(full	
time,	part	time	or	casual)	is	shown	below:
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Ceo Group 1 2 3 1 0 1 0 0 0 2 2 4
City development              42 41 83 40 24 64 2 1 3 84 65 149
City infrastructure 21 187 208 4 4 8 0 3 3 25 193 218
Corporate Services 35 32 67 26 1 27 2 0 2 63 33 96
economic development          8 6 14 2 0 2 0 1 1 10 7 17
organisational development 22 8 30 4 0 4 1 0 1 27 8 35
Social development 111 35 146 258 38 296 154 58 212 517 129 646
totals 240 311 551 335 67 402 159 63 222 728 437 1,165

our Human Resources

Indigenous Employment: 
Council offers two traineeships per year for indigenous 
residents of Moreland. in financial year 2010–2011 two 
traineeships commenced in december 2010 in Maternal and 
Child Health and Records Management

the indigenous traineeship program was reviewed in 
2010–2011. As a result of the review, a new School Based 
traineeship will be implemented at Moreland City Council for 
2011/2012.	School	based	traineeship	programs	can	provide	
an opportunity for indigenous students currently enrolled in 
years 11 and 12 to gain paid work experience, a nationally 
recognised qualification, credit towards their VCe and 
exposure to the different career opportunities available in the 
local government industry.

Workplace Relations
Councils current eBA 2009 will expire on 30 June 2012.  
Council’s Joint Consultative Committee, which comprises 
a number of workplace and management representatives, 
remains in place to facilitate discussion and consultation 
between Council and the union on matters arising out of the 
eBA 2009.

throughout the year, workplace relations within Council 
remained largely harmonious.  A number of restructures have 
occurred to improve service delivery in areas such as open 
space, urban development, city operations, libraries and 
leisure services. 

on 16 June 2011, 18 staff in Waste Services took 
unprotected industrial action.  
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number of days lost due 
to industrial dispute

0 12 14 0 18

Building Workplace culture
Council is committed to building and sustaining an 
organisational culture that supports and develops our 
people in order to improve organisational performance and 
workplace culture. during 2010 this was cemented with the 
formation of an organisational development department 
tasked with improving organisational performance through 
improvements in workplace culture. last year saw the 
introduction	of	Results	Based	Accountability	(RBA)	as	
Council’s corporate planning methodology. RBA focuses 
on building a culture of accountability and performance 
across Council’s business units through explicit identification 
of outcomes and measuring the extent to which those 
outcomes are achieved. RBA has been used to develop 
annual	Service	Unit	(Business)	Plans	for	all	of	Council’s	
Service units that align with the Council Action plan and 
cascade into individual performance plans.

our second triennial culture survey was also carried 
out in 2010 using the Human Synergistics culture 
measurement	tools:	Organisational	Culture	Inventory	(OCI)	
and	Organisational	Effectiveness	Inventory	(OEI).	The	
results indicated a significant positive shift towards a more 
Constructive Culture. in general, this means that staff feel 
more supported by their leaders and are more capable of 
working to their full potential. they feel more encouraged 
to interact with others and approach tasks in a positive and 
inclusive way. the Moreland workforce has demonstrated 
increasingly supportive behaviours over the past three years, 
with greater emphasis on being good listeners and being 
capable of resolving conflicts constructively.  
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Learning and Development

Developing our Leaders: “aim for Blue”
the “Aim for Blue” leadership development program 
supports the move towards a more constructive and higher 
performing workplace culture through a combination of 
tailored workshops and development activities designed 
to build existing leadership capability and to enhance the 
confidence of leaders when interacting with staff.

the programs are aimed at continuing to support the 
development of our leaders at all levels. “Aim for Blue” 
explicitly links these programs to our Human Synergistics 
culture measurement tools: organisational Culture inventory 
(OCI)	and	Life	Styles	Inventory	(LSI).

the “Aim for Blue” program in 2010–2011 continued to 
focus on contributing to a positive culture at Moreland City 
Council by investing in its leaders. the focus for 2011–12 
will continue to build the capacity of our leaders as well as 
investing in future leaders within the organisation.

E-Learning
Moreland City Council has continued to use e-learning as 
a training delivery tool for staff. this web based e-learning 
system delivers compliance, induction and various personal 
development training online with a course library of over  
400 different courses to choose from.

throughout the year, 21 different e-learning courses  
were assigned to staff with a total of 548 staff undertaking 
online courses.

corporate training Program (including OHs)
Council is deeply committed to developing its staff in order 
to enable people to reach their potential and to perform at 
higher levels in their jobs.  

throughout the year 138 separate training programs were 
run,	with	1,324	staff	undertaking	corporate	training	(including	
OHS	training).	The	programs	conducted	under	the	Corporate	
training program are shown below:

corporate training 2010–2011 (including OHs)

training Category Number of 
attendees

Number of 
courses run

oHS 538 46

Business 145 13

leadership 65 7

diversity 29 3

lifestyle & Wellbeing 20 2

Compliance 188 14

Systems 323 48

Finance 16 5

Overall total 1,324 138

Maternal and Child Health Service.

our Human Resources (cont)
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in July 2011, a restructure took place to consolidate Coun-
cil’s risk and insurances into one area, oHS & Risk Services. 
this area now manages Council’s occupational Health and 
Safety	(OHS),	WorkCover	and	Injury	Management,	Coun-
cil’s insurances, oversees and manages organisational 
Risk and Business Continuity Management. the restructure 
has aligned the management of risk and insurances across 
Council to enable a systematic and consistent approach as 
well as enabling the area to review the current insurance ar-
rangements to ensure that Council has appropriate insurance 
coverage across all areas.  

Occupational Health & safety
Council is strongly committed to oHS. this commitment 
is illustrated by the continual development of the oHS 
Management System, the implementation of the oHS 
Strategic plan, the strong consultative structures that are in 
place, the number of oHS training sessions held each year 
and the SafetyMAp accreditation of seventeen units across 
Council.

during this year, six units have received SafetyMAp 
Accreditation. these units are youth Services, Building 
Maintenance, Fleet Services, it & Records, urban planning 
and Civic Facilities. ongoing surveillance audits were 
undertaken in Street Cleansing, Waste Services, open 
Space, Home Care, Roads, urban Safety and Fawkner 
leisure Centre, which were all re-accredited. All of Council’s 
business units scheduled to be accredited with SafetyMAp 
will occur by the end of 2012.

WorkSafe identified Moreland City Council for a pilot project, 
the WorkSafe integrated Approach program. the program 
uses the unique skills of WorkSafe inspectors to present 
back to Council a whole of organisation view of oHS, injury 
Management and Return to Work performance to assist 
Council to identify and address organisation wide systemic 
issues. the program involved two high risk areas, Home 
Care and open Space. the program ran for five months 
with meetings and site inspections undertaken in both these 
areas. in June, WorkSafe presented their recommendations, 
with an action plan to be developed by Council and 
implemented.

With the oHS Strategic plan 2008–11 expiring in July 
2011, the development of the oHS Strategic plan 2011–14 
occurred over the last couple of months of the year with the 
plan endorsed in late June 2011. the oHS Strategic plan 
2011–14 consists of six strategic objectives, outlining specific 
actions that will be undertaken over the next three years. one 
of the key issues identified in the plan is to meet the legislative 
requirements under the new Work Health Safety Act, which 
will come into effect as of 1 January 2012. this will involve 
reviewing all oHS policies, procedures and forms to ensure 
they are in line with the new legislation. 

There	were	two	notifiable	incidents	during	2010/11.	The	first	
notifiable incident occurred when a truck driving past the 
Brunswick town Hall, hit and damaged the front fascia of the 
veranda in front of the entrance due to road works, which 
narrowed the lane. the second notifiable incident occurred 
when a home carer received an electric shock whilst using a 
client’s vacuum cleaner. 

corporate training Program – OHs
throughout the year, 46 oHS training programs were run 
with 538 staff undertaking oHS training. the oHS programs 
conducted under the Corporate training program are  
shown below:

OHs training 2010–2011

Course Number of 
courses run

Number 
of staff 

attended

First Aid 5 41

Manual Handling 6 89

noise Awareness 3 34

traffic Management 1 22

oH&S Rep Refresher 2 20

Fire Warden training 4 29

dangerous Goods and 
Hazardous Substances

1 19

Job	Safety	Analysis/Risk	
Assessment

2 13

incident Reporting 2 20

occupational Violence 2 25

Contractor Management 2 27

Cardiopulmonary 
resuscitation	(CPR)

6 45

Confined Spaces 1 2

Sharps training 2 34

HSR information Session 1 19

defensive driving training 1 16

oH&S training for 
Managers 

5 83

total 46 538

occupational Health, Safety and Risk
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morecare – Injury management 

there has been a notable decrease in the number of 
WorkCover claims that have been lodged since 2007–08, 
with the same trend continuing this year and is now at a  
five year low. in addition to the work that has been  
undertaken in occupational Health & Safety to provide a 
safer workplace and prevent injuries, there has also been 
significant time and effort spent in improving the processes 
and procedures to minimise the impact of injuries to Council 
and to employees. 

Council’s early intervention program, which was implemented 
in 2008–09, continues to be successful in assisting injured 
employees to obtain early treatment and encourages early 
return to work. the program has been beneficial for injured 
workers who are able to return to work as well as returning 
to their normal life, therefore minimising the impact on the 
them and their colleagues. the injury Management team 
works very closely with managers and supervisors to assist 
in identifying suitable duties to assist the injured employee to 
return to work as quickly as possible.

As with previous years the number of incidents and claims 
being lodged in areas where the workforce is ageing and 
the work is physical still continues to grow, despite efforts 
for prevention. We continue to improve upon our systems to 
analyse data and to follow up incidents that occur through 
the supervisors, Health & Safety Representatives and oHS 
Committees to identify risks and prevent incidents from 
recurring. the number of incident reports, which includes the 
number of injuries reported, continues to increase which may 
be due to the increased awareness of reporting and the ease 
of the process to report. 

moreHealth – Employee Health & Wellbeing
We are working together to progressively improve and 
maintain the health, safety and overall wellbeing of our 
employees in the workplace to reduce absenteeism and 
to improve productivity. during the year we participated 
in WorkSafe Work Health Checks, self-funded pilates, 
ergonomic Assessments and the Global Corporate 
Challenge. We also celebrated Safety Week in october 
2010 with a number of activities focused on improving 
occupational Health & Safety.

Risk management
through the restructure and alignment of Council risk and 
insurances that has taken place this year, there has been 
a considerable focus on reinvigorating Risk Management 
across Council. in particular there has been a focus on the 
implementation of enterprise Risk Management to ensure 
there is a systematic and consistent process in place  
for identifying, recording and managing risk across Council 
in line the Australian and new Zealand Risk Management 
Standard	(AS/NZ	ISO	31000:2009).	The	work	will	continue	
into the 2011–12 year when the Service unit Risk Registers 
and the Corporate Risk Register will be updated and 
reported on regularly.

Council has undertaken a review of its insurance coverage 
and currently has appropriate insurance coverage in place.  
However, there have been recommendations provided 
for further improvements moving forward which will be 
investigated in 2011–12.

in March 2011, Council participated in an audit undertaken 
by our public liability insurer and our insurer of assets.  these 
audits are undertaken every second year, with a review on 
the alternate year. the audits focus on areas that have been 
identified for improvement across Victorian Councils and 
areas that have historically received a number of insurance 
claims. the audits provide a list of control and process 
improvement actions for Council to implement.

Injury management Results

2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11

no. of incidents reported 186 200 272 269 295

no. of injuries reported 160 177 175 181 190

no. of claims 37 48 34 28 26

Average claim cost $ $28,274 $43,464 $35,276 $23,702 $16,295

no. of days lost 495 1051 1545 324 214

employees returned to work 21 33 22 15 15

no. return to work 1 4 3 0 1
 
*For return to work information, only time lost claims have been included in the above count.

occupational Health, Safety and Risk (cont)
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Following a mid-year restructure and the formation of a new 
department – organisational development on 1 July 2010, a 
review of Council’s MoreValue program commenced.

MoreValue is Council’s in-house four year cyclical Continuous 
improvement program focused on performance review and 
evaluation of Council’s 39 service units against key Best 
Value and business improvement criteria. 

the purpose of a review of the MoreValue program is to 
explore opportunities for program improvements through 
incorporation of Service unit plans and Results Based 
Accountability	(RBA)	into	Council’s	Continuous	Improvement	
program review methodology. the Results Based 
Accountability	(RBA)	approach	to	strategic	planning	and	
performance measurement will become the primary driver 
for the MoreValue program. the reviewed program will be 
piloted in early 2012.

in the longer term, it is anticipated that a two-tiered model 
for conducting continuous improvement at Moreland will be 
adopted, incorporating the current proactive service review 
cycle and an annual reactive business improvement program, 
the latter able to focus and engender service and business 
improvement at all levels of Council’s business structure. 

A number of other things are happening across the 
organisation to drive improvement and deliver better 
outcomes, including:
•	 The	re-structure	of	Open	Space	Maintenance	is	already	

translating into higher levels of community satisfaction 
with Moreland’s ranking in an independent benchmark 

survey improving from 16th to 9th out of 17 councils for 
our local parks.

•	 A	new	Waste	Services	contract	was	completed	during	
the year, resulting in increased service delivery and 
savings of approximately $850K per year in operating 
costs. the new service will commence in october 2011.

•	 Performance	improvement	initiatives	in	Urban	
development, such as additional staff and the 
introduction of a Fast track process, are helping to 
reduce the backlog of planning permit applications. With 
a 33% increase in planning permit application workload 
since 2008–09, planning decision-making remained 
the highest it has ever been in the last year, with 1,479 
application determined. While planning application 
backlogs and timeframes had been increasing, it is 
pleasing that, with additional resources engaged by 
Council, the outstanding applications backlog fell by 12% 
in the second half of the year, with average timeframes for 
determinations also reducing. 

•	 A	range	of	energy	efficiency	initiatives	are	producing	
significant cost-savings and environmental benefits. 
please refer to page 39 for further details.

•	 A	re-structure	of	the	tender	for	valuations	won	a	
commendation award and produced savings of 40%.

Adding MoreValue

Council staff with the new fleet of waste and recycling trucks at Walter Street depot, Hadfield.
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service Delivery 2010–11
details of the operational and service activity across selected services are given below:

Selected Services Quantity

Landfill – total tonnes 29,240 tonnes

Landfill – Average rubbish per dwelling 479kg

Paper and bottle recycling 16,306 tonnes

Green waste 9,647 tonnes

Street sweeping 102,530 kms

trees and shrubs planted 7,357

Planning permit applications received 1205

Planning permit applications received for subdivision 325

funded family day care – Number of occupied places eft 123

Number of children enrolled in family day care 597

total home care hours 144,000

Delivered meals 186,252

Number of library loans 1,517,930

operational outcomes

Moreland staff conducting an inspection as part of the Recycling and Bin Inspection Program.
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community satisfaction
each year Moreland participates in a survey of local 
government services administered by the department of 
planning and Community development. the survey aims 
to provide data so individual councils can track the views of 
their residents over time. nine service areas and four areas of 
governance are measured. 

Moreland has maintained a steady level of performance over 
the past nine years, with Moreland’s overall performance 
ranging from a low of 77% to a peak of 85% in 2008. 

Moreland’s overall performance declined by 7 percentage 
points in 2011, down from 84% in 2010 to 77% in 2011. 
However, trendline data over the last nine years shows that, 
despite annual variations, Moreland’s overall performance 
has remained stable. the area of Council that demonstrated 
the highest level of satisfaction was recreational facilities at 
85%, followed by waste management at 83%, and health 
and human services on 81%. the lowest levels of satisfaction 
were with local roads and footpaths at 53%, down 4% 
from 2010 results, followed by town planning policy and 
Approvals at 54%. 

capital Works 2010–11

Capital Works projects delivered in the 2010–2011 budget included:

4 Road construction and resurfacing $3,910,732

4 Footpaths and bike paths $2,084,286

4 public open space works $2,456,263

4 purchase of land assets $7,200,000

4 Renewal of Council plant and equipment $2,257,748

4 pavilions and sports clubs $1,834,548

4 transport management $367,810

4 Community use facilities upgrades $952,591

4 drainage works $861,080

4 purchase of library books $828,534

4 early years facilities upgrades $211,663

4 environment infrastructure and waste management $846,348

4 Aquatic and leisure centres $620,637

0 20 40 60 80 100%
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Proportion of respondents satisfied with council’s 
overall performance
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OperatiOns

OVERVIEW

FINANCIALS

perFOrMAnCe

Planning staff providing over the counter 
service for permit applications.
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achievements 

Brunswick Place management
Final Brunswick Structure plan adopted.

endorsement of the place Framework Strategy program.

Brokering affordable housing and economic development 
outcomes.

developing and maintaining a development Activity Monitor 
to monitor private investment in Brunswick.

coburg Place management
Coburg place Framework adopted.

Invitation	to	developer	(Equiset)	to	propose	how	they	would	
develop	a	key	renewal	project	area	(Russell	Street	Car	Park).

Glenroy Place management
place Framework Strategy program and implementation plan 
adopted.

establishment of key governance groups for implementation 
of the Glenroy structure plan and place framework strategy.

Installation	of	a	community	art	project	(‘Many	Hands	 
Make	Glenroy’).

Fawkner
Completion of an upgrade to the Major Road Shopping Strip 
in Fawkner.

new Economic Development strategy
Council has adopted a new five-year economic development 
Strategy to guide its efforts to support the growth of the local 
economy and encourage new employment opportunities 
across the municipality.  

Local Business networks
Moreland Business network was established to support local 
businesses and encourage local networking and business 
development.

a new Business newsletter
A	new	business	newsletter	(‘Exchange’)	was	established.	
‘exchange’ is a quarterly publication circulated to over 5,000 
local businesses.

a Business mentoring Program
the Moreland Business Mentoring program was established. 
over 30 businesses enjoyed free business mentoring advice 
in the first year.

carbon management strategy
implementation of the Strategy has produced significant 
outcomes by targeting Council’s highest energy usage 
facilities. energy audits identified where significant efficiency 
improvements could be achieved, with the following results:

Coburg Civic Centre – 24% reduction in electricity and 72% 
reduction in gas consumption 

Fawkner leisure Centre – 19% reduction in electricity and 
34% reduction in gas consumption

Walter St operations Centre – 12% reduction in electricity

efficiency improvements were also made to selected public 
facilities	under	the	Sustainable	Small	Facilities	(SSF)	program.	
of the many SSF projects delivered, two notable results were:

Fawkner library – 46% reduction in electricity

Campbell turnbull library – 19% reduction in electricity

Integrated Water management Plan
Water conservation projects resulted in estimated potable 
water	savings	of	15	million	litres	(ML)	per	annum.

moreland Planning scheme
introduction of an open Space Contribution levy into the 
planning scheme for new subdivisions to fund general open 
space improvements.

introduction of approximately 730 places to the Heritage 
overlay of the planning scheme.

Completion of the north of Bell Street Heritage Study and 
Gallipoli parade precinct and Beaufort Houses Review.

extension of interim planning scheme controls for the 
Brunswick Major Activity Centre submitted to the Minister for 
planning for authorisation.

preparation of permanent controls for Brunswick Major Activity 
Centre	(Nicholson	and	Lygon	Street	corridors)	commenced.

Completion of the Coburg initiative Built Form and land use 
Strategy.

performance Review: A Sustainable and Just City
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Parking management Policy
A parking Management policy has been developed 
to implement consistent and more efficient parking 
management in public spaces across the municipality.

Open space
VicRoads land along edgars Creek was gifted to Moreland 
City Council as the appointed Committee of Management for 
open space.

the Coburg lake Reserve upgrade is underway, including 
a new playground, an upgrade of the lakeside playground, 
an outdoor gym, new seating and picnic facilities and major 
irrigation improvements for the heritage tree avenue.

Implementing the Open space Review
implementation of the open space service review has 
resulted in improved maintenance of Council’s parks. 
Moreland’s ranking in an independent benchmark survey has 
improved from 16th to 9th out of 17 Councils.

civic Facilities
Council was appointed as the Committee of Management 
of the Coburg police Station and Court House site during 
the last financial year. Council can now use the site for 
community purposes at no purchase cost, including the 
provision of an interim youth facility.

challenges

Place management challenges 
Attracting and encouraging public investment in the area.

integrating work programs across different Council branches.

negotiation with equiset for a catalyst project and a 
Development	Management	Agreement	(DMA)	and	
Development	Agreement	(DA).

Developing	implementation	plans	(Place	Frameworks)	for	the	
Coburg, Glenroy and Brunswick Structure plans.

Changing perceptions of Glenroy and Council’s commitment 
to achieving positive change in the centre.

developing and managing relationships with business and 
community in Brunswick.

shopping strip Renewal Program
developing a framework for the implementation of a 
Shopping Strip Renewal program with major budget 
implications.

change in the Local Economy
Managing change in the local economy through business 
support programs that strengthen existing industry.

Foundations for Business success
Assisting existing businesses to increase their output  
and support further opportunities for business employment 
and growth.

matching Local Jobs to Local skills
to provide not only more jobs but to ensure these 
opportunities align with our workforce skills.

competing Demands
to balance opportunities for business growth and create local 
employment opportunities with the competing demands for 
residential development. Council has invested in developing 
a long-term land use planning agenda to create certainty for 
developers, investors and local business. 

carbon management strategy
delivering significant projects that will enable Council to 
achieve carbon neutrality by 2012 and reduce its exposure to 
high offset costs is critical. 

Integrated Water management Plan
delivery of actions within the plan to ensure Council reaches 
its	target	of	sourcing	30	million	litres	(ML)	of	locally	available	
non-potable water by 2021. 

sustainable Design assessment in the Planning 
Process (sDaPP)
increasing number and complexity of environmentally 
Sustainable	Development	(ESD)	referrals.

Sourcing funds for continual maintenance and upgrade of the 
StepS tool.

Continuing to advocate to the State Government and 
industry stakeholders about the importance of SdApp

moreland Planning scheme
The	challenge	of	the	Municipal	Strategic	Statement	(MSS)	
and	Local	Planning	Policy	(LPP)	Revision	is	to	achieve	clarity	
and certainty in the planning scheme on key strategic land 
use and development issues.

Public transport
Advocating for improvements in public transportation, 
including better and new bus services and extending  
tram routes.

Implementation of Parking management Policy
implementation of the parking Management policy, and 
delivering	the	Parking	Overstay	Detection	System	(PODS)	
on time to allow Council more efficient enforcement of the 
parking spaces, and ensure more efficient use of the spaces.

Finalisation of Right-of Way (ROW) strategy
Finalisation and implementation of a RoW Strategy in the 
next financial year. this Strategy is important to ensure 
that Council has a benchmark for securing laneways that 
are	important	for	the	pedestrian/bike	network	and	overall	
permeability of our spaces, especially in the Activity Centres.

Land acquisition
development of a land Acquisition Strategy and associated 
technical notes. this is a new area for Council, and will 
require the development of a land holdings projection plan to 
utilise Council’s land holdings effectively and efficiently across 
the municipality.

performance Review: A Sustainable and Just City (cont)
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performance Review: A proud City

achievements

new arts and culture strategy
the Moreland Arts and Culture Strategy 2011–2016 
was formally adopted by Council on 8 June 2011 after 
an extensive consultation process. the Strategy aims to 
cultivate a creative city that not only acknowledges the 
huge contribution that artists make to the community, but 
will deliver and promote diverse opportunities for the wider 
community to experience, participate and be inspired by arts 
and cultural activities. the Strategy provides a clear direction 
for positioning the arts as essential, dynamic, and flourishing 
as a way of enriching the cultural life of the City over the next 
five years.

more art in moreland
A revitalised and innovative public art show for Moreland 
called MoreArt was launched in october 2011, following 
a strategic partnership between Council, Vic track, Metro 
trains and RMit. MoreArt featured nineteen shortlisted 
ephemeral	(non-permanent)	artworks	along	seven	Upfield	
line railway stations. the artworks were displayed for two 
weeks after the initial launch and the program also featured 
two tours along the upfield line. MoreArt was very successful 
and received much widespread praise and positive feedback 
from the community, media, arts bodies and travellers along 
the upfield line. 

trees
An amendment to the local law was introduced to protect 
significant trees.

3,642 new street trees were planted; a 23% increase on the 
previous year.

Waste services
the purchase of nine new garbage trucks and the tendering 
for the provision of waste services collections and recycling 
processing. With these contracts and new vehicles in place, 
Council will be at the leading edge of service provision in 
the industry. the contracts have also yielded a saving of 
approximately $850k per year in operating costs.

asset Protection
the introduction of Asset protection permits. this has 
resulted in building sites being better managed in terms of 
cleanliness and appearance. it has also resulted in  
minimising and repairing damage sustained to community 
assets such as footpaths, kerb and channel, nature strips 
and street trees.

Roads and Footpaths
the 2010–11 year saw an $8.55 million roads program 
delivered, consisting of: 2.3 km of road reconstructed, 8.8 
km of road resurfaced, 13.9 km of footpath reconstructed, 
14.6km of lips grinded off footpaths, and 1,005 metres of 
shared paths added to the active transport network.
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Glenroy Festival.
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challenges

spaces for creative activity
identifying and developing appropriate work spaces for 
creative activity.

Festivals and Events Program
A need to revitalise Council’s festivals and events program 
due to declining community interest and satisfaction.

Dumped Rubbish
Responding to the growing issue of illegally dumped rubbish. 
this has been an increasing problem across Metropolitan 
Melbourne. 

tipping Levy
Managing the financial impacts of the State Government’s 
tipping levy increase, which went from $9 per tonne in 
2009–10, $33 per tonne in 2010–11, and now to $44 per 
tonne in 2011–12.

Public toilets
the location for new public toilets within the municipality 
continues to be a challenge. Significant planning has 
been undertaken to install a public toilet in the West Street 
shopping centre, with further negotiation still required before 
being able to construct the toilet.

capital Works Program
the 2010–2011 year saw an increase in the capital program 
compared to previous years. this increased program and 
the number of significant projects has started to stretch the 
resources available to deliver the program.

meeting Expectations
Making the best use of existing resources to meet increasing 
expectations in maintenance and cleansing. 

Bike riders at Coburg Lake in autumn.

performance Review: A proud City (cont)
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performance Review: A Healthy & educated Community 

achievements

Water safety
Council’s Culturally and linguistically diverse Communities 
(CALD	COM)	Storyboard	program	addressed	the	issue	of	
water safety to assist newcomers to Australia to understand 
the hazards around backyard pools, rivers and creeks.

Library Hours
Council resolved to extend the opening hours of the 
Brunswick, Coburg and Glenroy libraries. the library  
service is now open for a total of 24 additional hours per 
week, including extended Saturday afternoon opening  
hours to 4pm.

Library management systems
extensive planning, development, system testing and staff 
training have taken place to ensure the new libero integrated 
Library	Management	System	(ILMS)	is	implemented	smoothly	
and achieves high functionality and user friendliness.

Progressing social Issues and services
the Multicultural policy and Family Violence prevention  
policy were developed and aim to build community resilience 
and pride.

the local impacts of electronic Gaming Machine Gambling 
Research project has provided useful local data.

A new five-year early years Strategy, aimed at making 
Moreland a child- and family-friendly city, was completed.

Council has undertaken an unprecedented expansion and 
upgrade to children’s centres and kindergartens, with works 
already completed on two centres and another nine projects 
currently under way.

Council’s Family day Care and School Holiday programs 
became regulated and attained their operating licences with 
the State department of education and early Childhood 
Development	(DEECD).

Funding was provided by deeCd to establish a Moreland 
early years network.

Gowanbrae community & children’s centre
Construction has commenced and is due for completion in 
the second half of 2011.

moreland Youth commitment network
the Moreland youth Commitment network was formed 
in response to growing concern over high levels of 
disengagement and youth unemployment in Moreland. the 
network has developed a Strategic priorities and Action plan 
and commenced working on a number of key projects to 
improve outcomes.

Learner to Permit Driving Program (L2P)
the l2p program is a VicRoads funded program using 
volunteer	/	mentors	to	support	disadvantaged	young	people	
to gain driving experience as part of the 120 hours graduated 
licensing system. now in its second year, the program 
currently has 24 learner drivers; 30 trained volunteers; and, 
four young people who have successfully obtained their 
licence.

cB smith skate Park, Fawkner 
Stage one construction of the Fawkner Skate park was 
completed on schedule. the skate park is now open to 
the public and large numbers of young people are using 
the facility. Skate clinics across a number of local schools 
in Fawkner are being organised to help facilitate use and 
activate the site.

Youth Facilities and services steering committee – 
(oxYgen committee) 
A youth Facilities and Services Steering Committee, 
established to guide the development of services and 
facilities for young people, has served to foster positive youth 
development, leadership and empowerment opportunities for 
the 16 youths serving on the committee.

Brunswick Baths Redevelopment
the consultation, planning and design phases of the 
Brunswick Baths redevelopment were completed. the 
construction tender was advertised and awarded with 
construction commencing in July 2011.

clifton Park synthetic Pitch
the Clifton park synthetic soccer pitch was completed in 
May 2011, in partnership with the Commonwealth and 
Victorian Governments.

the project consisted of the design and construction of a full-
sized synthetic soccer pitch – a low-maintenance, drought-
resistant and durable all year round facility.
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Glencairn tennis club court Facilities 
Refurbishment
this project included the conversion of the existing two red 
porous	courts	to	sand-filled	artificial	grass	(SFAG)	surfaces	on	
concrete bases, and the installation of a lighting system for 
Court 3.

Reddish Reserve sport Field Lighting
the upgrade and installation of sports field lighting at Reddish 
Reserve in Hadfield included the installation of five 30 metre 
light poles and the extension of the junior soccer field layout 
to a three-quarter size pitch.

Gillon Oval Redevelopment completed
this project included a reconstructed playing surface, 
upgraded lighting of the playing surface, significant 
improvements to the landscape around the reserve, a new 
playground and upgraded cricket nets.

community Partnerships Program
the Community Grants program provided a number of 
funding opportunities for individuals and groups to apply 
for funding from Council. A total of 30 applications were 
approved as part of the 2010–2011 major funding round.

aged services – active service model
implementation of the Active Service Model and the provision 
of a more flexible and responsive approach to the specific 
needs of clients.

‘Do not Knock’ campaign
A community legal education campaign in partnership with 
Victoria	Legal	Aid	(VLA).	One	thousand	older	people	attended	
15 information sessions at Seniors Clubs on how to deal with 
door-to-door salespeople.

‘Keeping cool in summer’ Kits
A ‘Keeping Cool in Summer’ kit was distributed to older 
residents. the kit included cooling neck scarves, information 
about heatwaves, tips to keep cool, and information about a 
free energy check-up service offered by Brotherhood Green.

challenges
Demands on Library services
there are increasing demands for information technology in 
libraries, which places pressure on existing infrastructure.

there is also a need to improve the presentation and 
layout of our libraries through ongoing refurbishment and 
replacement of old and worn furniture and fittings.

challenges for Housing and social services
negotiating acceptable lease conditions with the State 
Government to enable the development of affordable housing 
projects on Council-owned land.

improving access to health and community services for 
infants and children. there are extensive waiting lists for early 
childhood intervention services for children with learning 
difficulties, developmental delay or other needs requiring 
specialist assessment and services.

Supporting kindergartens to meet the State and Federal 
government policy objective to expand the number of hours 

of kindergarten from 10 to 15 hours per week for four-year-
olds by 2013.

OxYgen Project – Permanent Youth Facility
the resolve to establish a co-located youth facility in 
Moreland remains challenging, especially in terms of funding 
constraints and the identification of a suitable location in 
central Coburg.

Youth support
the oxygen project highlighted the urgent need for further 
funding for youth support in Moreland. Funding from external 
sources remains limited.

Wireless Internet
the installation of wireless internet zones, this being one of 
the top 10 priorities of the oxygen project, was temporarily 
delayed. the hardware has been procured and will lead to 
the creation of Council’s first wireless internet zone in an open 
space setting, scheduled to be installed at Harmony park in 
2011–12.

Youth connections Program
Funding	for	the	Youth	Connections	Program	(made	available	
through department of education, employment and 
Workplace	Relations)	is	proving	insufficient	to	adequately	
meet the needs of young people who are at risk of 
disengaging or recently disengaged from school.

netball courts in moreland by 2012
the Glenroy netball Courts were to be completed by June 
2011. due to delays with the Funding & Service Agreement, 
works are scheduled to be completed in September, weather 
permitting.

single service specification for all aquatic Facilities
the complete tender process and awarded contract for the 
single service specification for all aquatic facilities was to be 
completed by 30 June 2011.

due to probity requirements, confirmation of legal advice 
requested and staff changes to the youth & leisure Branch, 
a new schedule and timelines for the tender process was set.

it is intended that the new contract will commence in  
october 2011.

community transport
A barrier for residents to attend important medical, shopping, 
leisure and social activities is the availability of accessible 
transport. in order to offer innovative services or activities, 
transport must be considered for participants. the current 
Community transport service is well used and has limited 
capacity to expand for additional programs. 

service Demands
Rates of referrals and requests for services continue to place 
pressure on Aged and disability Services. Strategies to 
manage the demand, such as tighter screening of eligibility 
and new service types such as four weekly or short term 
services, are designed to offer more choice and manage 
the growth of service hours. Funding for additional hours 
is limited and places pressure on Council budget to match 
funding from external sources.

performance Review: A Healthy & educated Community (cont)
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performance Review: A Responsive organisation

achievements

new Organisational Development Department
the creation and establishment of an organisational 
Development	(OD)	Department	in	July	2010	brought	
together the corporate support functions of Council planning, 
organisational development, human resource management, 
risk management, communications and research, along with 
the creation of a Council project Management office.

the focus of the od department has been to review 
and improve the alignment and performance of Council’s 
corporate processes, to improve Council’s organisational 
performance, leadership capabilities and workplace culture.  

new Planning model
A	Results	Based	Accountability	(RBA)	methodology	was	
introduced as the primary strategic planning tool for the 
organisation. 

this tool has enabled greater levels of accountability, strategic 
alignment and performance measurement.

service Unit Plans
the introduction of Service unit plans across the 
organisation, putting in place consistent business planning 
practices and the means for identifying key actions for 
delivery in the 2011–12 year.

alignment between planning and budgeting
Facilitating greater alignment between planning and 
budgeting processes with the development of the Council 
Action plan 2011–12 to ensure that priorities are captured 
and adequately resourced.

Five Year Financial Plan
Council has conducted a three-phase community 
consultation process on its Five year Financial plan. this 
process obtained community feedback on key financial 
planning issues, and also improved the community’s 
understanding of Council activities and challenges.

Organisational culture
the triennial organisational Culture Survey showed that the 
organisation has shifted since 2007 to a more constructive 
and achievement-oriented culture in 2010.

centralising Risk
Management of all risk and insurances was centralised 

into	one	area:	Occupational	Health	and	Safety	(OHS)	&	
Risk Services. this covers occupational Health and Safety, 
WorkCover & injury Management, insurances, organisational 
Risk and Business Continuity Management.

through the alignment of risk and insurances, Council will be 
more proactive in identifying risks and mitigating them with 
the aim of reducing the overall cost of insurance to Council 
and ratepayers.

Project management Office (PmO)
the focus in the first year has been to:

establish a pRinCe2-based project Management office to 
oversee	all	Council’s	projects	(MP2)	and	appoint	the	MP2	
project Management office Manager.

Refresh and relaunch the Mp2 policy and documentation to 
enable the effective delivery of Council projects.

produce a 2010–2011 State of the projects Report that 
provides Council and the community with details of project 
completion rates for all approved Fy 2010–11 capital and 
operating projects.

Improvements in Urban Development
Council has established a new on-line lodgement and 
payment services for building property certificates and 
archival searches of building information and plans. payments 
for the public notification of planning permit applications can 
also now be made online.

Council’s Fast track system for minor planning permit 
applications not requiring public notice and referral to other 
agencies has been improved.

Council has commenced a new Commercial priority planning 
Service in respect to well-prepared planning applications for 
new or expanding businesses capable of fostering additional 
local employment.

eGovernment
Council achieved a 32% increase in the number of online 
transactions over the previous year, which is well above 
the target of a 25% increase. new services offered during 
the year included: self-service access for payments for 
Aged Care services and green waste bins, new pay-by-
phone options for four service categories, a new online 
facility for lodgement of building applications, and the 
complete conversion of tenders from paper-based to online 
submission.
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Disaster Recovery Planning
Council’s disaster Recovery plan was fully tested at an off-
site data centre. in total, over 40 key it application systems 
were able to be successfully recovered for use within 48 
hours of the activation of the test.

Budget transparency
Significant changes have been made to the structure 
of the budget document to improve transparency and 
accountability.

Improvements in Procurement
Council has participated in the department of planning and 
Community	Development	(DPCD)	‘Procurement	Excellence’	
program, which resulted in a procurement Strategy and 
Action plan for Moreland City Council.

Debt management
Council has reviewed its existing debt structure and 
refinanced almost half of its debt in June 2011. this process 
not only delivered a better balanced loan structure, but also 
achieved savings of $120K on interest costs.

citizen contact
Moreland City Council continues to improve the ‘tell us 
once’ policy and is providing additional customer service 
training across the organisation to ensure it meets community 
expectations.

Case management has been introduced to assist customers 
with issues across multiple business units. 

integration between the customer request system and the 
electronic document management system was completed 
this year. this integration allows quick access to various 
documents that make up a case history for a customer.

challenges
Reviving the continuous Improvement Program
the organisational Continuous improvement program 
(MoreValue)	has	been	reviewed.	Next	steps	will	be	to	
implement this program and use it to demonstrate value for 
money to the community.

assisting newcomers
there is a need to expand the available range of topics 
for CAld CoM communication storyboards to assist 
newcomers from non-english backgrounds to understand 
and adapt to their new country.

Project management Office challenges
developing scheduled risk-based project reporting to enable 
monitoring and management of approved capital and 
operating projects. 

embedding the use of the Mp2 methodology for project 
management and establishing consistent project governance 
to enable the effective delivery of outcomes.

Urban Development challenges
With a 33% increase in planning permit applications since 
2008–09, the urban planning workload has remained high.

With the aid of additional resources, the backlog of outstanding 

applications fell by 12% in the second half of the year, with 
average timeframes for determinations also being reduced.

Building Consent and Report activity levels have increased 
sharply	(45%)	in	recent	years,	with	an	increased	backlog	
of undetermined applications. Continuous improvement 
initiatives and additional resources are helping to address the 
backlog. A 22% reduction in the backlog was achieved in the 
second half of the financial year.

Land Use conflicts
the increased gentrification of the municipality is leading 
to conflicts between old industry and new residents. the 
increasing volume of noise, parking, and odour complaints 
reflects this conflict.

asset management system
due to major shortcomings in the functionality of the Jd 
edwards asset management system, an alternative solution 
is planned to be implemented in the 2011–12 period. As a 
result,	linkage	of	the	Geographic	Information	System	(GIS)	with	
Council’s asset database will not be achieved until 2011–12.

national Broadband network (nBn)
the nBn infrastructure has been implemented in the pilot 
area within Brunswick. A key challenge for Council has been 
to coordinate the interests of the various functional areas 
within Council to develop a comprehensive plan for making 
the most of this new infrastructure and developing strategies 
for the Moreland community.

communications technology
the explosion of portable consumer devices, such as 
iphones, Android devices, and ipads, and the corresponding 
applications that have been developed, will require more 
clarity around Council’s mobility strategy and communication 
with the community via these types of technology.

Increasing Integration Dependencies
the growing integration between application systems is 
mandating the regular upgrade of each system. As Council 
has over 50 key systems, this maintenance activity is placing 
a growing burden on the it and third party resources required 
to do this work.

contract management
the lack of a contract management system has limited 
Council’s capacity in effective and efficient contract 
management.

advocacy
An identified need to build the capacity of the organisation to 
advocate to State and Federal Government about key issues 
facing the city will be addressed through a formal advocacy 
program in 2011–12.

customer service Process Improvements
Moreland is working to support a knowledge management 
system to assist in the enquiries on over the 100 services and 
programs provided by Council to the community. 

the streamlining of processes to release key staff from 
general administrative work to focus on core tasks is 
underway. Citizens Service is working with a number of 
service units to move back office tasks to the front office.

performance Review: A Responsive organisation (cont)
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Key strategic activity
measure target Result commentKey strategic 

Initiative
action(s)

Key strategic Objective 1: collaborate with the community and respond actively to climate change

carbon 
management 
strategy

Reduce direct 
corporate 
greenhouse gas 
emissions

Corporate 
greenhouse 
emissions 
(buildings)

Corporate 
greenhouse gas 
emissions	(C02e)	
reduced by 800 
tonnes	(buildings) A

C
H

ie
Ve

d

the target of greenhouse gas 
emission	reductions	(800	tonnes	
for	buildings)	has	been	achieved	via	
annual	GHG	reduction	(tonnes	C02).	
estimated reductions will be verified in 
due course as billing data is analysed.

Key strategic Objective 2: Facilitate the development of the local economy and jobs

the coburg 
Initiative

prepare and submit 
development 
Management 
Agreement and 
Concept plan

timely achievement 
of project 
milestones

development 
Management 
Agreement and 
Concept plan 
signed and 
adopted december 
2010 n

o
t 

A
C

H
ie

Ve
d

Concept plan adopted by Council 8 
december 2010 as part of the place 
Framework. Call For proposal process 
agreed February 2011 in order to 
finalise the dMA and consequently 
the decision date for this component 
was moved to 24 August 2011. this is 
currently on target to be achieved.

Brunswick 
structure Plan

Finalise and 
submit Brunswick 
Structure plan

timely 
development and 
adoption of plan

Brunswick 
Structure plan 
adopted by July 
2010

n
o

t 
A

C
H

ie
Ve

d
 

plan prepared by July 2010 but 
adopted by Council 11 August 2010.

implement 
the Brunswick 
Structure plan 
using the place-
making approach

timely 
development and 
adoption of plan

implementation 
plan adopted by 
June 2011

A
C

H
ie

Ve
d Adopted by Council in April 2011.

Glenroy  
structure Plan

implement the 
Glenroy Structure 
plan using the 
place-making 
approach

timely 
development and 
adoption of plan

implementation 
plan adopted by 
June 2011

A
C

H
ie

Ve
d Adopted by Council in April 2011.

shopping 
strip Renewal 
Program

prepare a rolling 
program for all 
centres and 
prepare and 
implement specific 
plans for selected 
centres

timely 
development 
and adoption of 
program and plans 
for centres selected 
for implementation

program and 
plans adopted 
by december 
2010 and 
selected projects 
implemented by 
June 2011

n
o

t 
A

C
H

ie
Ve

d program still to be adopted by 
Council. Revised policy and program 
to be reported to Council for adoption 
at the August 2011 Council meeting.

Key strategic Objective 3: Improve transport and mobility

moreland 
Bicycle Plan

progress in the 
expansion of active 
transport networks

obtain funding for 
upfield shared bike 
path to Western 
Ring Road

Confirmation of 
funding for upfield 
shared bike path to 
Western Ring Road 
not later than June 
2011 n

o
t 

A
C

H
ie

Ve
d Funding application submitted, the 

design was approved, but the project 
did not secure funding in the VicRoads 
budget.

Completion of 
design for Stage 1 
of Craigieburn bike 
path

June 2011

A
C

H
ie

Ve
d

Concept design for the upfield Bike 
path has been produced, but dot 
have advised that they will no longer 
support funding for shared user paths. 
A letter has been sent to the new 
transport Minister asking to see a 
copy of an internal report done by dot 
on the issue of building shared paths 
in rail corridors, before progressing the 
design further.

perfomance Statement
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Key strategic activity
measure target Result commentKey strategic 

Initiative
action(s)

Key strategic Objective 3: Improve transport and mobility (cont.)

Parking 
strategy

develop a position 
on parking 
management

Completion 
of parking 
management in 
Moreland project

dec 2010

A
C

H
ie

Ve
d

Key strategic Objective 4: maintain and enhance appropriate infrastructure and open space

Infrastructure 
Renewal 
Program

Conduct program level of community 
satisfaction 
with Council 
performance on 
local roads and 
footpaths

level of satisfaction 
exceeds baseline

n
o

t 
A

C
H

ie
Ve

d Result of 53% below target of >60%.

moreland Open 
space strategy

Complete open 
space operational 
improvements

timely achievement 
of project 
milestones

Completion by 
June 2011

A
C

H
ie

Ve
d

Protection of 
council assets 

implement local 
law relating to asset 
protection permits

proportion of 
building permits 
issued with an 
asset protection 
permit

90%
n

o
t 

A
C

H
ie

Ve
d

1,188 Asset protection permits were 
paid for, and 1,687 Building permits 
were	issued	in	2010/11.	This	is	a	
70% take-up rate. this is due to two 
reasons. First, the Asset protection 
processes were phased in over 
the early part of the financial year. 
they were not fully operational until 
november. Second, the time delay 
between building permit and asset 
protection permit means the figures for 
the first year will be distorted.

Key strategic Objective 5: Effective use of our land use and development policies for outcomes appropriate to the long 
term needs of communities

sustainable 
tools for 
Environmental 
Performance 
strategy 
(stEPs) and 
sustainable 
Design 
scorecard 
(sDs)

Continue to 
promote and 
develop the 
StepS and SdS 
built environment 
assessment 
tools, including 
development of a 
multi residential tool

Community use 
of	STEPS	/	SDS	
or equivalent 
built environment 
assessment tool

increase 
community use 
of	STEPS	/	SDS	
or equivalent 
built environment 
assessment tool by 
10% A

C
H

ie
Ve

d

target to increase community use of 
STEPS	/	SDS	or	equivalent	by	10%	
each year has been exceeded. there 
were	60	ESD	referrals	in	2010/11	
against a target of 28 referrals.

Key strategic Objective 6: Facilitate housing that meets the needs of the community

moreland 
affordable 
Housing 
strategy

identify and support 
opportunities 
for	public/social	
housing in larger 
redevelopment 
projects	(>20	
dwellings)

pre-approval 
meetings with 
private sector 

At least five 
meetings per year

A
C

H
ie

Ve
d

perfomance Statement (cont)
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Key strategic activity
measure target Result commentKey strategic 

Initiative
action(s)

Key strategic Objective 7: Engage the organisation and community to make moreland a proud and cleaner city

City improvement 
program:

Moreland 
Waste and litter 
Strategy

Cleaner City 
program

AiM program

implementation of 
Asset protection 
permit

implement program level of community 
satisfaction 
with Council 
performance on 
appearance of 
public areas

level of satisfaction 
exceeds baseline

n
o

t 
A

C
H

ie
Ve

d

Result of 66% was below the baseline 
of 71%.

Key strategic Objective 8: Foster greater community resilience

neighbourhood 
House Strategy

develop designs 
for Sussex 
neighbourhood 
House

Complete design 
stage and obtain 
planning approval

June 2011
n

o
t 

A
C

H
ie

Ve
d Following completion of the initial 

concept plan Council requested that 
a revised concept plan be developed, 
with an increased scope to include 
renovation to the existing pool facilities 
on the site. this has delayed the 
project by approx. seven months.

Key strategic Objective 9: celebrate what makes moreland great

Festivals & 
events program

provision of 
festivals & events 
including: Coburg, 
Fawkner, Glenroy 
and pascoe Vale 
festivals, Music 
for the people, 
Movies in the 
park and Carols 
by the lake, two 
inclusive events 
(‘DecAdance’	&	
‘Summer	Social’)	
& support of 
Sydney Road 
Street party & 
Brunswick Music 
Festival through 
performing Arts 
Moreland	(PAM)

number of 
festivals and 
events presented 
by Moreland 
City Council or 
supported though 
performing Arts 
Moreland	(PAM)

12

A
C

H
ie

Ve
d

Key strategic Objective 10: Foster community creativity

Moreland Arts 
Strategy

Create work 
spaces for creative 
activity

number of 
creative work 
spaces created

one creative work 
space by June 
2011

A
C

H
ie

Ve
d Community exhibition space created 

in Coburg town Hall foyer.



50 MoRelAnd City CounCil AnnuAl RepoRt 2011

Key strategic activity
measure target Result commentKey strategic 

Initiative
action(s)

Key strategic Objective 11: appropriately respond to the population health needs of people at all stages

Municipal public 
Health plan

implement 
Annual Moreland 
Municipal public 
Health Action plan

As per action plan As per action plan

A
C

H
ie

Ve
d

Key strategic Objective 12: Ensure appropriate aged services

later years 
Strategy

deliver HACC 
services

provision of HACC 
services as per 
program targets

program targets + 
or - 5%

A
C

H
ie

Ve
d All services achieved HACC funding 

targets	within	+/-	5%.

Key strategic Objective 13: Ensure that the community has access to a range of sporting and recreational 
opportunities to maximise their potential
Aquatic Strategy Re-develop 

Brunswick Baths
tendering and 
construction of 
Brunswick pool

Report the tender 
to Council in nov 
2010 n

o
t 

A
C

H
ie

Ve
d the relevant report went to Council 

in April 2011.

Key strategic Objective 14: Ensure that community has access to a range of educational opportunities to maximise 
their potential
universal 
Access to 
15 hours 
Kindergarten

upgrade and 
expand early years 
facilities

increased capacity 
for more places

As per action plan

A
C

H
ie

Ve
d Capacity Assessment Report 

and Capital Works program for 
expansion of children’s centres 
underway.

Key strategic Objective 15: Facilitate community connection and engagement

Consultation 
and 
engagement 
Framework

implement 
Consultation and 
engagement 
Framework

proportion of 
residents satisfied 
with community 
engagement

level of 
satisfaction 
exceeds baseline n

o
t 

A
C

H
ie

Ve
d dpCd Survey result was 63%, 

which is below the baseline of 70%.

Key strategic Objective 16: Facilitate people’s access to an appropriate range of services that meet their needs

library Strategy Conduct Read 
More program

level of 
satisfaction with 
program

At least 95%

A
C

H
ie

Ve
d the satisfaction level with the Read 

More program was 100%.

Key strategic Objective 17: Invest in our young people

youth Strategy Complete oxygen 
project

timely 
achievement of 
project milestones

June 2011

A
C

H
ie

Ve
d Fawkner Skate park Facility Stage 1 

completed.

Complete 
Fawkner Skate 
park Facility

timely 
achievement of 
project milestones

June 2011

A
C

H
ie

Ve
d oxygen project – Stage 1 

completed.

perfomance Statement (cont)
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Key strategic activity
measure target Result commentKey strategic 

Initiative
action(s)

Key strategic Objective 18: Improve services to citizens

Customer 
service 
strategy:

“tell us once” 
policy

Customer 
Service Charter

Customer 
Request 
System

implement 
strategy

proportion 
of requests 
completed on 
time

>80%

A
C

H
ie

Ve
d

Council entered 53,565 requests for 
the year into the Customer Request 
System. Business units completed 
46,455 of these requests on time, 
which represents 86.7% of the total 
requests received for the year.

level of 
satisfaction with 
customer service

level of 
satisfaction 
exceeds baseline

n
o

t 
A

C
H

ie
Ve

d

the dpCd survey result of 76% 
was markedly lower than the 83% 
achieved last year for Customer 
Contact. this and all the other 
results from the survey are being 
analysed to identify causes for 
the decrease in satisfaction. this 
analysis will provide information 
for the Customer Service Strategy 
currently being reviewed.

during the year a number of 
customer service initiatives were 
implemented. these included 
preparing customer service training 
sessions for the organisation, which 
is currently being rolled out, and 
integrating systems to enable a 
complete view of a correspondence. 
the effect of these initiatives and the 
strategy review should be evident 
next year.

Key strategic Objective 19: align financial resources of council to meet the needs of the community now and 
into the future
Financial 
Strategy

Manage 
expenditure on 
asset renewal

Budgeted 
expenditure on 
asset renewal

Renewal 
expenditure either 
equals or exceeds 
depreciation of 
assets A

C
H

ie
Ve

d the budgeted renewal expenditure 
for	2010/11	is	127%	of	the	
depreciation budget.

ensure balanced 
budget

extent of deviation 
from a balanced 
budget

Annual underlying 
operating 
surplus between 
+$100,000 and 
-$100,000 A

C
H

ie
Ve

d the adopted 2010–11 budget has 
a break even underlying operating 
result.

Key strategic Objective 20: Leverage technology to improve service delivery

eGovernment 
Strategy

improve 
community access 
to Council services

proportion of 
transactions online

25% in June 2011

A
C

H
ie

Ve
d

As at 30 June 2011, there has 
been an overall 32% increase in the 
number of online transactions over 
the previous 12 months. Self-service 
payments also increased markedly 
since August 2010 with the 
integration of Carelink with pathway 
– from 0 to 21,000 transactions.
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Key strategic activity
measure target Result commentKey strategic 

Initiative
action(s)

Key strategic Objective 20: Leverage technology to improve service delivery (cont.)

It strategy link GiS with 
Council assets 
database

linkage of GiS 
with Council 
assets database

in place by June 
2011

n
o

t 
A

C
H

ie
Ve

d At the April 2011 Council meeting, 
Councillors approved a tender to 
be issued for an alternative asset 
management system. this system is 
expected to be implemented in the 
2011–12 period at which time the 
GiS link will also be developed.

Key strategic Objective 21: align and implement organisational plans

corporate 
planning 
software 

Collaborate 
with software 
developers to 
develop new 
corporate planning 
software

timely 
achievement of 
project milestones

operational by 
June 2011

n
o

t 
A

C
H

ie
Ve

d

A pilot program was tested for 
the fourth quarter reporting of the 
Strategic operational plan, but the 
system is not fully operational within 
the organisation.

Key strategic Objective 22: Foster a motivated, responsive, innovative and performance oriented workplace culture

moreland 
Leadership 
Development 
Program (“aim 
for Blue”)

deliver leadership 
development 
program

outcomes of 
organisational 
Culture inventory 
(OCI)	and	Life	
Styles inventory 
(LSI)

OCI	/	LSI	surveys	
show increase 
in Constructive 
Behaviour 
dimensions from 
previous oCi over 
triennial period

A
C

H
ie

Ve
d

A re-testing survey in 2010 recorded 
a shift in scores away from the 
predominance	of	the	‘passive/
defensive’	and	‘aggressive/
defensive’ styles observed in 
2007 towards a predominance of 
‘constructive’ styles in the overall 
organisational culture circa 2010.

Key strategic Objective 23: maintain a clear, transparent and ethical decision-making process

code of Good 
Governance

Minimise 
confidential 
reports to Council

proportion of 
reports to Council 
deemed to be 
“confidential”

no more than 5%

n
o

t 
A

C
H

ie
Ve

d

Council officers have improved in 
their ability to present more reports 
to Council in the open meeting 
or only place attachments in 
confidential sections of the agenda, 
however	there	are	still	times	(mostly	
based on legislative requirements 
in relation to personal hardship 
and	contractual	matters)	when	it	is	
necessary to have more than 5% of 
Council reports deemed confidential. 
Governance and the Ceo are 
continuing to work with officers to 
reduce the number of confidential 
reports to Council.

perfomance Statement (cont)
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category Proposed Indicator Indicator definitions and comments 2009 2010 2011

1. Average rates 
and charges per 
assessment

Rates and charges declared as being 
receivable, in the calculations for the adopted 
rates, at the beginning of the year, including:

general rates and charges declared under SS. 
160, 161, 161A of the Local Government Act 
1989; municipal charges and services rates 
and	charges	(i.e.	garbage	services)	levied	
under SS. 159 and 162 respectively; and 
supplementary rates declared divided by the 
number of assessments used in the calculation 
of	the	adopted	rate	(i.e.	when	the	rate	is	
struck).

$1,204.52 $1264.56 $1360.23

2. Average rates 
and charges 
per residential 
assessment

Rates and charges declared for all residential 
assessments	(as	per	the	definition	in	1.	above,	
except	for	assessments	only)	divided	by	the	
number of residential assessments.

$1,162.01 $1186.05 $1275.78

S
u

S
tA

in
A

B
il

it
y

1. Average liabilities 
per assessment

total liabilities as per the published financial 
statements	(i.e.	AAS27);

less	items	held	in	trust	(reflected	in	assets	also	
held);

divided by the number of assessments used in 
the	calculation	of	the	adopted	rate	(i.e.	when	
the	rate	is	struck).

$529.38 $742.64 $866.41

2. operating result per 
assessment

Operating	result	per	financial	statements	(i.e.	
AAS27);

divided by the number of assessments used in 
the	calculation	of	the	adopted	rate	(i.e.	when	
the	rate	is	struck).

$53.76 $145.18 $72.62

S
eR

Vi
C

eS

1. Average operating 
expenditure per 
assessment

operating expenditure per the financial 
statements	(i.e.	AAS27)	(including	asset	sales	
and	depreciation);

divided by the number of assessments used in 
the	calculation	of	the	adopted	rate	(i.e.	when	
the	rate	is	struck).

$1,780.04 $1800.95 $1956.37

2. Community 
satisfaction 
rating for overall 
performance 
generally of Council

Council result from the Annual Community 
Satisfaction Survey for local Governments 
(Chart	One:	Summary	of	Results	–	Result	
No.	1)	coordinated	by	the	Local	Government	
division.

64% 67% 63%

Victorian Government performance indicators
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category Proposed Indicator Indicator definitions and comments 2009 2010 2011

S
eR

Vi
C

eS

1. Average capital 
expenditure per 
assessment

Amount capitalised to the balance sheet and 
contributions by a local government to major 
assets not owned by the local government, 
including expenditure on:

capital renewal of existing assets that returns 
the service potential or the life of the asset to 
that which it had originally;

capital expansion that extends an existing 
asset at the same standard as currently 
enjoyed by residents to a new group of users;

capital upgrade that upgrades an existing 
asset to provide a higher level of service or 
expenditure that will increase the life of the 
asset beyond that which it had originally;

divided by the number of assessments used in 
the	calculation	of	the	adopted	rate	(i.e.	when	
the	rate	is	struck).

note: exactly what is included, as capital 
expenditure will vary according to the local 
government’s policy in defining the ‘asset’ and 
its ‘life’.

$415.24 $421.44 $361.25

2. Renewal gap 
Renewal and 
maintenance gap

Ratio of current spending on renewal to the 
long-term Average Annual Asset Consumption 
(AAAC)	26%.

Ratio of current spending on renewal plus 
maintenance to AAAC plus maintenance 
35%. the AAAC is the amount of a local 
government’s asset base consumed during a 
year	based	on	current	replacement	cost	(i.e.	
cost	or	fair	value)	divided	by	useful	life;	and	
totalled for each and every infrastructure asset.

74%

 
 

77%

83% 
 

89%

69% 
 

80%

G
o

Ve
R

n
A

n
C

e

1. Community 
satisfaction rating 
for Council’s 
advocacy and 
community 
representation on 
key local issues. 
(Indexed	mean)

Council result from the Annual Community 
Satisfaction Survey for local Governments 
(Chart	1:	Summary	of	Results	–	Result	No	2)	
coordinated by the local Government division.

64% 66% 61%

2. Community 
satisfaction rating 
for Council’s 
engagement in 
decision-making 
on key local issues. 
(Indexed	mean)

Council result from the Annual Community 
Satisfaction Survey for local Governments 
(Chart	1:	Summary	of	Results	–	Result	No	3)	
coordinated by the local Government division.

60% 64% 60%
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OperatiOns

OVERVIEW

PERFORMANCE

FinAnCiALs
Artist’s impression of the future 

Brunswick Baths indoor pool.
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1. Introduction 
the financial report is a key report presented by the local 
government of Moreland. it shows how Council performed 
financially during the 2010–2011 financial year and the overall 
position	at	the	end	of	the	financial	year	(30	June	2011).

Council’s financial report complies with Australian 
Accounting Standards, other authoritative pronouncements 
of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, the Local 
Government Act 1989, and the Local Government (Finance 
and Reporting) Regulations 2004. particular terms required 
by the Standards may not be familiar to some readers. 
Further, Council is a ‘not for profit’ organisation and some 
of the generally recognised terms used in private sector 
company reports are not appropriate to Council’s reports. 

Council is committed to accountability. it is in this context that 
a plain english guide has been developed to assist readers to 
understand and analyse the financial report. 

2. What is contained in the annual Financial 
Report? 
Council’s financial report has two main sections, namely; 
the report and the notes. there are four statements and 
43 notes. these are prepared by Council’s staff, examined 
by the Council Audit Committee and by Council, and then 
audited by the Victorian Auditor-General. 

the four statements are included in the first few pages of 
the report. they are the Comprehensive income Statement, 
Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in equity and 
Cashflow Statement. 

the notes detail Council’s accounting policies and the make 
up of values contained in the statements. 

3. comprehensive Income statement 
the comprehensive income statement shows: 
•	 the	sources	of	Council’s	revenue	under	various	income	

headings; and, 
•	 the	expenses	incurred	in	running	Council	during	the	year.

the expenses relate only to the ‘operations’ and do not 
include the cost associated with the purchase of or the 
building of assets. While asset purchase costs are not 
included in the expenses there is an item for ‘depreciation’. 
this amount is the value of the assets used up during  
the year. 

the key figure to look at is the surplus or deficit of Council for 
the year. A surplus means that the revenue was greater than 
the expenses and a deficit means that the expenses were 
greater than the revenue. 

4. Balance sheet 
the balance sheet is a snap shot of the financial situation as 
at 30 June 2011. it shows what Council owns as assets and 
what it owes as liabilities. towards the bottom of the balance 
sheet is a line showing net assets. this is the net worth of 
Council, which has been built up over many years. 

the assets and liabilities are separated into current and non-
current. Current means those assets or liabilities, which will 
fall due in the next 12 months. 

the components of the balance sheet are described here. 

4.1 current and non-current assets 
•	 Cash	and	other	financial	assets	includes	cash	and	

investments, i.e. cash held in the bank and in petty cash 
and the market value of Council’s investments.

•	 Receivables	are	monies	owed	to	Council	by	ratepayers	
and others. 

•	 Non-current	financial	assets	represent	the	value	of	shares	
held by Council. 

•	 Investment	property	represents	the	value	of	property	
owned by Council as investment. 

•	 Property,	infrastructure,	plant	and	equipment	is	the	largest	
component of Council’s worth and represents the value of 
all the land, buildings, roads, vehicles, equipment and so 
on, which has been built up by Council over many years.

4.2 current and non-current Liabilities 
•	 Payables	are	those	to	whom	Council	owes	money	as	at	

30 June 2011. 
•	 Provisions	include	accrued	long	service	and	annual	leave	

owed to employees. 
•	 Trust	funds	represent	monies	held	in	trust	by	Council.	
•	 Loans	represent	Council’s	outstanding	borrowings.

4.3 net assets 
this term is used to describe the difference between the 
value of total assets and the value of total liabilities.  
it represents the net worth of Council as at 30 June 2011. 

4.4 total Equity 
this always equals net assets. it is made up of the following 
components: 
•	 Asset	revaluation	reserve	is	the	difference	between	the	

previously recorded value of assets and their current 
valuations; 

•	 General	reserves	are	allocations	of	the	accumulated	
surplus to specific activities; and, 

•	 Accumulated	surplus	is	the	value	of	all	net	assets	
accumulated over time.

5. statement of changes in Equity 
during the course of the year the value of total ratepayer’s 
equity as set out in the balance sheet changes. this 
statement shows the values of such changes and how these 
changes arose. 

the main reasons for a change in equity stem from: 
•	 the	surplus	or	deficit	from	operations,	described	in	the	

statement	as	surplus	or	(deficit)	for	the	year;	
•	 the	use	of	monies	from	Council’s	reserves;	or,
•	 revaluation	of	the	assets;	this	takes	place	on	a	regular	

basis. it also occurs when existing assets are taken up in 
the books for the first time. 

A plain english Guide to the Financial Report
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6. cashflow statement 
the cashflow statement summarises Council’s cash 
payments and cash receipts for the year. this statement is 
presented according to a very specific accounting standard 
and needs some care in analysis. the values may differ from 
those shown in the comprehensive income statement as it is 
prepared on a cash accounting basis. 

Cash in this statement refers to bank deposits and other 
forms of highly liquid investments that can readily be 
converted to cash, such as cash invested with banks. 

Council’s cash arises from, and is used in, three main areas: 
•	 Cashflows	from	operating	activities:	

– Receipts – all cash received into Council’s bank 
account from ratepayers and others who owed money 
to Council. Receipts also include the interest earnings 
from Council’s cash investments. it does not include 
the costs associated with the sale of assets. 

–  payments – all cash paid by Council from its bank 
account to staff, creditors and other persons. it does 
not include the costs associated with the creation of 
assets. 

•	 Cashflows	from	investing	activities	
–  this section shows the cash invested in the creation 

or purchase of property, infrastructure, plant and 
equipment assets and the cash received from the sale 
of these assets. 

•	 Cashflows	from	financing	activities	
–  this is where the receipt and repayment of borrowed 

funds are recorded. 

the bottom line of the cashflow statement is the cash at end 
of financial year. this shows the capacity of Council to meet 
its cash debts and other liabilities. 

7. notes to the accounts 
the notes are a very important and informative section of the 
report. the accounting standards are not prescriptive in a 
lot of issues. therefore, to enable the reader to understand 
the basis on which the values shown in the statements are 
established it is necessary to provide details of Council’s 
accounting policies. these are described in note 1. 

Apart from the accounting policies, the notes also give 
details behind many of the summary figures contained in 
the Statements. the note numbers are shown beside the 
relevant items in the comprehensive income statement, 
balance sheet, statement of changes in equity and the 
cashflow statement. 

Where Council wishes to disclose other information, which 
cannot be incorporated into the statements, then this is 
shown in the notes. 

other notes include: 
•	 the	cost	of	the	various	functions/activities	of	Council;	
•	 the	break	down	of	expenses,	revenues,	reserves	 

and other assets; 
•	 contingent	liabilities;	

•	 transactions	with	persons	related	to	Council;	and,	
•	 financial	performance	indicators.	

the notes should be read at the same time as, and together 
with, the other parts of the financial statements to get a clear 
picture of the accounts. 

8. standard statements 
the standard statements section provides three of the four 
statements	mentioned	above	(income	statement,	balance	
sheet	and	cashflow	statement)	together	with	a	further	
statement	(statement	of	capital	works).	

the statement of capital works sets out the expenditure 
on creating or buying property, infrastructure, plant and 
equipment assets by each category of asset. it also shows 
how much of the total has been spent on renewing, 
upgrading, expanding or creating new assets. 

these standard statements provide a comparison between 
the actual results for the year and the budget that was set at 
the start of the year. All major differences are explained in the 
accompanying notes. 

9. statements by Principal accounting Officer 
and councillors 
the Certification of the principal Accounting officer is made 
by the person responsible for the financial management of 
Council	that,	in	her/his	opinion,	the	financial	statements	have	
met all the statutory and professional reporting requirements. 

the certification of Councillors is made by two Councillors 
on behalf of Council that, in their opinion, the financial 
statements are fair and not misleading. 

10. auditor-General’s Report 
the independent Auditor’s Report provides the reader 
with an external and independent opinion on the financial 
statements. it confirms that the financial report has been 
prepared in accordance with relevant legislation and 
professional standards and that it represents a fair picture of 
the financial affairs of the Council. 

Council’s main office is located at: 90 Bell Street Coburg, 
Victoria 3058. 

external Auditor – Auditor-General of Victoria 

internal Auditor – Senior officer – Mr ian thomas 

Solicitors – Various 

Bankers – Commonwealth Bank of Australia 

Website address – moreland.vic.gov.au

A plain english Guide to the Financial Report	(cont)
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Note
2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

income
Rates and charges 2	(b)  92,310  83,926 
Statutory fees and fines 3  5,454  5,120 
user fees 4  13,142  10,548 
Contributions – cash 6	(a)  516  1,842 
Contributions – non-monetary assets 6	(b)  157  4,785 
Grants – recurrent 5  16,590  14,911 
Grants – non-recurrent 5  2,630  4,439 
Net	gain/(loss)	on	disposal	of	property,	infrastructure,	plant	and	equipment 7  105  148 
other income 8  5,684  4,890 
Share	of	net	profits/(losses)	of	associates	and	joint	ventures	accounted	for	by	the	
equity method 15 	(262)  562 
Fair value adjustments for investment property 22  894  365 
land asset identified 21  -    13,095 
total income  137,220  144,631 

expenses
employee benefits 9  67,032  59,799 
Materials and services 10  42,637  41,208 
Bad and doubtful debts 11  1,300  814 
depreciation and amortisation 12  19,738  19,311 
Finance costs 13  1,528  787 
other expenses 14  74  10,459 

  
total expenses  132,309  132,378 

  
Surplus/(deficit)  4,911  12,253 

Other comprehensive income
Net	asset	revaluation	increment	(decrement)	reversals 27	(a)  -    228,338 
Comprehensive result  4,911  240,591 

the above comprehensive income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Comprehensive income Statement
For the year ended 30 June 2011
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Note
2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 16  18,019  14,207 
trade and other receivables 17  10,670  10,545 
Financial assets 18  9,300  8,900 
inventories 19  131  155 
other assets 20  255  650 
total current assets  38,375  34,457 

Non-current assets
investments in associates accounted for using the equity method 15  1,363  1,625 
Shares in MApS ltd  2  2 
property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 21  1,453,700  1,443,560 
investment property 22  25,160  24,266 
total non-current assets  1,480,225  1,469,453 
total assets  1,518,600  1,503,910 

Liabilities
Current liabilities
trade and other payables 23  13,112  12,588 
trust funds and deposits 24  1,221  1,102 
provisions 25  14,609  13,977 
interest-bearing loans and borrowings 26  1,443  402 
total current liabilities  30,385  28,069 

Non-current liabilities
provisions 25  922  840 
interest-bearing loans and borrowings 26  27,288  19,907 
total non-current liabilities  28,210  20,747 
total liabilities  58,595  48,816 

  
Net Assets  1,460,005  1,455,094 

equity
Accumulated surplus  444,713  441,055 
Asset revaluation reserve 27	(a)  1,005,753  1,005,753 
other reserves 27	(b)  9,539  8,286 
total equity  1,460,005  1,455,094 

the above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Balance Sheet
As at 30 June 2011
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2011 Note

 total 
2011
$’000

Accumulated
Surplus

2011
$’000

Asset
revaluation

reserve
2011
$’000

Other
reserves

2011
$’000

Balance at beginning of the financial year  1,455,094  441,055  1,005,753  8,286 
Surplus/(deficit)	for	the	year  4,911  4,911  -    -   
transfers to other reserves 27(b)  -   	(4,804)  -    4,804 
transfers from other reserves 27(b)  -    3,551  -   	(3,551)
Balance at end of the financial year  1,460,005  444,713  1,005,753  9,539 

2010 Note

 total 
2010
$’000

Accumulated
Surplus

2010
$’000

Asset
revaluation

reserve
2010
$’000

Other
reserves

2010
$’000

Balance at beginning of the financial year  1,214,503  424,913  777,415  12,175 
Surplus/(deficit)	for	the	year  12,253  12,253  -    -   
Net	asset	revaluation	increment(decrement) 27(a)  228,338  -    228,338  -   
transfers to other reserves 27(b)  -   	(3,468)  -    3,468 
transfers from other reserves 27(b)  -    7,357  -   	(7,357)
Balance at end of the financial year  1,455,094  441,055  1,005,753  8,286 

the above statement of changes in equity should be read with the accompanying notes.

Statement of Changes in equity
For the year ended 30 June 2011
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Note

2011
inflows/

(Outflows)
$’000

2010
inflows/

(Outflows)
$’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Rates  91,490  84,932 
Statutory fees and fines  4,489  3,858 
User	charges	and	other	fines	(inclusive	of	GST)  9,998  8,260 
Grants	(inclusive	of	GST)  19,552  19,792 
Developer	contributions	(inclusive	of	GST)  4,804  3,468 
Reimbursements	(inclusive	of	GST)  873  743 
interest  1,162  873 
Rents	(inclusive	of	GST)  2,328  1,819 
Other	receipts	(inclusive	of	GST)  1,533  2,873 
Net	GST	refund/payment  5,963  4,789 
Payments	to	suppliers	(inclusive	of	GST) 	(48,508) 	(45,515)
Payments	to	employees	(including	redundancies) 	(64,095) 	(58,771)
Additional superannuation contributions resulting from actuarial review 	(2,703)  -   
other payments 	(73) 	(160)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 28  26,813  26,961 

Cash flows from investing activities

payments for property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 	(29,867) 	(24,350)
proceeds from sale of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment  252  445 
payments for investment property  -   	(12,381)
payments for other financial assets 	(400) 	(1,400)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  (30,015)  (37,686)

Cash flows from financing activities 

Finance costs 	(1,528) 	(787)
trust funds and deposits  119  12 
proceeds from interest bearing loans and borrowings  9,200  12,150 
Repayment of interest bearing loans and borrowings 	(777) 	(500)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  7,014  10,875 

Net	increase	(decrease)	in	cash	and	cash	equivalents  3,812  150 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year  14,207  14,057 

  
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year     29  18,019  14,207 

Financing arrangements 30

Restrictions on cash assets 31

the above cash flow statement should be read with the accompanying notes.

Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 30 June 2011
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Introduction
(a)	 The	Moreland	City	Council	was	established	by	an	Order	of	the	Governor	in	Council	on	the	21st	June	1994	and	is	a	body	

corporate.  
 the Council’s main office is located at 90 Bell Street, Coburg.

(b)	 The	purpose	of	the	Council	is	to:
– provide for the peace, order and good government of its municipal district;  
– promote the social, economic and environmental viability and sustainability of the municipal district;  
– ensure that resources are used efficiently and effectively and services are provided in accordance with the Best Value 

principles to best meet the needs of the local community;  
– improve the overall quality of life of people in the local community; 
– promote appropriate business and employment opportunities; 
– ensure that services and facilities provided by the Council are accessible and equitable; 
– ensure the equitable imposition of rates and charges; and, 
– ensure transparency and accountability in Council decision making. 

 external Auditor – Auditor-General of Victoria 
 internal Auditor – ian thomas 
 Solicitors 

–  Maddocks 
–  dlA piper Australia 
–  elliot Stafford & Associates 
–  Hoeys lawyers 
–  Hunt & Hunt lawyers 
–  norton Rose Australia 
–  Russell Kennedy 

 Bankers – Commonwealth Bank of Australia 

 Website address – moreland.vic.gov.au 

 this financial report is a general purpose financial report that consists of a Comprehensive income Statement, Balance 
Sheet, Statement of Changes in equity, Cash Flow Statement, and notes accompanying these financial statements. the 
general purpose financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of 
the Australian Accounting Standards Board, the Local Government Act 1989, and the Local Government (Finance and 
Reporting) Regulations 2004. 

1 significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of accounting

 this financial report has been prepared on the accrual and going concern bases. 

 this financial report has been prepared under the historical cost convention, except where specifically stated in notes 
1(h),	1(j),	1(l),	1(t),	1(w),	1(x)	and	1(y).	

 unless otherwise stated, all accounting policies are consistent with those applied in the prior year. Where appropriate, 
comparative figures have been amended to accord with current presentation, and disclosure has been made of any 
material changes to comparatives. Where necessary, changes have been made to the prior year comparatives as a 
result of Council now reporting in line with the sector’s model set of accounts.

 All entities controlled by Council, such as Special Committees of Management, have been included in this financial 
report. All transactions between these entities and the Council have been eliminated in full. details of entities not included 
in this financial report based on their materiality are detailed in note 43.

(b)  Change in accounting policies

 there were no changes in accounting policy during the financial year. 

notes to the Financial Report
For the year ended 30 June 2011
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1 significant accounting policies (cont.)

(c) revenue recognition 

 Rates, grants and contributions

	 Rates,	grants	and	contributions	(including	developer	contributions)	are	recognised	as	revenues	when	the	Council	obtains	
control over the assets comprising these receipts.

 Control over assets acquired from rates is obtained at the commencement of the rating year as it is an enforceable debt 
linked to the rateable property or, where earlier, upon receipt of the rates. 

 A provision for doubtful debts on rates has not been established as unpaid rates represents a charge against the rateable 
property that will be recovered when the property is next sold. 

	 Control	over	granted	assets	is	normally	obtained	upon	their	receipt	(or	acquittal)	or	upon	earlier	notification	that	a	grant	
has been secured, and are valued at their fair value at the date of transfer. 

 income is recognised when the Council obtains control of the contribution or the right to receive the contribution, 
it is probable that the economic benefits comprising the contribution will flow to the Council and the amount of the 
contribution can be measured reliably. 

 Where grants or contributions recognised as revenues during the financial year were obtained on condition that they be 
expended in a particular manner or used over a particular period and those conditions were undischarged at balance 
date, the unused grant or contribution is disclosed in note 5. the note also discloses the amount of unused grant or 
contribution from prior years that was expended on Council’s operations during the current year.

 A liability is recognised in respect of revenue that is reciprocal in nature to the extent that the requisite service has not 
been provided at balance date.

 User fees and fines

 User	fees	and	fines	(including	parking	fees	and	fines)	are	recognised	as	revenue	when	the	service	has	been	provided,	the	
payment is received, or when the penalty has been applied, whichever first occurs.

 A provision for doubtful debts is recognised when collection in full is no longer probable.

 Sale of property, plant and equipment, infrastructure

 the profit or loss on sale of an asset is determined when control of the asset has irrevocably passed to the buyer. 

 Trade and other receivables 

 Receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. A provision for doubtful debts is 
recognised when there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has occurred. 

 Rental 

 Rents are recognised as revenue when the payment is due or the payment is received, whichever first occurs. Rental; 
payments received in advance are recognised as a prepayment until they are due.   

 Interest 

 interest is recognised progressively as it is earned. 

 Dividends 

 dividend revenue is recognised when the Council’s right to receive payment is established. 

(d)  trade and other receivables and inventories 

 Trade and other receivables 

 Receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. A provision for doubtful debts is 
recognised when there is objective evidence that an impairment has occurred. 

 Inventories 

 inventories held for distribution are measured at cost adjusted when applicable for any loss of service potential. 

 other inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  

notes to the Financial Report
For the year ended 30 June 2011
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1 significant accounting policies (cont.)

(e) Depreciation and amortisation of property, plant and equipment, infrastructure, intangibles 

 Buildings, plant and equipment, motor vehicles, computer equipment, furniture and fittings, library books, infrastructure, 
and other assets having limited useful lives are systematically depreciated over their useful lives to the Council in a 
manner that reflects consumption of the service potential embodied in those assets. estimates of remaining useful lives 
and residual values are made on a regular basis with major asset classes reassessed annually. depreciation rates and 
methods are reviewed annually. 

 Where assets have separate identifiable components that are subject to regular replacement, these components are 
assigned distinct useful lives and residual values and a separate depreciation rate is determined for each component.

 Road earthworks are not depreciated.  

 Artworks are not depreciated. 

 Straight line depreciation is charged based on the residual useful life as determined each year. 

 Major depreciation periods used are listed below and are consistent with the prior year unless otherwise stated: 

    
 Period

 Buildings 20 to 100 years
 plant and equipment 3 to 10 years
 Motor vehicles up to 10 years
 Computer equipment 3 to 10 years
 Furniture and fittings 3 to 10 years
 library books 3 to 10 years
 infrastructure 
    road surface up to 30 years
	 			road	payment	(includes	right-of-ways)	 up	to	100	years
    drains up to 100 years
	 			footpaths	(includes	shared	footways)	 up	to	50	years
    kerb and channel up to 75 years
	 			bridges	/	retaining	walls	 up	to	80	years
	 			other	structures	(includes	playground	equipment,	furniture	and	other	road	associated	assets	etc.)	 up	to	100	years

(f) repairs and maintenance 

 Routine maintenance, repair costs, and minor renewal costs are expensed as incurred. Where the repair relates to the 
replacement of a component of an asset and the cost exceeds the capitalisation threshold the cost is capitalised and 
depreciated. the carrying value of the replaced asset is expensed.  

(g) Borrowing costs 

 Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred, except where they are 
capitalised as part of a qualifying asset constructed by Council. except where specific borrowings are obtained for 
the purpose of specific asset acquisition, the weighted average interest rate applicable to borrowings at balance date, 
excluding borrowings associated with superannuation, is used to determine the borrowing costs to be capitalised.

 Borrowing costs include interest on bank overdrafts, interest on borrowings, and finance lease charges. 

notes to the Financial Report
For the year ended 30 June 2011
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1 significant accounting policies (cont.)

(h) recognition and measurement of assets 

 Acquisition 

 the purchase method of accounting is used for all acquisitions of assets, being the fair value of assets provided as 
consideration at the date of acquisition plus any incidental costs attributable to the acquisition. Fair value is the amount 
for which the asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.   

 Where assets are constructed by Council, cost includes all materials used in construction, direct labour, borrowing costs 
incurred during construction, and an appropriate share of directly attributable variable and fixed overheads.

 the following classes of assets have been recognised in note 21. in accordance with Council’s policy, the threshold limits 
detailed below have applied when recognising assets within an applicable asset class and unless otherwise stated are 
consistent with the prior year: 

  threshold Limit
  $’000
 Property 
 land  no limit 
 Buildings  1 
 plant and equipment  3 
 Buildings  1 
 Furniture and fittings  1 
 Motor vehicles  3 
 Computer equipment  1 
 Artworks  1 
 library books  1 
 infrastructure 
 land under roads  no limit 
 Roads surface, drains, footpaths, kerb and channel  1 
 Road pavement  1 
 Bridges  1 
 Street furniture  10 
	 Park	furniture,	fences	and	playground	equipment	(other	structures)	 	5	

 Revaluation 

 Subsequent to the initial recognition of assets, non-current physical assets, other than plant and equipment, motor 
vehicles, furniture and fittings, computer equipment, library books and artworks, are measured at their fair value, 
being the amount for which the assets could be exchanged between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s length 
transaction. At balance date, the Council reviewed the carrying value of the individual classes of assets measured at fair 
value to ensure that each asset materially approximated its fair value. Where the carrying value materially differed from the 
fair value at balance date the class of asset was revalued. 

 in addition, Council undertakes a formal revaluation of land, buildings, and infrastructure assets on a regular basis ranging 
from two to three years. the valuation is performed either by experienced council officers or independent experts.

 Where the assets are revalued, the revaluation increments are credited directly to the asset revaluation surplus except 
to the extent that an increment reverses a prior year decrement for that class of asset that had been recognised as 
an expense in which case the increment is recognised as revenue up to the amount of the expense. Revaluation 
decrements are recognised as an expense except where prior increments are included in the asset revaluation surplus 
for that class of asset in which case the decrement is taken to the reserve to the extent of the remaining increments.  
Within the same class of assets, revaluation increments and decrements within the year are offset. 

 Land under roads 

 land under roads acquired after 30 June 2008 is brought to account using the fair value basis. Council does not 
recognise land under roads that it controlled prior to that period in its financial report. 

notes to the Financial Report
For the year ended 30 June 2011
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1 significant accounting policies (cont.)

(i) Cash and cash equivalents 

 For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits at call, and 
other highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. 

(j) financial assets 

 Managed funds are valued at fair value, being market value, at balance date. Any unrealised gains and losses on 
holdings at balance date are recognised as either a revenue or expense. 

(k) investments

	 Investments	(non-financial),	other	than	investments	in	associates,	are	measured	at	cost.	

 At balance date Moreland City Council had a 100% interest in the Moreland energy Foundation limited. it has assessed 
the materiality of the Moreland energy Foundation limited annual accounts and determined that the foundation will be 
consolidated into its financial statements. As such it is not currently necessary to disclose the foundations accounts on a 
four column, parent and consolidated basis, as they are not material. the current contract of service that exists between 
Moreland City Council and Moreland energy Foundation limited expires on 30 June 2015. 

(l) Accounting for investments in associates 

 Council’s investment in associates is accounted for by the equity method as Council has the ability to influence rather 
than control the operations of the entities. the investment is initially recorded at the cost of acquisition and adjusted 
thereafter for post-acquisition changes in the Council’s share of the net assets of the entities. Council has an interest in 
Regional Kitchen pty ltd and RFK pty ltd trading as Community Chef. the Council’s share of the financial result of the 
entities is recognised in the comprehensive income statement.

(m) tender deposits and trust funds 

 Amounts received as tender deposits and retention amounts controlled by Council are recognised as trust Funds until 
they	are	returned	or	forfeited	(refer	to	note	24).	

 Separate and distinct trust Funds are maintained for all monies held under trust deed arrangements. trust Funds are 
classified	as	current	liabilities	(refer	to	note	24).		

(n) employee benefits 

 Wages and salaries 

 liabilities for wages and salaries and rostered days off are recognised and measured as the amount unpaid at balance 
date and include appropriate oncosts such as workers compensation and payroll costs. 

 Annual leave 

 Annual leave entitlements are accrued on a pro rata basis in respect of services provided by employees up to  
balance date.  

 Annual leave expected to be paid within 12 months is measured at nominal value based on the amount, including 
appropriate oncosts, expected to be paid when settled. 

 Annual leave expected to be paid later than one year has been measured at the present value of the estimated future 
cash outflows to be made for these accrued entitlements. Commonwealth bond rates are used for discounting future 
cash flows. 

 Long service leave 

 long service leave entitlements payable are assessed at balance date having regard to expected employee remuneration 
rates on settlement, employment related oncosts and other factors including accumulated years of employment, on 
settlement, and experience of employee departure per year of service. 

 long service leave expected to be paid within 12 months is measured at nominal value based on the amount expected 
to be paid when settled.   

 long service leave expected to be paid later than one year has been measured at the present value of the estimated 
future cash outflows to be made for these accrued entitlements. Commonwealth bond rates are used for discounting 
future cash flows. 

notes to the Financial Report
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1 significant accounting policies (cont.)

 Classification of employee benefits 

 An employee benefit liability is classified as a current liability if the Council does not have an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the period. this would include all annual leave and 
unconditional long service leave entitlements. 

 Superannuation 

 the superannuation expense for the reporting year is the amount of the statutory contribution the Council makes to the 
superannuation	plan	which	provides	benefits	to	its	employees	together	with	any	movements	(favourable/unfavourable)	in	
the position of any defined benefits schemes. details of these arrangements are recorded in note 32.

 Retirement gratuities

 Retirement gratuities were provided to certain employees who were, prior to the formation of Moreland City Council, 
employed by the City of Brunswick. the liability represents payment amounts calculated on the basis of achieved levels 
of available sick leave. At balance date, the liability is measured at the present value of estimated future cash flows to be 
made for this entitlement.

(o) Leases 

 Finance leases 

 leases of assets where substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the asset, are transferred to the 
Council are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised, recording an asset and a liability at the lower of 
the fair value of the asset and the present value of the minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual value. 
lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease liability and the interest expense. leased assets are 
depreciated on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives to the Council where it is likely that the Council will 
obtain ownership of the asset or over the term of the lease, whichever is the shorter. Council has no finance leases at this 
time. 

 Operating leases 

 lease payments for operating leases are required by the accounting standard to be recognised on a straight line 
basis, rather than expensed in the years in which they are incurred. operating leases that derive income for Council are 
recognised on a straight line basis, rather than being recorded as income at the time of receipt. this treatment reflects 
the pattern of benefits provided by the Council. 

(p) Allocation between current and non-current 

 in the determination of whether an asset or liability is current or non-current, consideration is given to the time when each 
asset or liability is expected to be settled. the asset or liability is classified as current if it is expected to be settled within 
the next 12 months, being the Council’s operational cycle, or if the Council does not have an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of a liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date. 

(q) Agreements equally proportionately unperformed 

 Council does not recognise assets and liabilities arising from agreements that are equally proportionately unperformed in 
the balance sheet. Such agreements are recognised on an ‘as incurred’ basis. 

(r) Website costs 

 Costs in relation to websites are charged as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 

(s) Goods and Services tax (GSt) 

 Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GSt, except where the amount of GSt incurred 
is not recoverable from the Australian tax office. in these circumstances the GSt is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables and payables in the balance sheet are shown 
inclusive of GSt. 

 Cash flows are presented in the cash flow statement on a gross basis, except for the GSt component of investing and 
financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows. 

notes to the Financial Report
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1 significant accounting policies (cont.)

(t) impairment of assets 

 At each reporting date, the Council reviews the carrying value of its assets to determine whether there is any indication 
that these assets have been impaired. if such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher 
of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is compared to the assets carrying value. Any excess of the 
assets carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed to the comprehensive income statement, unless the 
asset is carried at the revalued amount in which case, the impairment loss is recognised directly against the revaluation 
surplus in respect of the same class of asset to the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed the amount in the 
revaluation surplus for that same class of asset.

(u) rounding

 unless otherwise stated, amounts in the financial report have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars. Figures in 
the financial statement may not equate due to rounding. 

(v) Non-current assets held for sale

	 A	non-current	asset	held	for	sale	(including	disposal	groups)	is	measured	at	the	lower	of	its	carrying	amount	and	fair	value	
less costs to sell, and are not subject to depreciation. non current assets, disposal groups and related liabilities assets 
are treated as current and classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction 
rather than through continuing use. this condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the 
asset’s	sale	(or	disposal	group	sale)	is	expected	to	be	completed	within	12	months	from	the	date	of	classification.

(w) investment property

 investment property, comprising freehold commercial properties, is held to generate long-term rental yields. investment 
property is measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are 
capitalised when it is probable that future economic benefit in excess of the originally assessed performance of the asset 
will flow to the Council. Subsequent to initial recognition at cost, investment property is carried at fair value, determined 
annually by independent valuers. Changes to fair value are recorded in the comprehensive income statement in the 
period that they arise. Rental income from the leasing of investment properties is recognised in the comprehensive  
income statement on a straight line basis over the lease term.

(x) financial guarantees

 Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a liability at the time the guarantee is issued. the liability is initially 
measured at fair value, and if there is material increase in the likelihood that the guarantee may have to be exercised, at 
the higher of the amount determined in accordance with AASB 137 provisions, Contingent liabilities and Contingent 
Assets and the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation, where appropriate. in the determination of fair 
value, consideration is given to factors including the probability of default by the guaranteed party and the likely loss to 
Council in the event of default.  

notes to the Financial Report
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1 significant accounting policies (cont.)

(y) Pending Accounting Standards

 the following Australian Accounting Standards have been issued or amended and are applicable to the Council but are 
not yet effective.

 they have not been adopted in preparation of the financial statements at reporting date.

Standard / 
interpretation

Summary Applicable for 
annual reporting 
periods beginning or 
ending on

impact on Local 
Government 
financial statements

AASB 9: Financial 
instruments and 
AASB 2009–11: 
Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from 
AASB 9 [AASB 1, 3, 
4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 
112, 118, 121, 127, 
128, 131, 132, 136, 
139, 1023 & 1038 and 
interpretations 10 & 12]

these standards are applicable retrospectively 
and amend the classification and measurement 
of financial assets. Council has not yet 
determined the potential impact on the financial 
statements. Specific changes include:
* simplifying the classifications of financial 

assets into those carried at amortised cost 
and those carried at fair value;

* removing the tainting rules associated with 
held-to-maturity assets;

* simplifying the requirements for embedded 
derivatives;

* removing the requirements to separate and 
fair value embedded derivatives for financial 
assets carried at amortised cost;

* allowing an irrevocable election on initial 
recognition to present gains and losses on 
investments in equity instruments that are 
not held for trading in other comprehensive 
income. dividends in respect of these 
investments that are a return on investment 
can be recognised in profit or loss and there 
is no impairment or recycling on disposal of 
the instrument; and,

* reclassifying financial assets where there is 
a change in an entity’s business model as 
they are initially classified based on:

a. the objective of the entity’s business 
model for managing the financial assets; 
and,

b. the characteristics of the contractual 
cash flows.

Applicable for annual 
reporting periods 
commencing on or 
after 1 January 2013.

these changes are 
expected to provide 
some simplification in 
the accounting for and 
disclosure of financial 
instruments.

AASB 124: Related 
party disclosures

this standard removes the requirement for 
government related entities to disclose details 
of all transactions with the government and 
other government related entities and clarifies 
the definition of a related party to remove 
inconsistencies and simplify the structure of the 
standard.

Applicable for annual 
reporting periods 
commencing on or 
after 1 January 2011.

Although this standard 
does not strictly apply 
to local Government 
it is often used as 
guidance, as such 
there will be greater 
clarity on the disclosure 
of inter government 
transactions.
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Standard / 
interpretation

Summary Applicable for 
annual reporting 
periods beginning or 
ending on

impact on Local 
Government 
financial statements

AASB 2009–12: 
Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards [AASBs 
5, 8, 108, 110, 112, 
119, 133, 137, 139, 
1023 & 1031 and 
interpretations 2, 4, 16, 
1039 & 1052] 

this standard makes a number of editorial 
amendments to a range of Australian 
Accounting Standards and interpretations, 
including amendments to reflect changes 
made to the text of international Financial 
Reporting Standards by the iASB. the 
standard also amends AASB 8 to require 
entities to exercise judgment in assessing 
whether a government and entities known to 
be under the control of that government are 
considered a single customer for the purposes 
of certain operating segment disclosures.

Applicable for annual 
reporting periods 
commencing on or 
after 1 January 2011.

these amendments 
are not expected to 
impact Council

AASB 2009–14: 
Amendments 
to Australian 
interpretation — 
prepayments of a 
Minimum Funding 
Requirement [AASB 
interpretation 14] 

this standard amends interpretation 14 to 
address unintended consequences that 
can arise from the previous accounting 
requirements when an entity prepays future 
contributions into a defined benefit pension 
plan.

Applicable for annual 
reporting periods 
commencing on or 
after 1 January 2011.

these amendments 
are not expected to 
impact Council

     

(z) Contingent assets and contingent liabilities and commitments

 Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet, but are disclosed by way of a 
note and, if quantifiable, are measured at nominal value. Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of GSt 
receivable or payable respectively.

 Commitments are not recognised in the Balance Sheet. Commitments are disclosed at their nominal value and inclusive 
of the GSt payable.

1 significant accounting policies (cont.)

(y) Pending Accounting Standards (cont.)

notes to the Financial Report
For the year ended 30 June 2011
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2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

2 (a) Underlying surplus/(deficit)

Profit/(loss)  4,911  12,253 
Less
Capital grants  1,878  2,678 
Capital	contribution	(cash)  903  1,682 
non-cash developer contributions  157  4,785 
land asset identified  -    13,095 
Add
de-recognition of drainage assets  -    10,387 

  
underlying surplus/(deficit)  1,973  400 

The	reported	profit	of	$4.911	million	for	2011	(2010:	$12.253	million)	includes	once-off	and	
committed for capital expenditure items.

The	Council’s	defined	underlying	surplus/(deficit)	represents	the	council	determined	
sustainable operating result, which has been calculated after the exclusion of once-off and 
committed for capital expenditure items, as per above.

non-cash developer contributions, found assets, and asset derecognition are items of a 
council determined once-off nature, whilst capital grants and contributions are excluded 
due to the fact that those funds are not available for day to day use.

2 (b) Rates and charges

Council	uses	Capital	Improved	Value	(CIV)	as	the	basis	of	valuation	of	all	properties	within	
the municipal district. the CiV of a property is the total market value of the land plus 
buildings and other improvements. 

the valuation base used to calculate general rates for 2010–2011 was $33.864 billion 
(2009–2010	$28.089	billion).	The	2010–2011	rate	in	the	CIV	dollar	was	0.002503	 
(2009–2010,	0.002735).

Residential/commercial/industrial  85,621  77,488 
Supplementary rates and rate adjustments  666  1,213 
Garbage charge  5,705  4,934 
Special rates and charges  318  291 
total rates and charges  92,310  83,926 

the date of the latest general revaluation of land for rating purposes within the municipal  
district was 1 January 2010, and the valuation was first applied in the rating year 
commencing 1 July 2010.

the date of the previous general revaluation of land for rating purposes within the 
municipal district was 1 January 2008, and the valuation first applied to the rating period 
commencing 1 July 2008.

3 statutory fees and fines

infringements and costs  3,433  3,696 
peRin court recoveries  123  149 
town planning fees  1,001  933 
land information certificates  111  118 
permits  786  224 
total statutory fees and fines  5,454  5,120

notes to the Financial Report
For the year ended 30 June 2011
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2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

4 User fees

(a) leisure centre fees  1,031  1,128 
Resort and recreation fees*  4,804  3,468 
Fees	–	ticket	machines	/	parking	meters  188  131 
Aged services fees  2,515  2,507 
Registration fees  858  733 
Road occupancy charges  859  646 
Building services fees  416  348 
Valuation	fees/supplementary	charges  241  70 
Garbage and waste collection  233  271 
other fines  366  371 
Right of way closures  7  89 
other fees and charges  1,624  786 
total user fees  13,142  10,548 
* Resort and recreation fees received during the year are transferred to other reserves 
pursuant to section 18 of the Subdivision Act 1988	(Resort	and	Recreation	Reserve)	(refer	
note	27	(b)).

(b) Ageing analysis of contractual receivables
Please	refer	to	the	Ageing	of	Trade	and	Other	Receivables	table	in	Note	36	(e)	for	the	
ageing analysis of contractual receivables.

notes to the Financial Report
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2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

5 Grants
Grants were received in respect of the following:

Summary of grants
Federally funded grants 2,714 4,612
State funded grants 16,506 14,738

total 19,220 19,350

Recurrent
Victorian Grants Commission – general purpose  4,731  4,339 
Home help  5,264  4,267 
Maternal and child health  1,162  1,273 
Recreation  795  64 
Victorian Grants Commission – local roads  838  857 
libraries  843  855 
Welfare support  59  566 
Families and children  2,107  1,940 
Food services  288  278 
planning and development  -    25 
local roads and bridges  200  294 
School crossing supervisors  166  133 
environment protection  15  -   
labour market program funding  -    20 
Waste and environment  3  -   
Access for all abilities  119  -   

  
total recurrent  16,590  14,911 

Non-recurrent
environment protection  1,917  1,687 
Recreation  496  1,254 
Business and economic services  -    178 
Families and children  4  400 
local roads and bridges  10  642 
planning and development  -    244 
Waste and environment  140  20 
other  -    14 
other culture  2  -   
Home help  61  -   

  
total non-recurrent  2,630  4,439 

notes to the Financial Report
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2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

5 Grants (cont.)
Conditions on grants

Grants recognised as revenue during the year that were obtained on condition that they be 
expended in a specified manner that had not occurred at balance date were:

Active recreation  85  866 
Families and children  88  441 
local roads and bridges  -    293 
Business and economic services  -    162 
Maternal and child health  -    135 
planning and development  -    121 
Recreation  12  30 
other  34  19 
Access for all abilities  34  16 
Community health  40  -   
Waste and environment  41  -   

total  334  2,083

Grants recognised as revenue in prior years and were expended during the current year in 
the manner specified by the grantor were:

Waste and environment  -    734 
Community health  -    467 
planning and development  121  64 
Business and economic services  150  42 
Recreation  30  18 
Families and children  441  -   
local roads and bridges  292  -   
Maternal and child health  136  -   
Active recreation  866 -
Access for all abilities  16 -
other  19  0 

 2,071  1,325 
  

Net	increase	(decrease)	in	restricted	assets	resulting	from	grant	revenues	for	the	year:  (1,737)  758

notes to the Financial Report
For the year ended 30 June 2011
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2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

6 contributions
(a) Cash

VicRoads  286  211 
Capital  148  1,475 
other  82  156 
total  516  1,842 

(b) Non-monetary assets
land under roads  -    1,213 
infrastructure  157  3,572 
total  157  4,785 

  
total contributions  673  6,627 

7 net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment
proceeds of sale  252  445 
Write down of assets disposed 	(147) 	(297)
total  105  148 

8 Other income
interest  1,368  1,192 
interest on rates  347  233 
investment property rental  730  1,004 
other rent  1,495  815 
Sale of non plant and equipment  70  51 
legal costs  223  189 
payroll  93  93 
employee  11  12 
Moreland energy Foundation  842  852 
other  505  449 
total other income  5,684  4,890

9 Employee benefits
Wages and salaries  49,643  45,381 
Workcover  2,483  2,292 
Casual staff  582  486 
Annual leave and long service leave  5,222  5,583 
Superannuation  4,517  4,367 
Additional superannuation contributions resulting from actuarial review **  2,703  -   
Fringe benefits tax  153  131 
other employee related costs  1,408  1,304 
Redundancy  321  255 
total employee benefits  67,032  59,799 

** As a consequence of an actuarial review of the Vision Super defined Benefits 
superannuation scheme Council was required to make an additional contribution to the 
fund. Council decided to make this payment in the current reporting period to avoid 
additional costs payable if made at a future date.
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2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

10 materials and services
utilities  2,175  2,149 
Consultants  7,670  8,778 
Works contracts  76  144 
General services  17,531  14,845 
office services and supplies  5,033  5,151 
other supplies  2,262  2,924 
Materials  180  272 
Minor equipment and medical supplies  1,332  1,480 
other related costs  1,818  1,064 
property leases and rentals  400  396 
Metropolitan Fire Brigade levy  1,563  1,517 
Council grants and sponsorships  1,372  1,069 
insurance  1,225  1,419 

  
total materials and services  42,637  41,208 

11 Bad and doubtful debts
parking fine debtors  1,210  1,030 
other debtors  90 	(216)
total bad and doubtful debts  1,300  814 

12 Depreciation and amortisation

Property
Buildings  3,694  3,348 

Plant and Equipment
plant, machinery and equipment  243  290 
Fixtures, fittings and furniture  57  57 
Computers and telecommunications  1,845  1,945 
Motor vehicles  1,504  1,442 
library books  832  752 

Infrastructure
Road surface  2,249  1,983 
Road pavement  2,491  2,837 
Bridges  217  375 
Footpaths and cycleways  2,127  2,509 
drainage  893  1,264 
Kerb and channel  967  1,225 
other infrastructure  2,619  1,284 

total depreciation and amortisation  19,738  19,311
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2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

13 Finance costs
interest – Borrowings  1,528  787 
total finance costs  1,528  787 

14 Other expenses
Auditors’ remuneration  65  65 
Councillors’ allowances  9  7 
de-recognition of drainage assets  -    10,387 
total other expenses  74  10,459 

15 Investment in associates
investments in associates accounted for by the equity method are:
Council’s overall movement in investment in associates for the year was: 	(262)  562 
total  (262)  562 

  
Council’s total share in investment in associates  1,363  1,625 

–  RFK pty ltd trading as Community Chef and Regional Kitchen pty ltd

Background
investments in associates accounted for by the equity method are:
–  RFK pty ltd – Council held a 0.04% share of ownership at balance date
–  Regional Kitchen pty ltd – Council held a 7.55% share of ownership at balance date

RFK	Pty	Ltd	Trading	as	Community	Chef	–	0.04%	(based	on	%	of	total	shares	held)
Council’s share of accumulated surplus (deficit)

Council’s	share	of	accumulated	surplus	(deficit)	at	start	of	year  -    33 
Reported	surplus	(deficit)	for	year  -   	(33)
Council’s	share	of	accumulated	surplus	(deficit)	at	end	of	year  -    -   

Movement in carrying value of specific investment
Carrying value of investment at start of year  -    33 
Share	of	surplus	(deficit)	for	year  -   	(33)
Carrying value of investment at end of year  -    -   

Council’s share of expenditure commitments
operating commitments  -    42 

 -    42 
Background
Council’s share in the ownership in Regional Kitchen pty ltd reduced from 8.89% to 
7.55% due to other Councils acquiring share ownership.
Regional Kitchen pty ltd – 7.55%
Council’s share of accumulated surplus (deficit)

Council’s	share	of	accumulated	surplus	(deficit)	at	start	of	year  1,425  830 
Reported	surplus	(deficit)	for	year 	(18)  595 
Transfers	(to)	from	reserves  -    -   
distributions for the year  -    -   
Council’s	share	of	accumulated	surplus	(deficit)	at	end	of	year  1,407  1,425 
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2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

15 Investment in associates (cont.)
Movement in carrying value of specific investment

Carrying value of investment at start of year  1,625  1,030 
Share	of	surplus	(deficit)	for	year 	(18)  595 
Share	of	asset	revaluation	–	reduction	in	%	of	ownership	(8.89%	to	7.55%)	 	(244)  -   
Carrying value of investment at end of year  1,363  1,625 

Council’s share of expenditure commitments
operating commitments  25  83 
Capital commitments  -    -   

 25  83

16 cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand  13  14 
Cash at bank  2,610   2,494 
Managed funds  44  564 
term deposits  15,352  11,135 
total cash and cash equivalents  18,019 14,207 
users of the financial report should refer to note 31 for details of restrictions on cash 
assets and note 33 for details of existing Council commitments

17 trade and other receivables

Current
Rates debtors  6,066  5,245 
parking infringement debtors  5,600  4,636 
provision for doubtful debts – parking infringements 	(4,290) 	(3,080)
other debtors  2,982  3,469 
provision for doubtful debts – other debtors 	(530) 	(440)
net GSt receivable  842  715 
total  10,670  10,545 

18 Financial assets

Current
term deposits  9,300  8,900 
total  9,300  8,900 

this balance is represented by a term deposit invested with the nAB at a rate of 6.34% 
which matures on 14 March 2012.

19 Inventories
inventories held for distribution  131  155 
total inventories  131  155 

20 Other assets

Current
prepayments  -    25 
Accrued income  255  625 
total  255  650
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2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

21 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 

Summary
at cost  77,571  48,144 
at fair value as at 30 June 2010  1,698,708  1,698,707 
less accumulated depreciation 	(322,579) 	(303,291)
total  1,453,700  1,443,560 

Property
Land
at cost  7,127  1,807 
at fair value as at 30 June 2010  878,884  878,884 

 886,011  880,691 
Land under roads
at Council valuation at 30 June 2010  1,213  1,213 

 1,213  1,213 
  

total Land  887,224  881,904 

Buildings 
at cost  10,316  3,757 
at fair value as at 30 June 2010  130,383  130,383 
less accumulated depreciation 	(3,885) 	(191)
total Buildings  136,814  133,949 

  
total Property  1,024,038  1,015,853 

A revaluation is necessary when the fair value of each revalued class of asset differs 
materially from its carrying amount at balance date. Mr Sam Camilleri, a certified practicing 
valuer of Westlink Consulting, has completed a review of the carrying amount of land 
and building assets as at 30 June 2011. the valuation of buildings is at fair value based 
on current replacement cost less accumulated depreciation at the date of valuation.  
the valuation of land is at fair value, being market value based on highest and best use 
permitted by relevant land planning provisions. All freehold land reserved for public open 
space is valued at a discount of 10 percent to market value based on legal precedents.  
the review methodology included analysis of recent land and building sales to determine 
the movement in values as displayed by the market. Council has accepted the review 
guidance of the valuer, which concluded that the movement in value of Council land and 
Building Assets since the last valuation undertaken at 30 June 2010 is not material.

land under roads is valued at fair value. Fair value is based on Council valuations at 
30 June 2011 for land under roads in existence at that date and at the date acquired 
for	subsequent	acquisitions	using	site	values	adjusted	for	englobo	(undeveloped	and/
or	unserviced)	characteristics,	access	rights	and	private	interests	of	other	parties	and	
entitlements of infrastructure assets and services. Council in its policy on land under 
Roads has agreed not to bring to account the value of land under Roads in existence 
prior to 30 June 2008.
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2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

21 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (cont)

Plant and equipment

Motor vehicles
at cost  13,399  12,962 
less accumulated depreciation 	(7,690) 	(6,623)

 5,709  6,339 
Plant and equipment
at cost  3,247  2,974 
less accumulated depreciation 	(2,054) 	(1,825)

 1,193  1,149 
furniture and fittings
at cost  1,654  1,612 
less accumulated depreciation 	(1,367) 	(1,310)

 287  302 
Computer equipment
at cost  14,077  13,351 
less accumulated depreciation 	(11,431) 	(9,586)

 2,646  3,765 
Library books
at cost  9,797  8,969 
less accumulated depreciation 	(5,804) 	(4,972)

 3,993  3,997 
Artworks
at cost  698  690 
less accumulated depreciation  -    -   

 698  690 
  

total Plant and equipment  14,526  16,242 

infrastructure

road surface
at cost  1,441  -   
at fair value as at 30 June 2010  80,320  80,320 
less accumulated depreciation 	(9,696) 	(7,447)

 72,065  72,873 
road pavement
at cost  505  -   
at fair value as at 30 June 2010  275,596  275,596 
less accumulated depreciation 	(114,190) 	(111,699)

 161,911  163,897 
Drains
at cost  1,787  -   
at fair value as at 30 June 2010  88,957  88,957 
less accumulated depreciation 	(40,331) 	(39,438)

 50,413  49,519 
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2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

21 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (cont)

footpaths
at cost  2,152  -   
at fair value as at 30 June 2010  94,097  94,097 
less accumulated depreciation 	(39,195) 	(37,068)

 57,054  57,029 
Kerb and channel
at cost  1,019  -   
at fair value as at 30 June 2010  75,952  75,952 
less accumulated depreciation 	(46,457) 	(45,490)

 30,514  30,462 
Bridges
at cost  56  -   
at fair value as at 30 June 2010  17,618  17,618 
less accumulated depreciation 	(5,064) 	(4,847)

 12,610  12,771 
Other structures
at cost  2,682  -   
at fair value as at 30 June 2010  55,688  55,688 
less accumulated depreciation 	(35,415) 	(32,796)

 22,955  22,892 
total infrastructure 407,522  409,443 

A fair value analysis of infrastructure has been conducted as at 30 June 2011. this 
process	was	co-ordinated	by	Mr	George	Stefanidis,	B.Eng	(Civil),	Senior	Assets	Engineer	
and	reviewed	by	Mr	Grant	Thorne,	B.Eng	(Civil),	Graduate	Diploma	in	Management,	
Manager engineering and transport. the result of this process indicated that the 
movement in indices had not materially affected the carrying amounts disclosed.  
therefore the movement in value of Council infrastructure Assets since the last valuation, 
undertaken at 30 June 2010 is not material.

the valuation is at fair value based on replacement cost less accumulated depreciation as 
at the date of valuation.

Works in progress
Buildings at cost  5,520  1,231 
infrastructure at cost  1,439  526 
other plant and equipment at cost  655  265 
total Works in progress  7,614  2,022 

  
total property, infrastructure, plant and equipment  1,453,700  1,443,560
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21 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (cont.)

Balance at 
beginning 

of financial 
year

Acquisition 
of assets

revaluation 
increments 

(decrements)

Depreciation 
and 

amortisation 

Written 
down value 

of disposals

impairment 
losses 

recognised 
in profit or 

loss

transfers / 
Movements 

between 
asset type

Balance 
at end of 
financial 

year

note 27 (a) note 12

2011 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Property
land  880,691  5,320  -    -    -    -    -    886,011 
land under roads  1,213  -    -    -    -    -    -    1,213 
total land  881,904  5,320  -    -    -    -    -    887,224 

buildings  133,949  6,559  -    3,694  -    -    -    136,814 
total buildings  133,949  6,559  -    3,694  -    -    -    136,814 
total property 1,015,853  11,879  -    3,694  -    -    -   1,024,038 

Plant and Equipment
motor vehicles  6,339  1,011  -    1,504  137  -    -    5,709 
plant and equipment  1,149  295  -    243  8  -    -    1,193 
furniture and fittings  302  42  -    57  -    -    -    287 
computer equipment  3,765  726  -    1,845  -    -    -    2,646 
library books  3,997  828  -    832  -    -    -    3,993 
artworks  690  8  -    -    -    -    -    698 
total plant and equipment  16,242  2,910  -    4,481  145  -    -    14,526 

Infrastructure
road surface  72,873  1,441  -    2,249  -    -    -    72,065 
road pavement  163,897  505  -    2,491  -    -    -    161,911 
drains  49,519  1,787  -    893  -    -    -    50,413 
footpaths  57,029  2,152  -    2,127  -    -    -    57,054 
kerb and channel  30,462  1,019  -    967  -    -    -    30,514 
bridges/retaining	walls  12,771  56  -    217  -    -    -    12,610 
other structures  22,892  2,682  -    2,619  -    -    -    22,955 
total infrastructure  409,443  9,642  -    11,563  -    -    -    407,522 

Works in progress
buildings  1,231  -    -    -    -    -    4,289  5,520 
motor vehicles  175  -    -    -    -    -    285  460 
plant and equipment  48  -    -    -    -    -    100  148 
computer equipment  42  -    -    -    -    -   	(1)  41 
infrastructure  224  -    -    -    -    -    334  558 
other structures  302  -    -    -    -    -    579  881 
artworks  -    -    -    -    -    -    6  6 
total works in progress  2,022  -    -    -    -    -    5,592  7,614 

total property, plant 
and equipment, 
infrastructure

 
1,443,560  24,431  -    19,738  145  -    5,592 

 
1,453,700



87

O
verview

O
p

eratio
ns

P
erfo

rm
ance

F
inancials

MoRelAnd City CounCil AnnuAl RepoRt 2011

notes to the Financial Report
For the year ended 30 June 2011

21 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (cont.)

Balance at 
beginning 

of financial 
year

Acquisition 
of assets/
Developer 

assets

revaluation 
increments 

(decrements)

Depreciation 
and 

amortisation 

Written 
down value 

of disposals

impairment 
gains 

(losses) 
recognised 
in profit or 

loss

transfers / 
Movements 

between 
asset type

Balance 
at end of 
financial 

year

note 27 (a) note 12

2010 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Property
land 715,898 1,816 149,882  -    -    -   13,095 880,691 
land under roads  -   1,213  -    -    -    -    -   1,213 
total land 715,898 3,029 149,882  -    -    -   13,095 881,904 

buildings 101,163 6,597 29,612 3,348 75  -    -   133,949 
total buildings 101,163 6,597 29,612 3,348 75  -    -   133,949 
total property 817,061 9,626 179,494 3,348 75  -   13,095 1,015,853 

Plant and Equipment
motor vehicles 6,244 1,706  -   1,442 169  -    -   6,339 
plant and equipment 1,242 202  -   290 5  -    -   1,149 
furniture and fittings 336 23  -   57  -    -    -   302 
computer equipment 5,111 599  -   1,945  -    -    -   3,765 
library books 3,946 803  -   752  -    -    -   3,997 
artworks 681 9  -    -    -    -    -   690 
total plant and equipment 17,560 3,342  -   4,486 174  -    -   16,242 

Infrastructure
road surface  28,750  1,989  44,117  1,983  -    -    -   72,873 
road pavement  154,037  1,790  10,907  2,837  -    -    -   163,897 
drains  71,012  2,627 	(12,469)  1,264  -   	(10,387)  -   49,519 
footpaths  44,590  4,695  10,253  2,509  -    -    -   57,029 
kerb and channel  46,041  855 	(15,209)  1,225  -    -    -   30,462 
bridges/retaining	walls  8,839  640  3,667  375  -    -    -   12,771 
other structures  14,458  2,140  7,578  1,284  -    -    -   22,892 
total infrastructure  367,727  14,736  48,844  11,477  -   	(10,387)  -    409,443 

Works in progress
buildings  270  -    -    -    -    -    961 1,231 
motor vehicles  -    -    -    -    -    -    175 175 
plant and equipment  -    -    -    -    -    -    48 48 
computer equipment  13  -    -    -    -    -    29 42 
infrastructure  -    -    -    -    -    -    224 224 
other structures  155  -    -    -    -    -    147 302 
artworks  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   0 
total works in progress  438  -    -    -    -    -    1,584  2,022 

total property, plant 
and equipment, 
infrastructure

 
1,202,786  27,704  228,338  19,311  249 	(10,387)  14,679 

 
1,443,560 

(a) Impairment losses
Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement under other expenses.  
Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in the income statement under other revenue.
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2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

22 Investment property
Balance at beginning of financial year  24,266  11,720 
Acquisitions  -    12,181 
disposals  -    -   
Fair value adjustments  894  365 
Balance at end of financial year  25,160  24,266 

independent valuations of investment properties were performed at 30 June 2011 by Mr 
Brendan	Sheales	(AAPI),	Mr	Heath	Bedford	(AAPI)	and	Mr	Sam	Camilleri	(AAPI),	certified	
practicing valuers of Westlink Consulting who have recent experience in the location and 
category of the property being valued. information required from Council was provided.

23 trade and other payables
trade payables  6,846  7,468 
Accrued expenses  6,266  5,120 
total trade and other payables  13,112  12,588 

24 trust funds and deposits
Refundable planning deposits  311  346 
trust funds  575  559 
Refundable civic facilities deposits  40  32 
Retention amounts  101  53 
other refundable deposits  194  112 
total trust funds and deposits  1,221  1,102 

Council currently maintains separate and distinct trust Funds for the Gavin environment 
trust, the Blackburn Bequest trust and the inner Circle linear trust. these funds are held 
and administered in accordance with the trust deed arrangements.
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25 Provisions

Annual 
leave

Long 
service 

leave
Service 
Gratuity Other total

2011 $ ‘000       $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000
Balance at beginning of the financial year  4,576  10,185  36  20  14,817 
Additional provisions  3,836  1,522  1  23  5,382 
Amounts used 	(3,484) 	(1,143) 	(3) 	(13) 	(4,643)
Increase	(decrease)	in	the	discounted	amount	
arising because of time and the effect of any 
change in the discount rate 	(20) 	(5)  -    -   	(25)
Balance at the end of the financial year  4,908  10,559  34  30  15,531 

2010
Balance at beginning of the financial year  4,507  8,903  60  9  13,479 
Additional provisions  3,735  2,396  1  20  6,152 
Amounts used 	(3,590) 	(1,106) 	(25) 	(9) 	(4,730)
Increase	(decrease)	in	the	discounted	amount	
arising because of time and the effect of any 
change in the discount rate 	(76) 	(8)  -    -   	(84)
Balance at the end of the financial year  4,576  10,185  36  20  14,817 

2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

(a) employee benefits

Current                    	(i)
Annual leave  4,908  4,576 
long service leave  9,637  9,345 
Service gratuity  34  36 
other  30  20 

 14,609  13,977 
Non-current            	(ii)	
long service leave  922  840 

 922  840 
Aggregate carrying amount of employee benefits:
Current  14,609  13,977 
non-current  922  840 

 15,531  14,817 

the following assumptions were adopted in measuring the present value of employee benefits:
Weighted average increase in employee costs 4.60% 4.48%
Weighted average discount rates 5.28% 5.16%
Weighted average settlement period  12  12 

(i) Current
All annual leave and the long service leave entitlements representing 10 or more years of continuous service
– Short-term employee benefits, that fall due within 12 months after the end of the 

period measured at nominal value  4,643  4,730 
– other long-term employee benefits that do not fall due within 12 months after the end 

of the period measured at present value  9,966   9,247 
 14,609  13,977 

(ii) Non-current
long service leave representing less than 10 years of continuous service measured at 
present value  922  840
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$’000
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$’000

26 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

Current
Borrowings – secured  1,443  402 

 1,443  402 
Non-current   
Borrowings – secured  27,288  19,907 

  
total  28,731  20,309 

the maturity profile for Council’s borrowings is:

not later than one year  1,443  402 
later than one year and not later than five years  5,909  2,956 
later than five years  21,379  16,951 
total  28,731  20,309 

Aggregate carrying amount of interest-bearing loans and borrowings:

Current  1,443  402 
non-current  27,288  19,907 
total interest-bearing loans and borrowings  28,731  20,309 

loans with the Westpac, nAB and AnZ Banks have been secured by a claim on future 
municipal rate receipts up to an amount equal to the outstanding value of the debt at the 
time of any loan default.

the Westpac loan is a 20 year variable rate loan set at a 5.18% interest rate at balance 
date. interest and principal payments are being made on a monthly basis. this loan, 
which had an original maturity date of 28 november 2026, is considerably ahead of that 
scheduled repayment date. its closing balance at 30 June 2011 was $7.72M.

the nAB loan is a 20 year variable rate principal and interest loan set at a 6.59% interest 
rate at balance date. this loan commenced on 24 August 2010. its closing balance at 30 
June 2011 was $6.86M.

the first of two loans with the AnZ bank is a four year fixed rate principal and interest loan 
set	at	a	6.58%	interest	rate	($9.15M).	The	second	loan	is	a	10	year	fixed	rate	principal	and	
interest	loan	set	at	a	7.3%	interest	rate	($5M).		Both	of	these	loan	commenced	on	24	June	
2011. these AnZ loans largely refinanced an interest only loan with the nAB that existed 
as at 30 June 2010.
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27 Reserves

Balance at 
beginning 

of reporting 
period

increment 
(decrement)

Share of 
increment 

(decrement) on 
revaluation by 

an associate

Balance at  
end of 

reporting 
period

(a) Asset revaluation surplus $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2011

Property
land  659,612  -    -    659,612 
Buildings  72,819  -    -    72,819 

 732,431  -    -    732,431 
infrastructure
Road surface  70,019  -    -    70,019 
Road pavement  102,666  -    -    102,666 
Bridges  9,830  -    -    9,830 
Footpaths  38,365  -    -    38,365 
drainage  22,852  -    -    22,852 
Kerb and channel  17,690  -    -    17,690 
other structures  11,900  -    -    11,900 

 273,322  -    -    273,322 
 

total asset revaluation surplus  1,005,753  -    -    1,005,753 

2010

Property
land  509,730  149,882  -    659,612 
Buildings  43,207  29,612  -    72,819 

 552,937  179,494  -    732,431 
infrastructure
Road surface  25,902  44,117  -    70,019 
Road pavement  91,759  10,907  -    102,666 
Bridges  6,163  3,667  -    9,830 
Footpaths  28,112  10,253  -    38,365 
drainage  35,321 	(12,469)  -    22,852 
Kerb and channel  32,899 	(15,209)  -    17,690 
other structures  4,322  7,578  -    11,900 

 224,478  48,844  -    273,322 
 

total asset revaluation surplus  777,415  228,338  -    1,005,753 

this reserve shows the overall net increase in land, buildings and infrastructure assets as a result of revaluations applied 
over time. Revaluation increments are credited directly to the asset revaluation surplus except to the extent that an 
increment reverses a prior year decrement for that class of asset that had been recognised as an expense in which 
case the increment is recognised as revenue up to the amount of the expense. 
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27 Reserves (cont.)
Balance at 
beginning 

of reporting 
period

transfer from 
accumulated 

surplus

transfer to 
accumulated 

surplus

Balance at  
end of 

reporting 
period

(b) Other reserves $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2011

public resort and recreation land fund 
(Restricted)  6,458  4,804 	(3,498)  7,764 
Car	Park	development	fund	(Restricted)  5  -    -    5 
Barkly	Street	traffic	management	(Restricted)  17  -    -    17 
Moreland open space strategy  343  -    -    343 
Housing strategy  667  -   	(53)  614 
Moreland energy management reserve fund  353  -    -    353 
Moonee ponds Creek development  443  -    -    443 

 
total Other reserves  8,286  4,804  (3,551)  9,539 

2010

public resort and recreation land fund 
(Restricted)  10,347  3,468 	(7,357)  6,458 
Car	Park	development	fund	(Restricted)  5  -    -    5 
Barkly	Street	traffic	management	(Restricted)  17  -    -    17 
Moreland open space strategy  343  -    -    343 
Housing strategy  667  -    -    667 
Moreland energy management reserve fund  353  -    -    353 
Moonee ponds Creek development  443  -    -    443 

 
total Other reserves  12,175  3,468  (7,357)  8,286 

the public resort and recreation land fund accumulates developers contributions paid to Council and is used to provide 
or improve recreation land and facilities.

the Car park development fund provides funding for new car parks and car park redevelopment.

the Barkly Street traffic management fund provides funding for traffic management in Barkly Street.

the Moreland open space strategy provides funds to improve and increase the availability of open space in the 
municipality.

the Housing strategy provides funds for the purchase of community housing projects along with other housing 
initiatives.

the Moreland energy management reserve fund provides funds for the evaluation of energy consuming fixtures and 
equipment within Council buildings and their replacement with more efficient items.

the Moonee ponds Creek development provides funds for the revitalisation of the Moonee ponds Creek required 
because of freeway and Citylink works. 
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$’000

2010 
$’000

28 Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities to surplus or deficit

Surplus/(deficit)  4,911  12,253 

Depreciation/amortisation  19,737  19,311 
(Profit)/loss	on	disposal	of	property,	plant	and	equipment,	infrastructure 	(105) 	(148)
Movement in investment in associates  262 	(562)
Fair value adjustments for investment property 	(894) 	(365)
Contributions – non-monetary assets 	(157) 	(4,785)
de-recognition of drainage assets  -    10,387 
land asset identified  -   	(13,095)
(Decrease)/Increase	in	provision	for	doubtful	debts  1,300  727 

Change in assets and liabilities:
(Increase)/decrease	in	trade	and	other	receivables 	(1,052)  101 
(Increase)/decrease	in	prepayments  25 	(26)
Increase/(decrease)	in	trade	and	other	payables  2,049  1,827 
(Increase)/decrease	in	inventories  24 	(2)
(Decrease)	in	provisions  713  1,338 

  
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities  26,813  26,961 

29 Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
Cash	and	cash	equivalents	(see	note	16)  18,019  14,207 
total reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents  18,019  14,207 

30 Financing arrangements
Bank overdraft  4,000  4,000 
used facilities  -    -   

  
unused facilities  4,000  4,000 

31 Restricted assets
Council	has	cash	and	cash	equivalents	(note	16)	that	are	subject	to	restrictions.	As	at	
the reporting date, Council had legislative restrictions in relation to employee entitlements 
(Long	Service	Leave)	and	reserve	funds	(Recreational	Lands	Reserves).

Long	service	leave	(note	25)  9,496  9,176 
Reserve	funds	(note	27)  7,786  6,480 
total restricted assets  17,282  15,656 

* Restricted asset for long service leave is based on the Local Government (Long 
Service Leave) Regulations 2002 and does not necessarily equate to the long service 
leave liability disclosed in note 25 due to a different basis of calculation prescribed by 
the regulation.
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32 superannuation

Post-employment Benefit

Moreland City Council makes employer superannuation contributions in respect of its employees to the local 
Authorities	Superannuation	Fund	(the	Fund).	Obligations for contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or loss 
when they are due. the Fund has two categories of membership, accumulation and defined benefit, each of which is 
funded differently.

the Fund’s accumulation category, Vision Super Saver, receives both employer and employee contributions on a 
progressive	basis.	Employer	contributions	are	normally	based	on	a	fixed	percentage	of	employee	earnings	(9%	required	
under	Superannuation	Guarantee	Legislation).	No	further	liability	accrues	to	the	employer	as	the	superannuation	
benefits accruing to employees are represented by their share of the net assets of the Fund.

Defined Benefit Plan

the Fund’s defined Benefit plan is a multi-employer sponsored plan. As the plan’s assets and liabilities are pooled and 
are not allocated by employer, the Actuary is unable to reliably allocate benefit liabilities, assets and costs between 
employers.	As	provided	under	Paragraph	32	(b)	of	AASB	119,	Moreland	City	Council	does	not	use	defined	benefit	
accounting for these contributions.

Moreland City Council makes employer contributions to the defined benefit category of the Fund at rates determined by 
the trustee on the advice of the Fund’s Actuary. on the basis of the results of the most recent full actuarial investigation 
conducted by the Fund’s Actuary as at 31 december 2008, Moreland City Council makes the following contributions:

–	 9.25%	of	members’	salaries	(same	as	previous	year)
– the difference between resignation and retrenchment benefits paid to any retrenched employees, plus contribution 

tax	(same	as	previous	year)

The	Fund	surplus	or	deficit	(ie	the	difference	between	fund	assets	and	liabilities)	is	calculated	differently	for	funding	
purposes	(ie	calculating	required	contributions)	and	for	the	calculation	of	accrued	benefits	as	required	in	AAS	25	to	
provide the values needed for the AASB 119 disclosure in Council’s financial statements. AAS 25 requires that the 
present value of the defined benefit liability be calculated based on benefits that have accrued in respect of membership 
of the plan up to the measurement date, with no allowance for future benefits that may accrue.

Following an actuarial review conducted in late 2010, as at 31 december 2008, a funding shortfall of $71 million for 
the Fund was determined. A call to employers for additional contributions was made for the financial year 30 June 
2011. A further actuarial review will be undertaken as at 31 december 2011 by mid 2012. Based on the result of this 
review, a detailed funding plan will be developed and implemented to achieve the target of fully funding the Fund by 31 
december 2013. the Moreland City Council will be notified of any additional required contributions by late 2012.  

Accounting Standard Disclosure 
the Fund’s liability for accrued benefits was determined by the Actuary at 31 december 2008 pursuant to the 
requirements of Australian Accounting Standard AAS25 follows: 

31-Dec-08
$’000

net Market Value of Assets 3,630,432
Accrued Benefits 3,616,422
difference between Assets and Accrued Benefits 14,010
Vested	Benefits	(Minimum	sum	that	must	be	paid	to	members	when	they	leave	the	fund) 3,561,588

the financial assumptions used to calculate the Accrued Benefits for the defined benefit category of the Fund were:
net investment Return 8.50% p.a.
Salary inflation 4.25% p.a.
price inflation 2.75% p.a.
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2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

32 superannuation (cont.)

Employer	contributions	to	Local	Authorities	Superannuation	Fund	(Vision	Super)  4,467  4,141 

Employer	contributions	payable	to	Local	Authorities	Superannuation	Fund	(Vision	Super)	at	
reporting date  -    -   

Defined benefits fund
Employer	contributions	to	Local	Authorities	Superannuation	Fund	(Vision	Super)  985  1,033 

 985  1,033 
Employer	contributions	payable	to	Local	Authorities	Superannuation	Fund	(Vision	Super)	at	
reporting date  -    -   

 -    -   
Accumulation funds
Employer	contributions	to	Local	Authorities	Superannuation	Fund	(Vision	Super)  2,741  2,529 
employer contributions to Vision Super for disbursement to other super funds  741  579 

 3,482  3,108 
Employer	contributions	payable	to	Local	Authorities	Superannuation	Fund	(Vision	Super)	 
at reporting date  -    -   

employer contributions payable to Vision Super for disbursement to other super funds at 
reporting date  -    -   

 -    -   
Contingent Liability
due to fluctuations in the value of assets underlying the fund and movements in the 
liabilities of the fund Council may be required to make an additional contribution to the 
fund. At this point in time the amount, and the likelihood of payment is not certain. Further 
detail of this matter is disclosed at note 35 – Contingent liabilities and contingent assets 
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33 commitments
the Council has entered into the following commitments

2011
Not later 

than 1 year

Later than 1 
year and not 

later than  
2 years

Later than 
2 years and 

not later 
than  

5 years
Later than  

5 years total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Operating
Garbage collection  6,104  6,350  21,482  8,063  41,999 
Administration  488  441  -    -    929 
Cleaning contracts for council buildings  862  -    -    -    862 
leisure centres  60  -    -    -    60 
it systems support  1,325  1,327  2,661  -    5,313 
Recycling  215  -    -    -    215 
Social services  60  -    -    -    60 
Consultancies  91  -    -    -    91 
total  9,205  8,118  24,143  8,063  49,529 

Capital
Works  84  -    -    -    84 
total  84  -    -    -    84 

2010
Not later 

than 1 year

Later than 1 
year and not 

later than  
2 years

Later than 
2 years and 

not later 
than  

5 years
Later than  

5 years total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Operating
Garbage collection  5,269  5,030  -    -    10,299 
Administration  1,591  476  441  -    2,508 
Cleaning contracts for council buildings  648  134  -    -    782 
leisure centres  247  -    -    -    247 
it systems support  1,322  1,325  3,988  -    6,635 
Recycling  955  578  -    -    1,533 
Social services  61  20  -    -    81 
total  10,093  7,563  4,429  -    22,085 

Capital
Consultancies  61  -    -    -    61 
Works  2,341  215  -    -    2,556 
total  2,402  215  -    -    2,617
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2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

34 Operating leases

(a) Operating lease commitments
At the reporting date, Council had the following obligations under non-cancellable 
operating leases for the lease of equipment and land and buildings for use within Council’s 
activities	(these	obligations	are	not	recognised	as	liabilities):

not later than one year  414  439 
later than one year and not later than five years  1,415  -   
later than five years 472  -   

 2,301  439 
(b) Operating lease receivables

the Council has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property, 
consisting of surplus freehold office complexes. these properties held under operating 
leases have remaining non-cancellable lease terms of between one and 10 years. All 
leases include a Cpi based revision of the rental charge annually.

Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

not later than one year  1,745  1,882 
later than one year and not later than five years  5,489  5,685 
later than five years  1,063  1,059 

 8,297  8,626 

35 contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Contingent liabilities

the Council is presently involved in several confidential legal matters, which are being 
conducted through Council’s solicitors.  

As these matters are yet to be finalised, and the financial outcomes are unable to be reliably 
estimated, no allowance for these contingencies has been made in the financial report.

Council has obligations under a defined benefit superannuation scheme that may result in 
the need to make additional contributions to the scheme to ensure that the liabilities of the 
fund are covered by the assets of the fund. As a result of the increased volatility in financial 
markets the likelihood of making such contributions in future periods has increased.  At 
this point in time it is not known if additional contributions will be required, their timing or 
potential amount.

on 25 July 1994, Council entered into a Guarantee and indemnity with the Australian and 
new Zealand Banking Group limited and Basketball Stadiums Victoria Co-operative ltd 
trading as Sports Stadiums Victoria, for a bank loan for the purposes of building a new 
basketball stadium at Coburg on land leased from Council which is valued in excess of 
the contingent liability. the balance of that part of the loan guaranteed by Council, as at 30 
June 2011 was $760,000 and therefore a contingent liability exists for this amount. 

Guarantees for loans to other entities  760  800 

Contingent assets

As at 30 June 2011 there where no Contingent Assets identified by Council.
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36 Financial Instruments
(a) Accounting Policy, terms and conditions

recognised  
financial 
instruments

note Accounting policy terms and Conditions

financial assets
Cash and cash 
equivalents

16 Cash on hand and at bank and money market 
call account are valued at face value.

on call deposits returned a floating 
interest rate based on the daily 11am 
return. the interest rate at balance date 
was	4.65%		(4.4%	in	2009–2010).

interest is recognised as it accrues. term deposits provided an average 
return of 5.83% for the period invested.  
Funds held in term deposits in 2009–
2010 provided an average return of 
5.14% for the period invested.

investments and bills are valued at cost. Managed fund provided return of 
1.78%	(4.06%	in	2009–2010)	excluding	
unrealised	gains/losses

investments are held to maximise interest 
returns of surplus cash.
interest revenues are recognised as they 
accrue. 
Managed funds are measured at market value.

trade and other receivables
Other debtors 17 Receivables are carried at amortised cost 

using the effective interest method. A provision 
for doubtful debts is recognised when there is 
objective evidence that an impairment loss has 
occurred. Collectability of overdue accounts is 
assessed on an ongoing basis.

General debtors are unsecured and 
interest free at this time. Credit terms are 
usually up to 60 days.

financial Liabilities
trade and other 
payables

23 liabilities are recognised for amounts to be 
paid in the future for goods and services 
provided to Council as at balance date 
whether or not invoices have been received.

General Creditors are unsecured, not 
subject to interest charges and are 
normally settled within 21 days from end 
of month of invoice receipt.

interest-bearing 
loans and 
borrowings

26 loans are carried at their principal amounts, 
which represent the present value of future 
cash flows associated with servicing the debt. 
interest is accrued over the period it becomes 
due and recognised as part of payables.

Finance leases are accounted for at their 
principal amount with the lease payments 
discounted to present value using the interest 
rates implicit in the leases.

Borrowings are secured by way of 
mortgages over the general rates of the 
Council. the weighted average interest 
rate	on	borrowings	is	6.03%	(4.61%	in	
2009–2010).

As at balance date, the Council had no 
finance leases.

Bank overdraft overdrafts are recognised at the principal 
amount. interest is charged as an expense  
as it accrues.

the overdraft is subject to annual 
review. it is secured by a mortgage over 
Council’s general rates and is repayable 
on demand. the overdraft interest rate 
at	balance	date	was	10.49%	(10.24%	in	
2009–2010).
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36 Financial instruments (cont.)
(b) Interest Rate Risk

the exposure to interest rate risk and the effective interest rates of financial assets and financial liabilities, both 
recognised and unrecognised, at balance date are as follows:

2011 fixed interest maturing in:
floating 
interest  

rate
1 year  
or less

Over  
1 to 5  
years

More than  
5 years

Non-
interest 
bearing total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents  44  17,962  -    -    13  18,019 
Financial assets  -    9,300  -    -    -    9,300 
trade and other receivables   -    -    -    2,452  2,452 
total financial assets  44  27,262  -    -    2,465  29,771 

Weighted average interest rate 1.78% 5.14%

Financial liabilities
trade and other payables  -    -    -    -    13,112  13,112 
trust funds and deposits  575  -    -    -    646  1,221 
interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings  14,581  -    -    14,150  -    28,731 
total financial liabilities  15,156  -    -    14,150  13,758  43,064 

Weighted average interest rate 5.99% 6.83%
      

Net	financial	assets	(liabilities) 	(15,113)  27,262  -   	(14,150) 	(11,292) 	(13,293)

2010 fixed interest maturing in:
floating 
interest 

rate
1 year  
or less

Over  
1 to 5  
years

More than  
5 years

Non-
interest 
bearing total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents  564  13,630  -    -    13  14,207 
Financial assets  -    8,900  -    -    -    8,900 
trade and other receivables  -    -    -    -    3,029  3,029 
other assets  -    -    -    -    -    -   
total financial assets  564  22,530  -    -    3,042  26,136 

Weighted average interest rate 4.06% 5.14%

Financial liabilities
trade and other payables  -    -    -    -    12,588  12,588 
trust funds and deposits  559  -    -    -    543  1,102 
interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings  20,309  -    -    -    -    20,309 
total financial liabilities  20,868  -    -    -    13,131  33,999 

Weighted average interest rate 4.61%
      

Net	financial	assets	(liabilities) 	(20,304)  22,530  -    -   	(10,089) 	(7,863)
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36 Financial Instruments (cont.)

(c) Net fair values
the aggregate net fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, both recognised and unrecognised, at balance 
date are as follows:

financial instruments
total carrying amount as 

per Balance Sheet
Aggregate net  

fair value
2011 2010 2011 2010
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 18,019 14,207 18,019 14,207
Financial assets 9,300 8,900 9,300 8,900
trade and other receivables 2,452 3,029 2,452 3,029
Total financial assets 29,771 26,136 29,771 26,136

Financial liabilities
trade and other payables 13,112 12,588 13,112 12,588
trust funds and deposits 1,221 1,102 1,221 1,102
interest-bearing loans and borrowings 28,731 20,308 28,731 20,308
Total financial liabilities 43,064 33,998 43,064 33,998

(d) Credit risk
the maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date in relation to each class of recognised financial  
asset is represented by the carrying amount of those assets as indicated in the Balance Sheet.

(e) risks and mitigation
the risks associated with our main financial instruments and our policies for minimising these risks are detailed below.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of our financial instruments will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices. the Council’s exposures to market risk are primarily through interest rate risk with only 
insignificant exposure to other price risks and no exposure to foreign currency risk. Components of market risk to 
which we are exposed are discussed on the following page.
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36 Financial Instruments (cont.)

(e) risks and mitigation (cont.)

Interest rate risk
interest rate risk refers to the risk that the value of a financial instrument or cash flows associated with the instrument 
will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. interest rate risk arises from interest bearing financial assets and 
liabilities that we use. non derivative interest bearing assets are predominantly short term liquid assets. our interest rate 
liability risk arises primarily from long term loans and borrowings at fixed rates which exposes us to fair value interest 
rate risk.

our loan borrowings are sourced from major Australian banks by a tender process. Finance leases are sourced from 
major Australian financial institutions. overdrafts are arranged with major Australian banks. We manage interest rate risk 
on our net debt portfolio by:
– ensuring access to diverse sources of funding;
– reducing risks of refinancing by managing in accordance with target maturity profiles; and,
– setting prudential limits on interest repayments as a percentage of rate revenue.

We manage the interest rate exposure on our debt portfolio by appropriate budgeting strategies and obtaining approval 
for borrowings from the department of planning and Community development each year.

investment of surplus funds is made with approved financial institutions under the Local Government Act 1989. We 
manage interest rate risk by adopting an investment policy that ensures:
– conformity with State and Federal regulations and standards;
– capital protection;
– appropriate liquidity;
– diversification by credit rating, financial institution and investment product;
– monitoring of return on investment; and,
–  benchmarking of returns and comparison with budget.

Maturity will be staggered to provide for interest rate variations and to minimise interest rate risk.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a contracting entity will not complete its obligations under a financial instrument and cause 
us to make a financial loss. We have exposure to credit risk on some financial assets included in our balance sheet. to 
help manage this risk:
– we have a policy for establishing credit limits for the entities we deal with; 
– we may require collateral where appropriate; and,
– we only invest surplus funds with financial institutions that have a recognised credit rating specified in our investment 

policy.

trade and other receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across the consumer, business and 
government sectors. Credit risk associated with the Council’s financial assets is minimal because the main debtor is 
the Victorian Government. Apart from the Victorian Government we do not have any significant credit risk exposure 
to a single customer or groups of customers. ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition of our 
customers and, where appropriate, an allowance for doubtful debts is raised.

We may also be subject to credit risk for transactions that are not included in the balance sheet, such as when we 
provide a guarantee for another party. details of our contingent liabilities are disclosed in note 35.
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2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

36 Financial Instruments (cont.)

(e) risks and mitigation (cont.)

Movement in Provisions for Doubtful Debts

Balance at the beginning of the year 440 743
new provisions recognised during the year 152 10
Amounts already provided for and written off as uncollectible 0 -87
Amounts provided for but recovered during the year -62 -226
Balance at end of year 530 440

Ageing of trade and Other receivables
At balance date other debtors representing financial assets were past due but not impaired. these amounts relate to a 
number of independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default. the ageing of the Council’s trade and 
other Receivables was:

Current	(not	yet	due)  1,610  2,148 
past due by up to 30 days  403  225 
past due between 31 and 90 days  252  112 
past due by more than 90 days  187  544 
total trade and other Receivables  2,452  3,029 

Ageing of individually impaired trade and Other receivables
At	balance	date,	other	debtors	representing	financial	assets	with	a	nominal	value	of	$706,091	(2010:	$777,073)	were	
impaired.	The	amount	of	the	provision	raised	against	these	debtors	was	$530,389	(2010:	$439,690).	The	individually	
impaired debtors relate to general and sundry debtor and have been impaired as a result of their doubtful collection. 
Many of the long outstanding past due amounts have been lodged with Council’s debt collectors or are on payment 
arrangements.

the ageing of trade and other Receivables that have been individually determined as impaired at reporting date was:

Current	(not	yet	due)  -  - 
past due by up to 30 days  -  - 
past due between 31 and 90 days  -    250 
past due by more than 90 days  706  527 
total trade & other Receivables  706  777 
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36 Financial Instruments (cont.)

(e) risks and mitigation (cont.)

Liquidity risk
liquidity risk includes the risk that, as a result of our operational liquidity requirements:
– we will not have sufficient funds to settle a transaction on the date;
– we will be forced to sell financial assets at a value that is less than what they are worth; or,
– we may be unable to settle or recover a financial assets at all.

to help reduce these risks we:
– have a liquidity policy that targets a minimum and average level of cash and cash equivalents to be maintained;
– have readily accessible standby facilities and other funding arrangements in place;
– have a liquidity portfolio structure that requires surplus funds to be invested within various bands of liquid 

instruments;
– monitor budget to actual performance on a regular basis; and,
– set limits on borrowings relating to the percentage of loans to rate revenue and percentage of loan principal 

repayments to rate revenue.

Council’s exposure to liquidity risk is deemed insignificant based on prior periods’ data and current assessment of risk.

the table below lists the contractual maturities for Financial liabilities

these amounts represent undiscounted gross payments including both principal and interest amounts

2011

6 mths
or less

$’000

6–12
months

$’000

1–2
years
$’000

2–5
years
$’000

>5
years
$’000

Contracted
Cash flow

$’000

Carrying
Amount

$’000
trade and other 
payables  13,112  -  -    -  -  13,112  13,112 
trust funds and 
deposits  322  193  129  -  606  1,250  1,221 
interest-bearing loans 
and borrowings  1,656  1,638  3,223  15,631  21,111  43,259  28,731 
total financial liabilities  15,090  1,831  3,352  15,631  21,717  57,621  43,064 

2010

6 mths
or less

$’000

6–12
months

$’000

1–2
years
$’000

2–5
years
$’000

>5
years
$’000

Contracted
Cash flow

$’000

Carrying
Amount

$’000
trade and other 
payables  12,588  -    -  -  -    12,588  12,588 
trust funds and 
deposits  271  163  109  -  589  1,132  1,102 
interest-bearing loans 
and borrowings  768  768  1,536  4,608  22,759  30,439  20,308 
total financial liabilities  13,627  931  1,645  4,608  23,348  44,159  33,998
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36 Financial Instruments (cont.)

(f) sensitivity disclosure analysis
taking into account past performance, future expectations, economic forecasts, and management’s knowledge and 
experience of the financial markets, Council believes the following movements are ‘reasonably possible’ over the next 
12	months	(Base	rates	are	sourced	from	Reserve	Bank	of	Australia):
–	 A	parallel	shift	of	+	1%	and	-2%	in	market	interest	rates	(AUD)	from	year-end	rates	of	4.75%.
the table below discloses the impact on net operating result and equity for each category of financial instruments held 
by the Council at year-end, if the above movements were to occur.

interest rate risk
-2 % +1%

-200 basis points +100 basis points
profit equity profit equity

2011 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents  18,006 (360) (360) 180 180
Financial assets  9,300 (186) (186) 93 93
trade and other receivables  2,452  -    -    -    -   
financial liabilities:
interest-bearing loans and borrowings  14,581 292 292 -146 -146

interest rate risk
-2 % +1%

-200 basis points +100 basis points
profit equity profit equity

2010 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents  14,194 (284) (284) 142 142
Financial assets  8,900 (178) (178) 89 89
trade and other receivables  3,029  -    -    -    -   
financial liabilities:
interest-bearing loans and borrowings  20,308 406 406 -203 -203

(g) Fair Value Hierarchy
Financial instruments are carried at fair value by valuation method.
the different levels have been defined as follows:
level 1 quoted	prices	(unadjusted)	in	active	markets	for	identical	assets	or	liabilities
level 2 inputs other than quoted prices included within level one that are observable for the asset or liability, either 

directly	(ie	prices)	or	indirectly	(ie	derived	from	prices)
level 3 inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data

2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

37 auditors’ remuneration 
Audit fee to conduct external audit – Victorian Auditor-General 56 54
Fees for other services provided by internal auditor 8 11

64 65

38 Events occurring after balance date 
Council	has	on	24	August	2011	resolved	to	conclude	its	Strategic	Partnering	Agreement	(SPA)	with	Coburg	2020	
master plan development partner, equiset Services, as it could not reach an acceptable financial agreement that would 
deliver the aspiration outcomes captured through the extensive consultation process. A payment of $1.799 million will 
be made to equiset Services in accordance with the SpA.
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39 Related party transactions
(i)  Responsible Persons

names of persons holding the position of a Responsible person at the Council at any time during the year are:
Councillors Councillor	Oscar	Yildiz	(Mayor	from	6/12/10	to	current)

Councillor	Stella	Kariofyllidis	(Mayor	from	01/07/10	to	5/12/10)
Councillor	Alice	Pryor	(Deputy	Mayor	from	6/12/10	to	current)
Councillor	Kathleen	Matthews-Ward	(Deputy	Mayor	from	01/07/10	to	5/12/10)
Councillor Anthony Helou
Councillor toby Archer
Councillor John Kavanagh
Councillor Michael teti
Councillor enver erdogan
Councillor Jo Connellan
Councillor lambros tapinos

Chief executive Officer peter Brown

(ii) Remuneration of Responsible Persons
the numbers of Responsible officers, whose total remuneration from Council  
and any related entities fall within the following bands:

2011 
No.

2010 
No.

$20,000–$29,999  9  9 
$50,000–$59,999  1  1 
$60,000–$69,999  1  1 
$290,000–$299,999  -    1 
$310,000–$319,999  1  -   

 12  12 
$ $

total Remuneration for the reporting year for Responsible persons included above 
amounted to: 674,916 661,610

(iii) No	retirement	benefits	have	been	made	by	the	Council	to	a	Responsible	Person.	(2009–10,	$Nil).

(iv)  no loans have been made, guaranteed or secured by the Council to a Responsible person during the reporting year 
(2009–10,	$Nil).

(v) other transactions
no transactions other than remuneration payments or the reimbursement of approved expenses were entered into by 
Council	with	Responsible	Persons,	or	Related	Parties	of	such	Responsible	Persons	during	the	reporting	year	(2009–10,	$Nil).

(vi) senior Officers Remuneration
A Senior officer other than a Responsible person, is an officer of Council whose total annual remuneration exceeds 
$124,000, or if remuneration is less than $124,000 has management responsibilities and reports directly to the Chief 
executive officer

the number of Senior officers other than the Responsible persons, are shown below in 
their relevant income bands:

2011 
No.

2010 
No.

income Range:
<$124,000  1  1 
$124,000–$129,999  2  2 
$130,000–$139,999  4  9 
$140,000–$149,999  9  10 
$150,000–$159,999  6  2 
$160,000–$169,999  1  1 
$190,000–$199,999  1  2 
$200,000–$209,999  5  2 

 29  29 
$ $

total Remuneration for the reporting year for Senior officers included above, amounted to:  4,528,180  4,314,264
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40 Revenue, expenses and assets by functions/activities

rates income CeO’s Office
Corporate  
Services

Social  
Development

City  
infrastructure

City  
Development

Organisational 
Development

economic 
Development total

2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

iNCOMe

Grants  -    -    -    -   5,717 6,088 9,584 9,473 1,921 1,692 1,996 1,899 2 20 0 178 19,220 19,350

Other 92,310 84,159  -   116 2,927 7,460 4,730 17,861 5,137 4,759 12,417 10,662 309 218 170 46 118,000 125,281

tOtAL 92,310 84,159  -   116 8,644 13,548 14,314 27,334 7,058 6,451 14,413 12,561 311 238 170 224 137,220 144,631

exPeNSeS  -    -   722 2,317 39,066 34,232 31,244 30,436 38,414 47,231 14,958 12,897 5,351 3,944 2,554 1,321 132,309 132,378

SurPLuS (DefiCit) 
fOr the YeAr 92,310 84,159  (722) (2,201) (30,422) (20,684) (16,930) (3,102) (31,356) (40,780) (545) (336) (5,040) (3,706) (2,384) (1,097) 4,911 12,253
ASSetS AttriButeD 
tO fuNCtiONS/
ACtivitieS*  -    -   181 588 9,809 8,694 972,270 959,688 467,482 471,147 2,371 2,086 1,344 1,002 243 355 1,453,700 1,443,560

*Assets	have	been	attributed	to	functions/activities	based	on	the	control	and/or	custodianship	of	specific	assets.

Chief Executive Officer’s Office
Ceo’s office is responsible for the Council’s overall operations and the internal audit function.
the office includes the following Branches: Chief executive 

officer
internal Auditor

Corporate Services Department
Corporate Services department is responsible for compliance with the Corporate Governance requirements and for 
providing a range of strategic and operational financial services to business units and to the Council as a whole. 

the department includes the following Branches: information 
technology

director Corporate 
Services

legal Services

Finance & Business 
Systems

Citizens Services Governance

Social Development Department
Social development department promotes and enhances community wellbeing through funding programs, advocacy, 
service provision, community partnerships and regulatory activity. 

the department includes the following Branches: director Social 
development

Culture & library 
Services

Aged Services

east timor project Social policy & early 
years

youth & leisure

City Infrastructure Department
City infrastructure department enhances community wellbeing through the provision of a broad range of asset 
maintenance, enhancement and creation services.

the department includes the following Branches: director City 
infrastructure

property Services engineering 
operations

engineering & 
transport

open Space
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40 Revenue, expenses and assets by functions/activities

rates income CeO’s Office
Corporate  
Services

Social  
Development

City  
infrastructure

City  
Development

Organisational 
Development

economic 
Development total

2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

iNCOMe

Grants  -    -    -    -   5,717 6,088 9,584 9,473 1,921 1,692 1,996 1,899 2 20 0 178 19,220 19,350

Other 92,310 84,159  -   116 2,927 7,460 4,730 17,861 5,137 4,759 12,417 10,662 309 218 170 46 118,000 125,281

tOtAL 92,310 84,159  -   116 8,644 13,548 14,314 27,334 7,058 6,451 14,413 12,561 311 238 170 224 137,220 144,631

exPeNSeS  -    -   722 2,317 39,066 34,232 31,244 30,436 38,414 47,231 14,958 12,897 5,351 3,944 2,554 1,321 132,309 132,378

SurPLuS (DefiCit) 
fOr the YeAr 92,310 84,159  (722) (2,201) (30,422) (20,684) (16,930) (3,102) (31,356) (40,780) (545) (336) (5,040) (3,706) (2,384) (1,097) 4,911 12,253
ASSetS AttriButeD 
tO fuNCtiONS/
ACtivitieS*  -    -   181 588 9,809 8,694 972,270 959,688 467,482 471,147 2,371 2,086 1,344 1,002 243 355 1,453,700 1,443,560

*Assets	have	been	attributed	to	functions/activities	based	on	the	control	and/or	custodianship	of	specific	assets.

notes to the Financial Report
For the year ended 30 June 2011

City Development Department
City development department promotes and enhances community wellbeing by the provision of Statutory, Strategic 
and environmental regulatory and enforcement services.

the department includes the following Branches: director City 
development

Sustainable 
development

urban development urban Safety
Organisational Development Department
organisational development department provides services related to internal and external communication, planning and 
performance, human resource welfare and management, and project planning and compliance.

the department includes the following Branches: Human Resources Communications & 
Research

oHS & Risk 
Management

Council planning & 
performance

Mp2 project office

Economic Development Department
economic development department promotes and enhances economic development within the municipal precinct 
through a number of major projects and strategies.

the department includes the following Branches: the Coburg initiative director economic 
development

Activity Centres economic 
development
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41 Financial ratios (Performance indicators)
2011 2011 2010 2010 2009 2009
$’000 (%) $’000 (%) $’000 (%)

(a) Debt servicing ratio	(to	identify	
the capacity of Council to service its 
outstanding	debt)
debt servicing costs 1,528 = 1.11% 787 = 0.54% 667 = 0.62%
total revenue 137,220 144,631 108,420

debt servicing costs refer to the payment of interest on loan borrowings, finance lease, and bank overdraft. 

the ratio expresses the amount of interest paid as a percentage of Council’s total revenue.

(b) Debt commitment ratio	(to	identify	
Council’s	debt	redemption	strategy)
debt servicing & redemption costs 2,305 = 2.50% 1,286 = 1.53% 903 = 1.22%
Rate revenue 92,310 83,926 73,835

the strategy involves the payment of loan principal and interest, finance lease principal and interest. 

the ratio expresses the percentage of rate revenue utilised to pay interest and redeem debt principal. 

(c) revenue ratio	(to	identify	Council’s	
dependence	on	non-rate	income)
Rate revenue 92,310 = 67.27% 83,926 = 58.03% 73,835 = 68.10%
total revenue 137,220 144,631 108,420

the level of Council’s reliance on rate revenue is determined by assessing rate revenue as a proportion of the total 
revenue of Council.

(d) Debt exposure ratio 
(to	identify	Council’s	exposure	to	debt)
total indebtedness 44,262 = 4.11% 35,126 = 3.28% 20,960 = 2.42%
total realisable assets  1,075,777 1,071,709 865,649
 
For the purposes of the calculation of financial ratios, realisable assets are those assets that can be sold and that are not 
subject to any restriction on realisation or use. 

Any	liability	represented	by	a	restricted	asset	(note	31)	is	excluded	from	total	indebtedness.

the following assets are excluded from total assets when calculating Council’s realisable assets:

land – other controlled; buildings on other controlled land; restricted assets; heritage assets; roads and lanes; footpaths; 
kerb and channel; drains; bridges.

this ratio enables assessment of Council’s solvency and exposure to debt. total indebtedness refers to the total liabilities 
of Council. total liabilities are compared to total realisable assets which are all Council assets not subject to any restriction 
and are able to be realised. the ratio expresses the percentage of total liabilities for each dollar of realisable assets.
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41 Financial ratios (Performance indicators) (cont.)
2011 2011 2010 2010 2009 2009
$’000 (%) $’000 (%) $’000 (%)

(e) Working capital ratio	(to	assess	
Council’s ability to meet current 
commitments)

Current assets 38,375 = 126.30% 34,459 = 122.75% 35,844 = 152.32%
Current liabilities 30,385 28,072 23,532

the ratio expresses the level of current assets the Council has available to meet its current liabilities.

(f) Adjusted working capital ratio (to	
assess Council’s ability to meet current 
commitments)

Current assets 38,375 = 188.02% 34,459 = 183.03% 35,844 = 208.59%
Current liabilities 20,410 18,827 17,184
 
the ratio expresses the level of current assets the Council has available to meet its current liabilities.

Current liabilities have been reduced to reflect the long service leave that is shown as a current liability because Council 
does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date, but 
is not likely to fall due within 12 months after the end of the period.
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Note
2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

42 capital expenditure

Capital expenditure areas

Roads  5,117  8,474 
drains  1,787  3,482 
open space  2,627  3,956 
land and buildings  11,127  6,597 
plant, equipment and other  2,747  3,342 
Bridges  56  640 
other structures  970  1,213 
total capital works  24,431  27,704 

Represented by:
Renewal (a)  12,098  14,287 
upgrade (b)  1,373  1,319 
expansion (c)  39  111 
new  10,921  11,987 
total capital works  24,431  27,704 

Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure movement 

the movement between the previous year and the current year in property, 
plant and equipment, infrastructure as shown in the Balance Sheet links to 
the net of the following items:

Total	capital	works	(includes	contributions	–	non-monetary	assets)  24,431  27,704 
Asset	identified/derecognised	and	movement	in	works	in	progress 21  5,592  4,292 
Asset revaluation movement 27	(a)  -    228,338 
Depreciation/amortisation 12 	(19,738) 	(19,311)
Written down value of assets sold 21 	(145) 	(249)
Net movement in property, plant and equipment, infrastructure 21  10,140  240,774 

(a) Renewal 
expenditure on an existing asset that returns the service potential or the life of the asset up to that which it had originally. 
It	is	periodically	required	expenditure,	relatively	large	(material)	in	value	compared	with	the	value	of	the	components	or	
sub-components of the asset being renewed. As it reinstates existing service potential, it has no impact on revenue, but 
may reduce future operating and maintenance expenditure if completed at the optimum time.

(b) Upgrade
expenditure that enhances an existing asset to provide a higher level of service or expenditure that will increase the 
life of the asset beyond that which it had originally. upgrade expenditure is discretional and often does not result in 
additional revenue unless direct user charges apply. it will increase operating and maintenance expenditure in the future 
because of the increase in the council’s asset base. 

(c) Expansion
expenditure that extends an existing asset, at the same standard as is currently enjoyed by residents, to a new group 
of users. it is discretional expenditure that increases future operating and maintenance costs, because it increases 
council’s asset base, but may be associated with additional revenue from the new user group.

43 special committees and other activities
Council is not aware of any special committees or other activities that need to be accounted for in this financial report or 
that have not been included due to materiality.  
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1. Basis of preparation of standard statements
Moreland City Council is required to prepare and include audited Standard Statements within its Annual Report. Four 
Statements are required this year – a Standard income Statement, Standard Balance Sheet, Standard Statement of 
Cash Flows and a Standard Statement of Capital Works, together with explanatory notes.

these statements and supporting notes form a special purpose financial report prepared to meet the requirements of 
the Local Government Act 1989 and the Local Government (Finance and Reporting) Regulations 2004.

the Standard Statements have been prepared on accounting bases consistent with those used for the General 
purpose Financial Report and the Budget. the results reported in these Statements are consistent with those reported 
in the General purpose Financial Report.

the Standard Statements are not a substitute for the General purpose Financial Statement, which are included on 
pages 62 to 65 of the Annual Report. they have not been prepared in accordance with all Australian Accounting 
Standards or other authoritative professional pronouncements.

the Standard Statements compare Council’s financial plan, expressed through its annual budget, with actual 
performance. The Local Government Act 1989 requires explanation of any material variances. the Council has adopted 
a materiality threshold of 10 per cent, except where the variance is considered to be of material value. explanations 
have not been provided for variations below the materiality threshold unless the variance is considered to be material 
because of its nature.

the budget figures included in the Standard Statements are based on those adopted by the Council on 14 July 2010. 
Some adjustments to the adopted budgets were required to ensure allignment with the main statements in the Annual 
Financial Report. the budget was based on assumptions that were relevant at the time of adoption of the budget. the 
Council set guidelines and parameters for revenue and expense targets in this budget in order to meet the Council’s 
business plan and financial performance targets for both the short and long term. the budget did not reflect any 
changes to equity resulting from asset revaluations, as their impacts were not considered predictable.

detailed information on the actual financial results are contained in the General purpose Financial Report on pages  
66 to 110. the detailed budget can be obtained by contacting Council or through the Council’s at moreland.vic.gov.au. 
the Standard Statements must be read with reference to these documents.

notes accompanying the Standard Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2011
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Budget Actuals
2010–2011 variances 2010–2011

$’000 $’000 % ref $’000
revenue

Rates and charges  90,842  1,468  1.6 1  92,310 
Statutory fees and fines  5,491 	(37) 	(0.7)  5,454 
user fees  8,549  4,593  53.7 2  13,142 
Contributions – cash  1,265 	(749) 	(59.2) 3  516 
Contributions – non-monetary assets  -    157  -   4  157 
Grants – recurrent  14,868  1,722  11.6 5  16,590 
Grants – non-recurrent  1,231  1,399  113.6 6  2,630 
Net	gain/(loss)	on	disposal	of	property,	
infrastructure, plant and equipment  250 	(145) 	(58.0) 7  105 
other income  4,358  1,326  30.4 8  5,684 
Share	of	net	profits/(losses)	of	associates	and	
joint ventures accounted for by the equity 
method  -   	(262)  -   9 	(262)
Fair value adjustments for investment property  -    894  -   10  894 

     
total revenues  126,854  10,366  8.2   137,220 

expenses
employee benefits  61,448 	(5,584) 	(9.1) 11  67,032 
Materials and services  37,831 	(4,806) 	(12.7) 12  42,637 
Bad and doubtful debts  844 	(456) 	(54.0) 13  1,300 
depreciation and amortisation  20,433  695  3.4 14  19,738 
Finance costs  2,148  620 	(28.9) 15  1,528 
other expenses  77  3  3.3   74 

total expenses  122,781  (9,528)  (7.8)   132,309 
     

Net surplus  4,073  838  20.6   4,911 

the above Standard Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the note to, and forming part of, the 
financial report.

Standard income Statement
For the year ended 30 June 2011
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2. Variance Explanation Report
Ref. Item Explanation

1 Rates and charges this variance is largely due to significantly higher than budgeted supplementary rates 
income. this additional income is derived from the continuing high level of building activity 
occuring within the municipality.

2 user fees Subdivider contributions were above budget by $3,148,000 due to the currently higher 
level of overall subdivision activity than forecast. in addition unbudgeted park development 
income of $518,000 and unbudgeted revenue after consolidating Moreland energy 
Foundation	Limited	(MEFL)	operations	are	other	variance	factors.

3 Contributions – cash Budgeted capital contributions, in particular $400,000 from VicRoads for road rehabilitation 
project works were not received.

4 Contributions –  
non-monetary assets

this variance is due to the recognition of drainage infrastructure assets for which Council 
has now accepted on-going responsibility.

5 Grants – recurrent Above budget results have occurred across a range of partly grant funded Council 
services. expenditure obligations apply to these additional funds. Also Grants Commission 
funding was above budget due to the advance payment of the 1st quarter of 2011–12 
funding.

6 Grants – non-recurrent Grants were significantly above budget due to the recognition of $1,597,000 in 
unbudgeted	grants	related	to	the	consolidated	accounts	of	the	MEFL.	(Refer	to	note	5).	

7 Net	gain/(loss)	on	disposal	
of property, infrastructure, 
plant and equipment

this unfavourable variance relates to a lower than forecast turnover of plant and 
equipment.

8 other income this variance is partly due to above budget interest and property rental income results. in 
addition $842,000 of unbudgeted revenue after consolidating MeFl operations is another 
major factor. 

9 Share	of	net	profits/(losses)	
of associates and joint 
ventures accounted for by 
the equity method

A decrease in Council’s equity interest in the regional food kitchen enterprise is primarily 
due to the inclusion of two new Council shareholders.

10 Fair value adjustments for 
investment property

Market valuations undertaken for Councils investment properties by qualified valuers 
resulted in this overall increment.

11 employee benefits this variance is largely due to the payment of additional Council obligations to the Vision 
Super “defined benefits” superannuation scheme, the consolidation of unbudgeted 
MeFl employee expenses and major project employee expenses that were unable to be 
capitalised as originally anticipated.

12 Materials and services the primary reasons for this variance are the approved use of agency staff to fill staff 
vacancies, the consolidation of MeFl consultancy costs and expenditure originally 
budgeted as part of the capital program which were actually operating in nature.

13 Bad and doubtful debts At balance date debtors were assessed for recoverability. As a result the provision for 
parking debtors was above budget primarily due to a higher than anticipated number of 
parking fines in excess of the statutory lodgement period. the overall provision for sundry 
and other debtors was also increased after this recoverability assessment. A debtor 
management project is currently underway. 

14 depreciation and 
amortisation 

depreciation expense for the year was below budget as a result of the improved useful life 
information obtained through the 2010 revaluations of building and infrastructure assets. 

15 Finance costs this favourable variance is due to a delay in the commencement of loan funded projects 
and as such a reduction in anticipated annual borrowings.

Standard income Statement
For the year ended 30 June 2011



115

O
verview

O
p

eratio
ns

P
erfo

rm
ance

F
inancials

MoRelAnd City CounCil AnnuAl RepoRt 2011

Budget Actuals
2010–2011 variances 2010–2011

$’000 $’000 % ref $’000
Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents  12,881  5,138  39.9 16  18,019 
trade and other receivables  12,678 	(2,008) 	(15.8) 17  10,670 
Financial assets  7,500  1,800  24.0 18  9,300 
inventories  155 	(24) 	(15.5)  131 
other assets  617 	(362) 	(58.7) 19  255 

total current assets  33,831  4,544  13.4   38,375 

Non-current assets

investments in associates accounted for using the 
equity	method	(includes	shares	in	MAPS	Ltd)  1,065  300  28.2 20  1,365 
property, infrastructure, plant and equipment  1,242,646  211,054  17.0 21  1,453,700 
investment property  11,720  13,440  114.7 22  25,160 

total non-current assets  1,255,431  224,794  17.9   1,480,225 
     

total assets  1,289,262  229,338  17.8   1,518,600 

Current liabilities
trade and other payables  14,934  1,822  12.2 23  13,112 
trust funds and deposits  1,091 	(130) 	(11.9) 24  1,221 
provisions  12,505 	(2,104) 	(16.8) 25  14,609 
interest-bearing loans and borrowings  8,516  7,073  83.1 26  1,443 

total current liabilities  37,046  6,661  18.0   30,385 

Non-current liabilities

provisions  2,398  1,476  61.6 25  922 
interest-bearing loans and borrowings  29,200  1,912  6.5 26  27,288 

total non-current liabilities  31,598  3,388  10.7   28,210 
     

total liabilities  68,644  10,049  14.6   58,595 
     

Net assets  1,220,618  239,387  19.6   1,460,005 

equity
Accumulated surplus  438,993  5,720  1.3 27  444,713 
Asset revaluation reserve  777,414  228,339  29.4 28  1,005,753 
other reserves  4,211  5,328  126.5 28  9,539 

total equity  1,220,618  239,387  19.6   1,460,005 

the above Standard Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the note to, and forming part of, the financial report.

Standard Balance Sheet
For the year ended 30 June 2011
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3. Variance Explanation Report
Ref. Item Explanation

16 Cash and cash  
equivalents

Cash balances at year end were significantly higher than forecast due to a higher than 
anticipated opening cash balance, delays in a number of large capital projects and the 
year-end impact of the consolidation of MeFl.

17 trade and other  
receivables

this variance is largely due to a lower than forecast actual opening balance. there has 
been a minor increase in actuals between the comparative years.

18 Financial assets this increase reflects the movement in Council’s term deposit investment related to long 
service leave obligations.

19 other assets this variance is due to an decrease in year-end accrued interest, which relates to a 
change in the maturity date of investments.

20 investments in associates 
accounted for using the 
equity method

this variance reflects the unbudgeted movement in Council’s equity position in the regional 
kitchen enterprise during the last two financial years. the movement for the 2009–2010 
year was unavailable at the time the 2010–2011 budget was determined.

21 property, infrastructure, 
plant and equipment 

this variance is due to the unbudgeted impact of the revaluation of Council’s infrastructure, 
land and buildings, and the net result of asset depreciation, purchases and sales.

22 investment property this variance relates to a strategic asset purchase completed as part of the Coburg 
initiative project and the movement in the market value of Councils other investment 
properties. the budgeted opening balance was lower than actual as the strategic asset 
purchase had not been recorded as part of investment properties at the time the  
2010–2011 budget was prepared.

23 trade and other payables Whilst creditor balances at year end were below the budget forecast, the opening amount 
on which the budget was based was significantly higher than actual. there has been a 
minor decrease in actuals between the comparative years.

24 trust funds and deposits this increase is due to an marginal increase in the value of both trust funds and deposits 
between the reporting periods. the budget had not forecast any change in value.

25 provisions overall employee provisions were $628,000 higher than forecast. leave provisions are 
largely above budget due to lower than anticipated outflows from the annual and long 
service leave provisions. Changes to the long service leave length of service qualifying 
period arising from the last enterprise agreement have resulted in a recasting of the split 
between current and non-current long service leave.

26 interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings

overall loan borrowings are significantly below budget due to a delay in the timing of 
funding for key capital projects. the restructuring of Council borrowings has also resulted 
in an adjustment to current and non-current loan balances.  

27 Accumulated surplus the unbudgeted movements between reserves and the accumulated surplus, together 
with operating result variances to budget account for this movement.

28 Reserves this variance is primarily due to the unbudgeted impact of Council’s infrastructure, land 
and buildings revaluations. the net of transfers in and out of the public Resort & Recreation 
land Fund reserve and the Housing Strategy reserve also contribute to this result.

Standard Balance Sheet
For the year ended 30 June 2011
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Budget Actuals
2010–2011 variances 2010–2011

$’000 $’000 % ref $’000
Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers  98,768  7,524  7.6 29  106,292 
payments to suppliers 	(36,298) 	(12,210) 	(33.6) 30 	(48,508)
Net cash inflow (outflow) from customers/suppliers  62,470  (4,686)  (7.5)   57,784 
interest received  766  396  51.7 31  1,162 
Government receipts  17,284  2,268  13.1 32  19,552 
Statutory fees and fines  5,070 	(581) 	(11.5) 33  4,489 
payments to employees 	(60,672) 	(6,126) 	(10.1) 34 	(66,798)
other payments 	(921)  848  92.1 35 	(73)
other receipts  3,593  7,104  197.7 36  10,697 

Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities  27,590  (777)  (2.8)   26,813 

Cash flows from investing activities
proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  500 	(248) 	(49.6) 37  252 
purchase of financial assets  -   	(400)  -   38 	(400)
payments for property, plant and equipment 	(43,115)  13,248  30.7 39 	(29,867)

Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing activities  (42,615)  12,600  29.6   (30,015)

Cash flows from financing activities
proceeds from interest bearing loans and borrowings  18,550 	(9,350) 	(50.4) 40  9,200 
Finance costs 	(2,148)  620  28.9 41 	(1,528)
Repayment of interest bearing loans and borrowings 	(1,180)  403  34.2 42 	(777)
trust monies and deposits paid  -    119  -   43  119 

Net cash inflow (outflow) from financing activities  15,222  (8,208)  (53.9)   7,014 

Net increase (decrease) in cash held  197  3,615  1,835.0  3,812 
Cash at the beginning of the year  12,684  1,523  12.0   14,207 

Cash at the end of the year  12,881  5,138  39.9   18,019 

reconciliation of Operating result and Net Cash flows from Operating Activities
for the year ending 30 June 2011
Net surplus (deficit) from operations  4,073  838  20.6  4,911 

depreciation and amortisation  20,433 	(695) 	(3.4)  19,738 
(Profit)	Loss	on	sale	of	property,	plant	and	equipment 	(250)  145  58.0 	(105)
Finance costs  2,148 	(620) 	(28.9)  1,528 
net movement in current assets and liabilities  1,186 	(445) 	(37.5)   741 

Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities  27,590  (777)  (2.8)   26,813 

the above Standard Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the note to, and forming part of the 
financial report.

Standard Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 30 June 2011
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4. Variance Explanation Report
Ref. Item Explanation

29 Receipts from customers Subdivider contributions were above budget by $3,148,000 due to the currently higher 
level of overall subdivision activity than forecast. in addition unbudgeted park development 
income of $518,000 and unbudgeted revenue after consolidating Moreland energy 
Foundation	Limited	(MEFL)	operations	are	other	variance	factors.	In	addition	user	charges	
and other fines were budgeted at net of GSt values.

30 payments to suppliers the primary reasons for this variance are the approved use of agency staff to fill staff 
vacancies, the consolidation of MeFl consultancy costs, expenditure originally budgeted 
as part of the capital program which were actually operating in nature and the variance 
between gross and net payment values as payments were budgeted at net of GSt values.

31 interest received Actual interest received is above budget due to a higher than forecast level of funds 
available for investment and the receipt of interest in the reporting period which was 
recognised as accrued interest in the prior financial year.  

32 Government receipts Grants were significantly above budget due to the recognition of $1,597,000 in 
unbudgeted grants related to the consolidated accounts of the MeFl and other grants 
for	which	Council	has	future	expense	obligations	(Refer	to	note	5	in	the	annual	report	for	
details).	 
in addition grant receipts were budgeted at net of GSt values.

33 Statutory fees and fines this variance is largely due to an overestimated budget amount for comparative purposes.

34 payments to employees this variance is largely due to the payment of additional Council obligations to the Vision 
Super “defined benefits” superannuation scheme, the consolidation of unbudgeted 
MeFl employee expenses and major project employee expenses that were unable to be 
capitalised as originally anticipated.

35 other payments this variance is due to an overestimated budget amount used for comparative purposes.

36 other receipts this variance is primarily due to unbudgeted GSt receipts from the Australian taxation 
office, and above budget interest and property rental income receipts. in addition $842,000 
of unbudgeted revenue after consolidating MeFl operations is another major factor. 

37 proceeds from sale 
of property, plant and 
equipment

proceeds from asset sales were below budget due to a lower than forecast turnover of 
plant and equipment.

38 purchase of financial  
assets

this variance reflects the movement in Council’s term deposit investment related to long 
service leave obligations.

39 payments for property, 
plant and equipment

this variance reflects a number of large projects that have been either rescoped, are 
currently under construction or have been carried forward to the new capital works program.

40 proceeds from interest 
bearing loans and 
borrowings

loan borrowings are significantly below budget due to a delay in the timing of funding for 
key capital projects.

41 Finance costs this favourable variance is due to a delay in the commencement of loan funded projects 
and as such a reduction in anticipated annual borrowings.

42 Repayment of interest 
bearing loans and 
borrowings

loan repayments were lower than forecast due to a delay in the timing of funding for key 
capital projects.

43 trust monies and  
deposits paid

this increase is due to a marginal increase in the value of both trust funds and deposits 
between the reporting periods. the budget had not forecast any change in value.

Standard Statement of Cashflow
For the year ended 30 June 2011
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Budget Actuals
other 2010–2011 variances 2010–2011

$’000 $’000 % ref $’000
Capital Works Areas

Roads  11,117  6,000  54.0 44  5,117 
drains  1,170 	(617) 	(52.7) 45  1,787 
open space  3,275  648  19.8 46  2,627 
land and buildings  20,125  8,998  44.7 47  11,127 
plant, equipment and other  3,639  892  24.5 48  2,747 
other structures  3,783  2,813  74.4 49  970 
Bridges  6 	(50) 	(833.3) 50  56 

total capital works  43,115  18,684  43.3   24,431 

represented by:
Renewal  25,951  13,853  53.4 51  12,098 
upgrade  2,467  1,094  44.3 52  1,373 
expansion  -   	(39)  -   53  39 
new assets  14,697  3,776  25.7 54  10,921 

total capital works  43,115  18,684  43.3   24,431 

Budget Actuals
Property, Plant & equipment movement 2010–2011 variances 2010–2011
reconciliation Worksheet $’000 $’000 % ref $’000

the movement between the previous year and 
the current year in property, plant and equipment 
as shown in the Standard Balance Sheet links to 
the net of the following items:

total capital works  43,115 	(18,684) 	(43.3) 55  24,431 
Movement in works in progress  -    5,592  -    5,592 
depreciation and amortisation 	(20,433)  695  3.4 56 	(19,738)
Written down value of assets sold 	(250)  105  42.0 57 	(145)

Net movement in property, plant & equipment  22,432  (12,292)  (54.8)   10,140 

the above Standard Statement of Capital Works should be read in conjunction with the note to, and forming part of, the 
financial report.

Standard Statement of Capital Works
For the year ended 30 June 2011
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5. Variance Explanation Report
Ref. Item Explanation

44 Roads this variance is due to a delay in a major capital project to install new parking systems 
within Moreland, together with amendments to other project timeframes.

45 drains Higher than forecast drainage expenditure occurred as a result of the reallocation of funds 
to required drainage works following a mid-year review of the capital program.

46 open space Several major landscaping projects, including the Gowanbrae Community Centre project, 
have been delayed until the new financial year.

47 land and buildings A delay in the construction of the Gowanbrae Community Centre and the Brunswick 
Baths project have resulted in a significant underspend. Significant costs are currently 
classified as work in progress, pending project completion.

48 plant, equipment and other this variance is due in part to a delay in the delivery of various trucks as a result of the 
earthquake in Japan.

49 other structures this variance is due to the delay in the Street lighting project as a result of time delays in 
establishing the necessary work contracts.

50 Bridges project expenditure exceeded budget as a result of necessary bridge works.

51 Renewal expenditure this variance is mainly due to various projects, including the Street lighting and 
Gowanbrae Community Centre projects, being delayed or still in the process of 
construction.

52 upgrade expenditure this variance in part is due to the continuing construction of the Brunswick Baths project. 
Costs have been included in works in progress until the completion of this project.

53 expansion expenditure expenditure works originally classified as renewal type were actually of an expansion nature.

54 new assets this variance is due to the delay of the parking infrastructure project until the new  
financial year.

55 total capital works this  variance reflects a number of large projects that have been either rescoped, are 
currently under construction or have been carried forward to the new capital works 
program.

56 depreciation & amortisation depreciation expense for the year was below budget as a result of the improved useful life 
information obtained through the 2010 revaluations of building and infrastructure assets. 

57 Written down value of 
assets sold

the written down value of assets was lower than forecast, due to a reduced number of 
plant and equipment sales.

Standard Statement of Capital Works
For the year ending 30 June 2011
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Glossary

acronym title

AAAC Average Annual Asset Consumption 
AAS27 Australian Accounting Standard 27 
AiM Area integrated Maintenance program 
CALD COM Culturally and linguistically diverse Communities
CeO Chief executive officer
DA development Agreement
DeeCD department of education and early Childhood development
DMA development Management Agreement
Dot department of transport
DPCD department of planning and Community development
eft equivalent Full time
eSD Environmentally	Sustainable	Design/Development	
fOi Freedom of information
GhG Green House Gas
GiS Geographic information System
hACC Home and Community Care 
hPP Health privacy principle 
iPP information privacy principle 
it information technology
L2P Learner	to	Permit	(Driving	Program)
LPP local planning policy
LSi life Styles inventory
MefL Moreland energy Foundation limited 
MP2 Moreland pRinCe2 
MSD Melbourne Statistical division
MSS Municipal Strategic Statement
NBN national Broadband network
NCP national Competition policy
OCi organisational Culture inventory
OD organisational development
Oei organisational effectiveness inventory
OhS occupational Health and Safety
PAM performing Arts Moreland
PMO project Management office
PODS parking overstay detection System
rBA Results Based Accountability
rOW Right of Way
SDAPP Sustainable design Assessment in the planning process
SDS Sustainable design Scorecard
SSf Sustainable Small Facilities
StePS Sustainability tools for environmental performance Strategy
SuP Service unit plan
vLA Victorian legal Aid
Wifi Wireless	Fidelity	(i.e.	Wireless	Internet	access)
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Council offices  
office hours: 8.30am to 5pm 
Moreland Civic Centre  
90 Bell Street  
Coburg, Victoria 3058 

Brunswick Citizens’ Service Centre  
233 Sydney Road  
Brunswick, Victoria 3056 

Glenroy Citizens’ Service Centre  
796n pascoe Vale Road  
Glenroy, Victoria 3046 

postal address:  
locked Bag 10  
Moreland, Victoria 3058 

General enquiries:  
telephone: 03 9240 1111  
Facsimile: 03 9240 1212  
email: info@moreland.vic.gov.au  
Website: moreland.vic.gov.au

published by Moreland City Council 2011

to contact Council in your language via an interpreter, please 
phone Council’s language link service. phone numbers for 
each language are listed below. 


